UNIVERSITY OF ESSEX

DOCTORAL THESIS

ESSAYS ON LABOUR SUPPLY AND GROWTH: WITH EMPHASIS ON SKILLS AND INPUT-OUTPUT LINKAGES

Author: Veridiana de Andrade Nogueira

> Supervisors: Prof. Christian Ghiglino Dr. Alex Clymo

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Economics

University of Essex

JUNE 2021

To minha família and moja rodzina.

Acknowledgements

The scope and quality of this thesis would never have been achieved without the indulgent guidance of my supervisors Prof. Christian Ghiglino and Dr Alex Clymo. Christian was my point of support in transforming my PhD application's research proposal into a paper, which is presented here as Chapter 1. I will always remember our many meetings in the Zest Café where he would try to understand my work and give me valuable suggestions for ways out of the traps that seemed to attract me. All of this while giving me the freedom to settle in and explore a bit of all that the University of Essex has to offer. I could not have done it in any other way.

Alex was the mastermind behind Chapters 2 and 3. After more than a year of struggling to put all my reading, ideas and model to use, I knocked at his door and explained what I was looking for. He immediately jumped on board and asked me for the closed-form solutions of the model. I will never forget how, in our next meeting, when I said I was feeling insecure about starting the MATLAB code, he simply opened a blank script and typed the first few lines of what later became the kilometric coding that I produced in the past two years. Even more extraordinarily, he contributed with genius interpretations, ingenious approaches and generous revisions that allowed me to expand and deepen my research skills. I feel privileged and honoured to have had his knowledge and nobility as the wind in my sails.

This work was supported by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) [grant number 1800051], which also funded a three-month visit to KU Leuven in the summer of 2019, where my work rapidly progressed. I am grateful to Massimo Riccaboni for allowing me to be there, in the first place, and for finding the time to discuss some of Chapter 3's analytical results. I also thank seminar participants for valuable comments, especially Emilie Rademakers, who gave the idea to apply Chapter 2's model to Brexit. Any remaining flaws are my own.

My life in Colchester would not have been the same without the companionship of my PhD colleagues, in particular Sofia Bounahai, Patryk Bronka, Elisabetta Leni, Deo Sande, Debashrita Mohapatra, Eike Eser, Han Zhang and Ludovica Orlandi. Outside the economics department, I am grateful for the joyful friendship of Mathias Assunção in the Capoeira Club and the warm compatriotism with Beatriz de Paiva, head of Portuguese in the Languages and Linguistics department.

The PhD is a journey unique to each student, although most would agree that things rarely end up exactly the way one initially predicted. My path began roughly 20 years ago, when I finished my undergrad studies back in Brazil and started planning to get into a PhD program in the UK. Life took many turns since then, with the crux being my time at Simon Fraser University in Canada. I am forever indebted to the continuous support and encouragement, then and now, from Prof. John Knowles and Prof. Kenneth Kasa.

At last but most certainly not least, I have no words to express my gratitude to my family. From providing for my education —not cheap in Brazil— to building my character and strength back when I was growing up, and from caring for me to making it possible that I had undisturbed time to finish up my thesis. I would like to explicitly thank: my parents-in-law Urszula and Mieczysław, my husband Robert (the three who, together with our little Antonio, form *nasza rodzina*), my cousins Marcia and Leticia, my brothers Paulo and Pedro, my parents Thais and Walter, and my aunties & uncles Sonia & Tomas and Leni & Gibrail.

Summary

The first chapter incorporates imperfect substitution between two human-capital types and skill-specific technology to Bils and Klenow's (2000) model. Their model relies on the assumptions that (i) different types of workers are perfect substitutes, and (ii) technical changes are neutral. These premises contradict a vast literature showing that (i) the elasticity of substitution between skilled and unskilled workers is much less than infinity, and (ii) that recent technical changes have been favouring skilled rather than unskilled labour. The analysis of the chapter shows that altering the human capital specification leads to diverging conclusions regarding the effect of schooling on human capital and technology.

The second chapter evaluates the impact of the A8 immigration into the UK on the output of its industries. An input-output general equilibrium model featuring three factors of production —capital, low-skill and high-skill labour— and industryspecific factor intensities is developed and calibrated for the country. I show that domestic commerce of intermediate inputs allows for a relay of the supply shock across industries. A model without this feature misestimates industrial output changes the most for industries more connected within the production network.

The third chapter proposes an input-output model with international trade to evaluate the relevance of the production network in the effects on industry output of exogenous macroeconomic shocks. I compute the domestic connectivity of WIOD countries to select two distinct economies: one with a sparse production network —Ireland— and another with a dense one —Korea. I calibrate the model for these countries and apply it to empirically assess the propagation of a labour supply shock and an import price shock through the economies. I find that ignoring input-output linkages results in misestimations of the industry output changes more than three times larger for the dense economy in comparison to the sparse one.

Contents

1	Skil	led and	l unskilled labour: Are they worth their weight in growth?	1
	1	Intro	luction	1
	2	Conce	eptual framework	3
	3	Data		5
	4	Quan	titative analysis	6
		4.1	Constructing the dataset	7
		4.2	Descriptive analysis	13
	5	Resul	ts	15
		5.1	Regressions	15
		5.2	Sensitivity analysis	19
	6	Concl	usions	21
	Bibl	iograpl	hy	23
	App	endix		25
	1.A	Suppl	ementary figures	25
2	A8 s	skills ir	n the UK: who benefits? Input-output linkages and the trans-	
	mis	sion of	a skill supply shock across industries	30
	1	Introd	luction	30
		1.1	Contributions	32
		1.2	Literature review	35
		1.3	Outline	38
	2	Theor	etical analysis	39
		2.1	The input-output model	39
		2.2	General equilibrium	41
		2.3	Special notes	42

		2.4	Analytical results and tools	45
		2.5	Investigating the transmission mechanism	50
	3	Quant	itative analysis	53
		3.1	Dataset	53
		3.2	Calibration	55
		3.3	Assessing the accuracy of first order approximations	59
	4	Applic	cation to A8 Immigration in the UK	60
		4.1	Results	61
		4.2	The role of input-output linkages	68
		4.3	Specific industries	73
		4.4	Robustness check	77
	5	Concl	usions	79
		5.1	Limitations	81
	Bibl	iograph	ny	84
	App	endix .		90
	2.A	Model	l's derivations	90
		2.A.1	Irrelevance of intermediate inputs in aggregate terms	90
		2.A.2	Proofs	90
		2.A.3	General equilibrium solutions	99
		2.A.4	Comparative Statics	101
		2.A.5	Parameters in the model without linkages	102
	2.B	Quant	itative Analysis	103
		2.B.1	Dataset	103
		2.B.2	Computation of the counterfactuals	107
		2.B.3	Base year 2003 versus 2014	109
		2.B.4	Non-linear solutions versus first order approximations	112
	2.C	Supple	ementary Results	113
		2.C.1	Most and least affected	114
		2.C.2	Specific industries	116
3	Proc	luction	n network structures and micro effects of macro shocks	146
	1	Introd	uction	146
		1.1	Contributions	147

	1.2	Literature
	1.3	Outline
2	Theor	etical analysis
	2.1	An input-output model with trade 154
	2.2	General equilibrium 157
	2.3	Special notes
	2.4	Analytical results and tools
	2.5	Investigating the transmission via input-output linkages 167
	2.6	Networks: centrality and connectivity 170
3	Quan	titative analysis
	3.1	Cross-country production structures
	3.2	Calibration and implementation of the models
	3.3	In-depth analysis: Ireland and Korea
4	Empii	rical analysis
	4.1	Counterfactual #1: a labour shock
	4.2	Counterfactual #2: an import price shock 188
5	Concl	usions
	5.1	Limitations and extensions
Bibl	iograpl	ny
App	endix	
3.A	Mode	l's derivations
	3.A.1	Irrelevance of intermediate inputs in aggregate terms 202
	3.A.2	Proofs
	3.A.3	General equilibrium solutions
	3.A.4	General equilibrium effects of a change in E
	3.A.5	General equilibrium effects of a change in \bar{p}_z
3.B	Data a	and computations
	3.B.1	WIOD
	3.B.2	Plots from raw data
	3.B.3	Choosing the pair of countries
	3.B.4	Calibration
	3.B.5	Complementary centrality measures
	3.B.6	Choosing good z for the price shock $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 240$

	3.B.7	Assessing the accuracy of first-order approximations	241
3.C	Suppo	orting analysis	242
	3.C.1	Counterfactual #1: a labour shock	242
	3.C.2	Counterfactual #2: an import price shock	245

List of Figures

1.1	Technology factors growth (%) over skilled-labour shares changes (p.p.)	15
1.2	Human capital growth regressed on schooling	17
1.3	Human capital growth regressed on schooling	19
1.4	Estimates of regressions BJ and CES with varying values of sigma \ldots	20
1.A.1	Unskilled and skilled human capital measures	25
1.A.2	Comparison of BK*'s and BJ's human capital and technology measures .	25
1.A.3	Comparison of BK-A's and CES's human capital and technology	26
1.A.4	Specifications BK* and BJ: scatter plots of key variables and parameters	
	on BK's schooling	27
1.A.5	Specification BK-A: scatter plots of key variables and parameters on	
	BK's schooling	28
1.A.6	Specification CES: scatter plots of key variables and parameters on BK's	
	schooling	29
2.1	Rankings of skill use and immigration impact per skill level	32
2.2	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)	57
2.2 2.3	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014) Representations of input-output linkages	57 58
2.22.32.4	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkagesCounterfactual effects on aggregates measures (percentage change)	57 58 61
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkages	57 58 61 63
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkagesCounterfactual effects on aggregates measures (percentage change)Output changes over labour shares (weighted by output shares)Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)	57 58 61 63 66
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkagesCounterfactual effects on aggregates measures (percentage change)Output changes over labour shares (weighted by output shares)Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)IO and no-IO output changes (left) and ratios (right)	57 58 61 63 66 67
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkagesCounterfactual effects on aggregates measures (percentage change)Output changes over labour shares (weighted by output shares)Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)IO and no-IO output changes (left) and ratios (right)Skill content of input bundle over skill intensity	57 58 61 63 66 67 69
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkages	57 58 61 63 66 67 69 70
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkages	57 58 61 63 66 67 69 70 71
 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 2.11 	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)Representations of input-output linkagesCounterfactual effects on aggregates measures (percentage change)Output changes over labour shares (weighted by output shares)Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)IO and no-IO output changes (left) and ratios (right)Skill content of input bundle over skill intensityNo-IO's misestimation and relative skill content of input bundleLS CF ratios of approximation (sorted by low-skill shares)HS CF ratios of approximation (sorted by high-skill shares)	57 58 61 63 66 67 69 70 71 72

2.13	Industry L's approximations for the shocks	75
2.14	Industry C19's linkage effects	76
2.15	Industry C19's approximations for the shocks	76
2.16	Industry J61's linkage effects	77
2.17	Industry J61's approximations for the shocks	77
2.18	Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2003)	78
2.19	IO Matrix (2003 vs 2014)	79
2.20	Output changes with parameters from 2014 (top) vs 2003 (bottom) \ldots	79
2.A.1	Comparison of the parameters estimated by the IO and no-IO models $% \mathcal{A}$.	103
2.B.1	Counterfactual effects on output, value-added and prices	108
2.B.2	2003: Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)	110
2.B.3	2014: Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)	110
2.B.4	Intermediate input usage by industry 2003 and 2014 (γ_i)	111
2.B.5	Intermediate input growth by industry: 2014 over 2003	111
2.B.6	Data: ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)	112
2.B.7	Model: ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)	112
2.B.8	LS CF: output changes versus low-skill shares	112
2.B.9	HS CF: output changes versus high-skill shares	113
2.B.10	Model: No-IO model's misestimation of impact of A8 immigration	113
2.B.11	Data: No-IO model's misestimation of impact of A8 immigration	113
2.C.1	ESCF: IO and no-IO output changes (left) and ratios (right)	116
2.C.2	Industry A-B's linkage effects	117
2.C.3	Industry A-B's approximations for the shocks	117
2.C.4	Industry C10-C12's linkage effects	118
2.C.5	Industry C10-C12's approximations for the shocks	118
2.C.6	Industry C13-C15's linkage effects	119
2.C.7	Industry C13-C15's approximations for the shocks	119
2.C.8	Industry C16-C18's linkage effects	120
2.C.9	Industry C16-C18's approximations for the shocks	120
2.C.10	Industry C19's linkage effects	121
2.C.11	Industry C19's approximations for the shocks	121
2.C.12	Industry C20-C23's linkage effects	122
2.C.13	Industry C20-C23's approximations for the shocks	122

2.C.14	Industry C24-C25's linkage effects 123
2.C.15	Industry C24-C25's approximations for the shocks
2.C.16	Industry C26-C27's linkage effects
2.C.17	Industry C26-C27's approximations for the shocks
2.C.18	Industry C28's linkage effects
2.C.19	Industry C28's approximations for the shocks
2.C.20	Industry C29-C30's linkage effects
2.C.21	Industry C29-C30's approximations for the shocks
2.C.22	Industry C31-C33's linkage effects
2.C.23	Industry C31-C33's approximations for the shocks
2.C.24	Industry D-E's linkage effects
2.C.25	Industry D-E's approximations for the shocks 128
2.C.26	Industry F's linkage effects 129
2.C.27	Industry F's approximations for the shocks
2.C.28	Industry G45's linkage effects
2.C.29	Industry G45's approximations for the shocks
2.C.30	Industry G46's linkage effects
2.C.31	Industry G46's approximations for the shocks
2.C.32	Industry G47's linkage effects
2.C.33	Industry G47's approximations for the shocks
2.C.34	Industry H49-H53's linkage effects
2.C.35	Industry H49-H53's approximations for the shocks 133
2.C.36	Industry I's linkage effects
2.C.37	Industry I's approximations for the shocks
2.C.38	Industry J58-J60's linkage effects
2.C.39	Industry J58-J60's approximations for the shocks 135
2.C.40	Industry J61's linkage effects 136
2.C.41	Industry J61's approximations for the shocks
2.C.42	Industry J62-J63's linkage effects
2.C.43	Industry J62-J63's approximations for the shocks 137
2.C.44	Industry K's linkage effects 138
2.C.45	Industry K's approximations for the shocks
2.C.46	Industry L's linkage effects

2.C.47	Industry L's approximations for the shocks	139
2.C.48	Industry M-N's linkage effects	140
2.C.49	Industry M-N's approximations for the shocks	140
2.C.50	Industry O's linkage effects	141
2.C.51	Industry O's approximations for the shocks	141
2.C.52	Industry P's linkage effects	142
2.C.53	Industry P's approximations for the shocks	142
2.C.54	Industry Q's linkage effects	143
2.C.55	Industry Q's approximations for the shocks	143
2.C.56	Industry R-S's linkage effects	144
2.C.57	Industry R-S's approximations for the shocks	144
2.C.58	Industry T's linkage effects	145
2.C.59	Industry T's approximations for the shocks	145
3.1	Production networks of Ireland and Korea in 2014	147
3.2	Network connectivity of the WIOD countries	175
3.3	Input and import shares of WIOD countries versus network connectivity	176
3.4	Ireland and Korea main variables	179
3.5	Domestic input-output linkages (matrix Γ) and industry reliance on im-	
	ported inputs (matrix Σ) for Ireland and Korea	180
3.6	Domestic network: upstream centralities	181
3.7	Outdegree centralities of imported goods	182
3.8	Downstream centralities of imported goods	182
3.9	Comparison of the labour shock effect across models	184
3.10	Labour intensity of domestic intermediate input purchases	185
3.11	Means of the ratios of each order of approximation over full shock	186
3.12	Decomposition of the labour shock for Ireland and Korea	187
3.13	Comparison of the import price shock effect across models	188
3.14	Ratio of output changes of Auxiliary NIO over Full model	189
3.15	Intensity of A-B imports on domestic input basket	190
3.16	Decomposition of the A-B import price shock for Ireland and Korea	192
3.B.1	Exports and imports	227
3.B.2	Ratio of intermediate input exports over intermediate input production	228

3.B.3	Aggregate share of value added on gross output 228
3.B.4	Aggregate share of capital on value added
3.B.5	Industry capital shares (α_i)
3.B.6	Industry input shares (γ_i)
3.B.7	Industry import shares (σ_i)
3.B.8	Connectivity measure of WIOD countries: Diameter 231
3.B.9	Price comparison - domestic and international prices 238
3.B.10	Gross Output - selected countries
3.B.11	Domestic network: downstream centralities
3.B.12	Outdegree centralities of domestic intermediate inputs
3.B.13	Upstream centralities of imported goods 239
3.B.14	Good z total imports over consumption (M_z/C)
3.C.1	Ratios of output changes predicted by auxiliaries over full model 244
3.C.2	Decomposition of the shock vector for A-B's import price rise 246
3.C.3	Decomposition of the C10-C12 import price shock for Ireland and Korea 247

List of Tables

1.1	Descriptive statistics	14
1.2	Human Capital and Technology Growth regressed on Enrolment (BK*, BJ)	16
1.3	Human Capital and Technology Growth on Enrolment (BK-A, CES)	18
2.1	Dataset's industry codes and description	54
2.2	Fit lines for counterfactual output changes on factor shares	65
2.3	Fit lines for output changes on factor shares PARAMETERS 2003	79
3.B.1	WIOD's country abbreviations	223
3.B.2	WIOD's industry codes and description	223
3.B.3	Top-10 least and most connected production networks	232
3.B.4	Dataset's industry codes and description 2	236

Chapter 1

Skilled and unskilled labour: Are they worth their weight in growth?

1 Introduction

Despite how intuitive it may seem that investments in human capital foster economic growth, the pendulum of consensus regarding its relative importance has been swinging from enthusiasm to neglect. For the past 20 years, Bils and Klenow (2000) has arguably been accredited as a landmark for the case against education.¹ My study indicates that their results are dependent on the specification of the model, in particular, of the human capital aggregator. This chapter aims to incorporate recent empirical evidence on wages and skill supplies to stress the relevance in the macroeconomic analysis of a framework already widely established in the micro literature.

In the late 1980s' and early 1990s' wave of studies applying neoclassical growth models to then-new cross-country data,² Barro (1991) stands out by attesting a positive and strong correlation between schooling and economic growth.³ Confronting Barro (1991), Bils and Klenow (2000) build a model of human capital accumulation and find that the causal impact of schooling on growth represents less than one-third

¹See Rossi (2020) for a recent comprehensive review of the literature on the role of human capital on macroeconomic development.

²Although the theoretical models, such as Solow (1956), Cass (1965) and Koopmans (1965), where known for decades, the Summers-Heston data set, later coined the Penn World Table, had just been created in 1988.

³For a sample of 95 countries, the article estimates that the initial level of human capital, measured as school enrolment rates in 1960, presented a simple correlation of 0.43 with the accumulated per capita GDP growth in the subsequent period until 1985. Controlling for the initial level of GDP per capita in 1960, the partial correlation of school enrolment and posterior growth rises to 0.73.

of the reported correlation, the other two thirds coming from the reverse causality of growth on education and other factors, including demographics.

There are three aspects of Bils and Klenow (2000) that are relevant for my analysis: (i) the use of a Cobb-Douglas production function with labour-augmenting technical change; (ii) the linear human capital aggregation, which relies on the efficiency-units assumption and treats different levels of human capital as perfect substitutes; and (iii) a macro Mincer specification for the human capital accumulation. While the latter constitutes a richer way of measuring human capital for a cross-section of countries based on data on quantity of schooling and age of their cohorts, the former two are in contradiction with the labour market literature.

Several empirical studies documented a continued rise in the relative wages of skilled workers alongside an increase in their labour shares since the 1970s in the US. This stylised fact challenges the notion of neutral technical changes implied by (i), which would result in a ratio of marginal products inversely related to the ratio of quantities. In fact, a vast labour literature reports a skill-biased technical change (SBTC) occurring in the past decades, thus also refuting assumption (ii). Observing skilled workers to be imperfect substitutes for unskilled workers, this work documents their gains from technical innovations in the form of a increasing skill premium.

Those points are brought to the macroeconomic framework by Caselli and Coleman (2002, 2006). Compiling and advancing this work, Caselli (2017) applies a three-level nested constant elasticity of substitution (CES) production function and empirically shows that biased technical changes have been observed world-wide during the past decades. Concerning the unskilled and skilled human capital, he shows that skill-abundant countries tend to use skills more efficiently, i.e. they present a skill biased technical progress. Regarding specifically the imperfect substitutability issue, Jones (2014) proposes a human capital aggregation that embraces relative scarcities among different labour types. When incorporating such "generalized" aggregator in the traditional development accounting, the findings refute the result that physical and human capital stock variations account for a small fraction of income variation across countries.⁴

⁴The human capital aggregator used by Jones (2014) is later criticised by Caselli and Ciccone (2019) for omitting skill-specific technology terms. For applications of the CES considering the skill bias to development accounting, see Caselli and Ciccone (2013) and Jones (2019).

In this chapter, I propose four alternative human capital specifications to reproduce an initial result of Bils and Klenow (2000) consisting of the regressions of human capital and the technology term, together and separately, on schooling. The first specification replicate Bils and Klenow's (2000), the second mimics Jones's (2014), the third is a hybrid of Bils and Klenow's (2000) and Caselli (2017) while the fourth is analogous to Caselli's (2017) human capital aggregator for low and high-skilled labour. The dataset is constructed by employing similar methodology to the benchmark paper. Likewise, the estimations are run over the same period, i.e. I consider only the years of 1960 and 1990. For each year, aggregate or per capita measures are constructed as well as their respective accumulated growth in the 30-year period. Finally, regressions similar to those presented in Bils and Klenow's (2000) Table 2 are run and the results compared to the baseline.

The outline of the chapter is as follows. In Section 2, I present the theory and main assumptions behind the analysis. Section 3 introduces the data and 4 provides a practical guide for the construction of the dataset, calibration and estimation procedures. In 5, I show the results of the analysis and Section 6 concludes. Additionally, Appendix 1.A contains supplementary figures.

2 Conceptual framework

Output is produced assuming the usual constant-returns-to-scale (CRS) Cobb-Douglas with labour-augmenting technology:

$$y_t = k_t^{\alpha} (A_t h_t)^{1-\alpha} \tag{1.1}$$

where *y* is the output flow at time *t*, *k* is the stock of physical capital, *A* is the labouraugmenting technology, and *h* is the human capital stock. Both stock variables and the output are measured per worker.⁵ The parameter α refers to the share of physical capital in the aggregate income and is assumed to equal 1/3.

The main focus of this chapter is to evaluate how different specifications of the component A_th_t affect the relevance of education on output. The mainstream literature

⁵Following the literature, the labour force is equivalent to the working-age population (WAP), which is required to make the human capital aggregation of age-group values consistent with the national accounting variables. In this way, the analysis abstracts from participation and unemployment issues.

on growth usually considers these two variables separately and h_t as a linear function of lower levels or individual human capital.

This is the case in Bils and Klenow (2000), where the human capital aggregation represents a simple summation of the individual human capitals, which is equivalent to imposing perfect substitutability under the efficiency units assumption.

$$h_t = \sum_a h_{t,a} \times \frac{L_{t,a}}{L_t} \tag{BK}$$

where $h_{t,a}$ is the average human capital of workers in cohort *a* at time *t* and $L_{t,a}$ stands for its respective number of workers.⁶ Thus, the units here are taken at the cohort level instead of at the individual level.

The adoption of the CES function instead usually considers the technology parameters independently for each level of human capital. Following the SBTC literature and Caselli (2017), the full-fledged CES human capital aggregation reads (time subscripts omitted for clarity):

$$Ah = \left[(A_U h_U)^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} + (A_S h_S)^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} \right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}}$$
(CES)

The quantities h_U and h_S stand for the aggregate supply of unskilled (or low-skill) and skilled (or high-skill) labour, respectively, measured in efficiency units. The parameters A_U and A_S are labour-augmenting technologies specific to each type of human capital.⁷ In other words, A_U and A_S are aggregate measures of efficiency or productivity of each category of worker (unskilled/skilled) and relate to many economic factors, including the technological blueprint and the quality of education.

The parameter σ represents the elasticity of substitution between unskilled and skilled labour. In the skill-biased technical change (SBTC) literature surveyed by Acemoglu and Autor (2011), this parameter is estimated to lie between 1 and 2, suggesting that unskilled labour is a gross substitute for skilled labour. Most authors report 1.4 as the most accepted value, after the estimations of Ciccone and Peri (2005), grouping skilled workers as those with completed secondary education or more. This standard value is used throughout the main calculations of this chapter while a range

⁶Note that $\sum_{a} L_{t,a} = L_t$ represents the labour force.

⁷More broadly, the CES would also include a share parameter which would specifically graduate the representativity of each labour input in the economy. More recently, however, the literature has been dropping this parameter and accepting A_U and A_S to bear both quantitative and qualitative traits.

of values is used to test the sensitivity of the results to this parameter in Section 5.2.

Taking on Bils and Klenow's (2000) approach, the individual human capital is assumed to depend not only on years of schooling but also on the potential years of experience. Therefore, the expression for individual human in this chapter follows the canonical Mincer equation (also called "human capital wage function"):⁸

$$\ln(h_{t,a}) = \theta s_{t,a} + \gamma_1 [a - s_{t,a} - 6] + \gamma_2 [a - s_{t,a} - 6]^2$$
(1.2)

Here *a* is also used as a variable, representing the average age of each cohort at time *t* and $s_{t,a}$ represents their respective average years of schooling. This specification incorporates the micro data on private returns to schooling θ and experience γ_1 and γ_2 , respectively.⁹

A final theoretical element is required for the estimation of the technology parameter: the standard equilibrium assumption that inputs are paid their marginal products. Letting i = U, S represents the different skill levels of human capital, the equilibrium wages read:

$$W_i = \frac{\partial y}{\partial h_i} = \frac{\partial y}{\partial h} \frac{\partial h}{\partial h_i}$$
(1.3)

In relative terms, this solution implies that the marginal rate of technical substitution equals the wage premium in equilibrium:

$$\frac{W_S}{W_U} = \frac{\partial y/\partial h_S}{\partial y/\partial h_U} \tag{1.4}$$

3 Data

Cross-country information from three different sources and parameter values estimated by related literature are collected. The former is presented in this section while the latter is introduced with the estimation procedure in the next section. The characters in parentheses after each variable described below corresponds to the name used for them in the formulae of this chapter.

⁸This specification is built on the competitive markets hypothesis which grants that wages reflect the returns on human capital increments.

⁹For simplicity, the part of Bils and Klenow's (2000) specification which refers to past cohorts' human capital and the potential issue of diminishing returns in years of schooling is excluded. This omission does not compromise the comparison of the results to Bils and Klenow's (2000), since the authors also report estimations for specifications without these features.

Data on school enrolment comes from Lee and Lee (2016), hereafter Lee-Lee, which covers 111 countries in five-year intervals, from 1820 to 2010. The version 1.0 used in this chapter comes from the most recent update available. The sample selected is restricted to the male population to comply with the Mincerian returns used. It is also the selection used in Bils and Klenow (2000). The variables selected are: Primary (*pri*); Secondary (*sec*); and Tertiary (*ter*) adjusted enrolment ratio in percentage.

The bulk of the data on schooling comes from Barro and Lee (2001), hereafter Barro-Lee, presenting educational data for 146 countries, ranging from 1950 to 2010. The version used is the 2.1. Once more, only the male population subsample was selected. This dataset is the main one used to construct the individual (cohort) human capital since it contains schooling information for each five-year age-group *a* for the population ranging from 15 to over 75 years old as well as its headcount $L_{a,t}$. The age range selected is a five-year trimmed working-age population (WAP) to make the results comparable to Bils and Klenow (2000), i.e. people from 20 to 60 years old. The description and notation of the variables used regarding school attainment are: Percentage of secondary education (*ls*); Percentage of secondary complete (*lsc*); Percentage of tertiary education (*lh*); Years of Primary Schooling (*yr_sch_pri*); Years of Secondary Schooling (*yr_sch_sec*); Years of Tertiary Schooling (*yr_sch_ter*).

Additionally, information on the theoretical duration of educational levels was retrieved from the World Bank Indicators platform (The World Bank, 2017). The data are provided by the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Institute for Statistics is available yearly for 247 countries since 1970. I use the variable for the number of grades (years) in secondary education (*Duration*).

Finally, the national accounting variables are collected from version (9.0) of the Penn World Table (PWT) (Feenstra, Inklaar, and Timmer, 2015). The dataset contains the main national accounting information yearly for a range of 182 countries, covering the period of 1950 to 2014. The variables and their respective notation in this chapter are (i) Real GDP at constant 2011 national prices and (ii) Capital stock at constant 2011 national prices.

4 Quantitative analysis

4.1 Constructing the dataset

Individual human capital

I construct the unskilled $h_{U,a}$ and skilled $h_{S,a}$ stocks of human capital at the cohort level via the canonical log-linear Mincerian Equation (1.2), repeated for clarity:

$$\ln(h_{t,a}) = \theta s_{t,a} + \gamma_1 [a - s_{t,a} - 6] + \gamma_2 [a - s_{t,a} - 6]^2$$
(1.2)

The chosen cut-off for a skilled worker is 'complete secondary education or more' to allow this study to be readily compared with previous literature. Each category comprises of the following levels of education:

- unskilled group: no education, complete primary, some secondary education
- skilled group: complete secondary, some or complete tertiary education

The measures of years of schooling for unskilled and skilled labour, s_U and s_S , are constructed separately using the variables from Barro and Lee (2001) described in Section 3 for each age-group a and time t (omitted for clarity).

$$s_U = yr_sch_pri + YR_sch_sec_INC$$
(1.5)

$$s_S = yr_sch_pri + yr_sch_sec + yr_sch_ter$$
(1.6)

The computation of the average years of schooling of the skilled worker is given simply by the total years of schooling of each cohort. However, in the calculation of the years of schooling of unskilled worker, it is necessary to include those with incomplete secondary education as well as primary education.

Variable *YR_sch_sec_INC* represent incomplete years of secondary education. It is constructed by combining UNESCO's duration of the secondary education with Barro-Lee's data on years of schooling and shares of population per level of educational attainment, as follows:

$$YR_sch_sec_INC = yr_sch_sec - Duration * (lsc + lh)/100$$
(1.7)

While the first term (yr_sch_sec) conveys directly the average *years* of schooling of those with some but not necessarily completed secondary education, variables *lsc*

and *lh* represent the *percentage* of people with completed secondary and completed tertiary education, respectively. To translate the latter into years of schooling, I multiply the sum of these shares by the average duration of secondary education given by the variable *Duration*.¹⁰

The coefficients of the Mincerian equations θ , γ_1 and γ_2 are the cross-country averages as reported and used by Bils and Klenow (2000). The values equal 9.9 per cent for the return to schooling, and 0.0512 and -0.00071 per cent for the experience-earnings profile level and squared, respectively.

The use of the standard Mincer equation which includes potential experience and as well as adopting a unique value for the Mincerian returns for every country is demonstrated by Growiec and Groth (2015) to be the best functional form to construct aggregate measures of human capital based on individual/cohort data on schooling and age. In the context of this study, it could also be justified by the fact that it is not desirable to introduce price differences across countries in the measures of skill supply since it is directly incorporated in the construction of the skill premium. Nevertheless, having access to a larger dataset of Mincerian coefficients could potentially allow for the incorporation of varying measures over time and across levels of education in the future.

Human capital by skill level

Each category of cohort's human capital is aggregated assuming perfect substitution within each group at the cohort level. In that sense, the stock of skilled human capital h_S is defined as a weighted average of that human capital at the cohort level, where the weights are the percentage of people in each cohort by skill level. And analogous for the stock of unskilled human capital h_U . These variables then read:

$$h_U = \sum_{a} h_{U,a} \times \frac{L_{U,a}}{L} = \frac{1}{L} \sum_{a} h_{U,a} \times (1 - \tau_a) \times L_a$$
(1.8)

$$h_S = \sum_a h_{S,a} \times \frac{L_{S,a}}{L} = \frac{1}{L} \sum_a h_{S,a} \times (\tau_a) \times L_a$$
(1.9)

¹⁰Ideally, each cohort would be combined with the information on duration referent to the year they would approximately have completed the secondary education. But this is not possible for the cohort 1960 since data for this year was not available; data referring to 1970 was used instead. To keep things simple and analogue, cohorts of 1990 were combined with the duration of the corresponding year. The expectation is that most of the increase in the span of this level of education over the past century is being captured in this way.

Variables $h_{U,a}$ and $h_{S,a}$ are constructed using Equation (1.2) while $L_{U,a}$ and $L_{S,a}$ represent the headcount of people in each category of skills. These variables are constructed indirectly, via the share of people in each age group with completed secondary education or more, which is given by τ_a defined as follows:

$$\tau_a = lsc_a + lh_a \tag{1.10}$$

Variables lsc_a and lh_a represent, respectively, the percentages of people with complete secondary and some or complete tertiary education, as provided by Barro-Lee. Defining $L_U = \sum_a L_{U,a} = \sum_a (1 - \tau_a) \times L_a$ and $L_S = \sum_a (\tau_a) \times L_a$, the share of skilled workers across the eight cohorts reads:¹¹

$$\tau = \frac{L_S}{L} = \frac{\left(\sum_a \tau_a \times L_a\right)}{L} \tag{1.11}$$

Human Capital Aggregators

This section presents the different human capital aggregators evaluated in this study. The first group of specifications considers the technology factor and the human capital function separately, as the Bils and Klenow's (2000) human capital presented in equation (BK). The equation I use for the estimations, however, is slightly modified to allow for an unambiguous comparison with the other specifications, while still adhering to the perfect substitutability hypothesis. Instead of summing all cohorts in each time and country, I consider the summation of the unskilled and skilled human capital, as calculated previously. I label this equation (BK*):

$$h = h_U + h_S \tag{BK*}$$

The alternative Bils and Klenow's (2000) human capital aggregator can be directly compared to Benjamin Jones's (2014), which happens to be a CES specification without technology or share terms. I label this specification (BJ):

$$h = \left[h_U^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} + h_S^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}}$$
(BJ)

¹¹Note that $L = L_U + L_S$ technically represents the whole WAP, although in the calculations L stands for the five-year trimmed working-age male population, i.e. men aged between 20 and 60 years old.

The second group of specifications considers skill-specific technology terms within the aggregations. For that reason, just like in Caselli and Coleman (2006), the specifications below replace both the human capital h and the labour-augmenting technology term A in the Cobb-Douglas output function presented in Equation (1.1). The first aggregator of this group, labelled (BK-A), is a linear specification given by:

$$Ah = A_U h_U + A_S h_S \tag{BK-A}$$

Specification (BK-A) is contrasted with the standard (CES) specification, reproduced here for easiness of comparison:

$$Ah = \left[\left(A_U h_U \right)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}} + \left(A_S h_S \right)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}} \right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}}$$
(CES)

Technology terms

For the first group of specifications, (BK*) and (BJ), the technology parameter is the standard residual of the output function, given by Equation (1.12) below. It is fully recovered from the values for output y and physical capital k and the constructed value for h.

$$A = y^{1/(1-\alpha)} k^{-\alpha/(1-\alpha)} h^{-1}$$
(1.12)

For the second group, the inference of the technology parameters is less straightforward. Following the literature, especially Caselli (2017), the first step is to isolate one of the technology terms (usually A_U) and rewrite equations (BK-A) and (CES) as:

$$Ah = A_U \left(h_U + \frac{A_S}{A_U} h_S \right) \tag{BK-A*}$$

$$Ah = A_U \left[h_U \frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} + \left(\frac{A_S}{A_U} h_S \right)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}} \right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}}$$
(CES*)

The values of the skill bias¹² A_S/A_U are inferred assuming labour are paid its marginal product, as derived in Equation (1.4). This assumption provides a relationship between skill premium and skill bias. In the case of specification (BK-A), this relation-

¹²The term reflects the fact that increases in A_S/A_U represent skill-biased technical changes.

ship is uncomplicated and reads:

$$W_S/W_U = A_S/A_U \tag{WP BK-A*}$$

For specification (CES), the relationship depends on the relative supply of skills as developed by the SBTC literature. It reads:

$$\frac{W_S}{W_U} = \left(\frac{A_S}{A_U}\right)^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} \left(\frac{h_S}{h_U}\right)^{\frac{-1}{\sigma}}$$
(WP CES*)

The cross-country series for the skill premium in each years is then computed using the constructed relative wages, or the respective wage premium W_S/W_U (as described in the next section) and the relative supplies of skills (given by the ratio of the human capital stocks of skilled and skilled labour constructed as described in the previous section).

Finally, I solve Equations (BK-A*) and (CES*) for A_U separately to find the respective values of each specification. The value for Ah comes straight from the data, via Equation (1.1), and is invariant across the human capital aggregators.

Skill premia

To construct the skill premium for each country c in each period, I first reverseengineer the Mincer equation to compute their respective wage premia. The aggregate measures of wages for unskilled and skilled labour are inferred based on country-specific Mincerian estimates θ_c and their respective average years of schooling per educational level, $\bar{s}_{U,c}$ and $\bar{s}_{S,c}$.

$$\ln(W_{U,c}) = \theta_c \bar{s}_{U,c} \qquad (1.13) \qquad \qquad \ln(W_{S,c}) = \theta_c \bar{s}_{S,c} \qquad (1.14)$$

The measures of schooling are calculated from Barro-Lee dataset as the average years of schooling of the male working-age population (aged from 15 to 64). The Mincerian coefficient θ comes from Montenegro and Patrinos (2014), which present the most recent set of comparable estimates for a sample of 139 countries.¹³ The variables referring to potential years of experience are omitted following the literature, in

¹³The estimates for the Mincerian returns used in this study were kindly sent by the authors upon request.

particular Caselli (2017). Since the goal is to calculate relative wages or skill premium, the variables related to age would cancel out in the cross-country ratios.¹⁴

Ideally, one would want to use different coefficients of returns to education per level and for each year since that is how the data on schooling is available. Unfortunately, prior to 1970, the estimates for the returns on education are restricted to a handful of countries. Even for 1990, the sample of countries is quite limited. Moreover, several countries of international relevance do not present estimates for all the levels of education.¹⁵ The present specification implies that the wages of the average skilled worker are higher than the average skilled worker in each country-year strictly due to the additional years of schooling that the more skilled worker possesses.

Enrolment

Since the main exercise of this study is to evaluate how the choice of a linear human capital specification affected the results presented in Bils and Klenow (2000), it suffices to use as the sole regressor of the estimations. The variable of choice is their constructed measure of enrolment, based on shares of enrolled children in schoolage.

Their measure of schooling —henceforth BK's measure of schooling— combines the enrolment rates in each of the three main levels of education in the initial period of analysis, i.e. 1960, in each country (variables as described in Section 3):

$$bkschool = 6 * pri/100 + 6 * sec/100 + 5 * ter/100$$
(1.15)

According to the authors, this measure aims at representing the "steady-state average years of schooling" implied by the enrolment rates. They consider the World Bank conventions for the durations of primary, secondary, and tertiary education.

$$\frac{W_{S,c}}{W_{U,c}} = \frac{\exp(\theta_c \bar{s}_{S,c} + \gamma_{1,c} [\overline{age} - \bar{s}_{S,c} - 6] + \gamma_{2,c} [\overline{age} - \bar{s}_{S,c} - 6]^2)}{\exp(\theta_c \bar{s}_{U,c} + \gamma_{1,c} [\overline{age} - \bar{s}_{U,c} - 6] + \gamma_{2,c} [\overline{age} - \bar{s}_{U,c} - 6]^2)} = \frac{\exp(\theta_c \bar{s}_{S,c} - \gamma_{1,c} \bar{s}_{S,c} + \gamma_{2,c} [\bar{s}_{S,c}]^2)}{\exp(\theta_c \bar{s}_{U,c} - \gamma_{1,c} \bar{s}_{U,c} + \gamma_{2,c} [\bar{s}_{U,c}]^2)}$$

¹⁴Moreover, the coefficient on level of experience would have its sign reversed. To see these changes, suppose I included the omitted variables in Equations (1.13) and (1.14). The skill premium would read:

This alternative specification would have the same two last terms as an analogous calculation for $W_{S,c}$. ¹⁵I refer here to Montenegro and Patrinos (2014). These missing countries include, among others:

Canada; China; Denmark; Egypt; Finland; Vietnam; Germany; Hong Kong; Iceland; Iran; Ireland; Israel; Japan; Kazakhstan; Korea; Luxembourg; Monaco; Netherlands; New Zealand; Romania; Russia; Sweden, Switzerland; and United Kingdom.

4.2 Descriptive analysis

I construct the variables per country for years 1960 and 1990 using the formulae and calibration presented previously. Although each original dataset is relatively large, the intersection of only 74 countries determines the sample size of the dataset. The regressands of the estimations, as in Bils and Klenow (2000), are in terms of the average annual growth rates over the period studied.¹⁶

Table 1.1 presents the descriptive statistics of the variables of interest in this study. The first set, comprising of real GDP per worker, physical capital and the combined human capital and technology,¹⁷ is common to all specifications. The estimated growth of the latter, at 1.68 per cent, is very close to the one reported by Bils and Klenow (2000, p. 1169), which indicates that the empirical strategy is valid in supporting the proposed comparisons with their estimations.¹⁸

The next set of variables concerns the measures of schooling. As expected, there is an increase in the participation of skilled workers in the working-age population of 18.2 percentage points (p.p.) on average across countries. This reflects both people studying for longer and the increase in the duration of some levels of education in some countries of the sample over the period.

Regarding the constructed labour market variables, the sample presents on average a small annual decrease of the unskilled aggregate human capital, while the skilled aggregate increases on average 5.9 per cent per year, pushing up the growth of the relative skill supplies h_S/h_U . Meanwhile, the average of the estimated relative wages of the sample increased by 0.45 per cent per year in the period. This calculation is in line with Katz and Murphy (1992), who show that the US wages increased moderately together with higher relative skill supplies between 1963 and 1987.

The set of variables related to the pair of human capital specifications with skillneutral technology shows striking results. The average aggregate human capital growth varies from 0.61% per year in the modified Bils and Klenow's (2000) specification (BK*) to 1.78% in specification BJ. Logically, the reverse is seen in the estimated growth of the human-capital augmenting technology. The estimations using the original Bils

¹⁶For a variable x, the average annual growth rate is given by: $(x_{1990}/x_{1960})^{1/30} \times 100 - 100$.

¹⁷Given the Cobb-Douglas formulation for the output function, $g_h + g_A = \frac{1}{1-\alpha}(g_y - \alpha g_k)$.

¹⁸This is especially favourable given that my sample surpasses theirs, which has 52 countries.

and Klenow's (2000) specification (BK) is presented here to show its similarity with the modified version.¹⁹

Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min.	Max.	Ν
GDP per worker growth g_u (%)	1.897	1.51	-1.805	5.72	74
Capital per worker growth g_k (%)	2.329	2.122	-2.439	10.888	74
Technology & human capital $g_A + g_h$ (%)	1.681	1.567	-2.174	5.213	74
BK's schooling in 1960 (years)	5.793	2.682	0.403	12.598	74
Change in share of skilled (p.p.)	18.241	11.439	1.539	54.503	74
Change in y.o.s. of unskilled (years)	1.479	0.96	-1.081	3.824	74
Change in y.o.s. of skilled (years)	2.834	1.096	-0.204	5.794	74
Unskilled human capital growth (%)	-0.431	0.833	-3.155	0.528	74
Skilled human capital growth (%)	5.868	2.293	0.577	12.781	74
Relative supplies growth (%)	6.328	2.228	0.951	12.456	74
Skill premium growth (%)	0.451	0.309	0.034	1.559	74
BK human capital growth g_h (%)	0.777	0.326	-0.142	1.83	74
BK* human capital growth g_h (%)	0.611	0.302	-0.268	1.524	74
BJ human capital growth g_h (%)	1.777	0.699	0.09	3.628	74
BK technology growth g_A (%)	0.904	1.513	-2.767	4.738	74
BK* technology growth g_A (%)	1.071	1.531	-2.599	4.881	74
BJ technology growth g_A (%)	-0.083	1.706	-3.495	3.508	74
BK-A human capital growth g_h (%)	0.874	0.544	-0.252	2.984	74
CES human capital growth g_h (%)	4.283	3.869	0.271	18.337	74
BK-A unskilled tech. growth $g_{A_{II}}$ (%)	0.808	1.492	-2.692	4.847	74
CES unskilled tech. growth $g_{A_{II}}$ (%)	-2.379	3.327	-13.421	3.964	74
BK-A skilled tech. growth g_{A_S} (%)	1.263	1.558	-2.389	5.103	74
CES skilled tech. growth g_{A_S} (%)	15.662	6.564	4.014	34.347	74
CES skill bias growth (%)	18.541	6.586	3.472	39.004	74

Table 1.1: Descriptive statistics

Note: percentage growth represents the average annual growth rate between 1960 and 1990.

In the second group of specifications, the skill bias A_S/A_U presents a cross-country average growth of 18.5% when calculated using (WP CES*). This value is almost 50 times larger than the modest growth of average skill premia²⁰, pushing upwards the human capital growth measured by (CES) to 4.3% versus 0.87% measured by (BK-A). Figure 1.1 plots the growth of the estimated technology terms against the changes in the share of skilled population (τ) over the period. With specification (BK-A), there is no clear distinction between the two coefficients whereas there is a sharp diver-

¹⁹Notice that in Bils and Klenow (2000) all workers are taken as potentially fully educated whereas Equation (BK*) separates workers according to the shares of educational attainment.

²⁰Recall that with specification (BK-A), $A_S/A_U = W_S/W_U$.

gence under the (CES) specification. The growth of the unskilled-specific technology clearly correlates negatively with increases in the share of skilled population while the growth of the skilled-specific technology is rather more heterogeneous and disperse.

The results are in line with the literature reporting that the skill bias is positively correlated with income per worker. Caselli (2017) finds that countries abundant in skilled worker have A_S proportionally higher than A_U , meaning that they tend to use skilled labour relatively more efficiently than unskilled labour.



Figure 1.1: Technology factors growth (%) over skilled-labour shares changes (p.p.)

5 Results

5.1 Regressions

The analysis concludes with the regressions of the different compositions of technology and human capital growth on BK's measure of schooling. For a generic variable X the estimations comprise of linear regressions of the annual rate of growth g_X over the 30-year period on BK's measure of schooling —given by Equation (1.15)— which is expressed in years.

$$g_X = \beta_0 + \beta_1 bkschool + \epsilon \tag{1.16}$$

The interpretation of the coefficients β_1 that are reported below for each regression is then uncomplicated. They state how much higher, in percentage points (p.p.), the annual growth rate of variable *X* would have been if the BK's measure of schooling were one year larger for the countries on the sample on average. Neither I nor Bils and Klenow (2000) argues that this simplistic form is meaningful in explaining the role of schooling on human capital or technology growth. However, these estimations reported in their Table 2, play a key role in the paper's research strategy while being concise enough for a straightforward replication and clear appraisal of Bils and Klenow's (2000) choice of human capital specification.

Specifications with skill-neutral technologies

The first column of Table 1.2 presents the estimates of the regression of the combined growth of human capital and technology, common to all specifications. The coefficient of 0.231 p.p. (standard deviation, s.d., 0.050) is remarkably close to Bils and Klenow's (2000) estimate of 0.238 p.p. (s.d. 0.054) which again validates the analysis proposed here. The following columns show the regressions of human capital and technology growth when applying the first group of specifications, BK* and BJ. The coefficient of the linear human capital aggregator BK* of 0.035 p.p. (s.d. 0.015) is reasonably close to Bils and Klenow's (2000) value of 0.048 p.p. (s.d. 0.009).²¹

		BK*		E	3J	
	$g_A + g_h$	g_h	g_A	g_h	g_A	
BK's Schooling 1960	0.231***	0.0353*	0.196***	-0.111***	0.337***	
	(0.0502)	(0.0146)	(0.0528)	(0.0310)	(0.0526)	
Constant	0.341	0.406***	-0.0626	2.418***	-2.036***	
	(0.358)	(0.0858)	(0.372)	(0.203)	(0.376)	
Observations	74	74	74	74	74	
Adjusted R ²	0.145	0.085	0.105	0.169	0.271	

Table 1.2: Human Capital and Technology Growth regressed on Enrolment (BK*, BJ)

Standard errors in parentheses. * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001

The comparison of the results deriving from BK* and BJ specifications makes it clear that the choice of the human capital specification profoundly affects the results. Even though all the estimates are significant, they are actually significantly different, as shown by their respective standard deviations. Moreover, it seems that applying a (CES) specification without skill-specific technology parameters leads to counter-intuitive empirical results.

²¹Their adjusted R-squared values are also as low as those reported here, reinforcing the low explanatory power of these regression models. The constant, however, does not appear in any of Bils and Klenow's (2000) results.





(b) BJ specification

Figure 1.2: Human capital growth regressed on schooling

The imperfect substitutability alone would overestimate the impact of a decrease in any type of human capital, even if compensated by an increase in the other type. As Figure 1.3 shows, this results in a negative relationship between (BJ)'s human capital and schooling, driven mostly by industrialised countries which experience a large increase in educational achievement between 1960 and 1990. That is the case of the USA, where unskilled human capital fell 3.13% in the period while skilled human capital rose 3.0%. While the country's human capital growth of 1.11%, is among the highest with the linear aggregation (BK*) [Figure 1.3a], using Equation (BJ), the human capital growth of only 0.28% is the third smallest among all countries [Figure 1.2b].

In this setting, the residual technology acts as a mere buffer, compensating for the variability found in the human capital aggregation. Since the combined growth of technology and human capital is set, the residual total factor productivity does not play a role in translating Mincer-like quantities of human capital into their respective technological value. In summary, simply assuming imperfect substitutability without incorporating the possibility of skill-biased technical changes can be seen as a deficient approach.

Specifications with skill-biased technical terms

In the estimations of the second group of specifications, the terms between parentheses after A_U on the right-hand side of equations (BK-A*) and (CES*) is the aggregator used to calculate the human capital growth. The analogy with the standard labour-augmenting specification Ah is that A_U is the minimum efficiency that every worker has, while the skilled human capital h_S has its value adjusted by the skill bias within the human capital aggregator. Because it includes the skill-bias A_S/A_U , this aggregator may be seen as not directly comparable to the human capital growth computed using the first group of specifications, even though both this is also a form of "unskilled-adjusted" human capital. Nevertheless, this aggregator is positively a valid measure for comparisons between the pair of specifications (BK-A) and (CES).

The results presented in Table 1.3 show striking differences between the regressions. The slope of 0.115 estimated when considering the linear specification (BK-A) is nearly one order of magnitude smaller than the slope of 0.99 found when using specification (CES). Naturally, the estimates for the effect on the unskilled-specific technology growth are also remarkably different.

	BK-A			CES	
	g_h	g_{A_U}	g_h	g_{A_U}	
BK's Schooling 1960	0.115***	0.116*	0.999**	-0.676***	
	(0.0221)	(0.0567)	(0.150) (0.141)	
Constant	0.210	0.133	-1.505	* 1.539*	
	(0.111)	(0.387)	(0.689) (0.727)	
Observations	74	74	74	74	
Adjusted <i>R</i> ²	0.310	0.031	0.473	0.287	

Table 1.3: Human Capital and Technology Growth on Enrolment (BK-A, CES)

Standard errors in parentheses. * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001

The human capital growth regressed in column 1 is affected by three factors: (i) unskilled human capital; (ii) skilled human capital; and (iii) skill premium. Naturally, the first decreases with education. Non-trivially, the second also correlates negatively with BK's measure of schooling reflecting an initial-condition bias where countries with relatively lower levels of enrolment in 1960 and therefore with very low initial levels of skilled human capital tend to present the highest rates of growth of this category. Skill premium, on the other hand, is positively correlated with BK's measure of schooling which is then the main reason for the slope resulting from specification (BK-A) to be higher than that found with (BK*).²²

Figure 1.3 plots the annual human capital growth rate across countries computed

²²Figure 1.A.5 in the Appendix presents the scatter plots and fit lines of the key variables and parameters comprising the regressions of column 1 and 2 of Table 1.3.





(b) CES specification

Figure 1.3: Human capital growth regressed on schooling

using aggregations (BK-A) and (CES). The values of the latter are much larger and yet they are less disperse than those of the former, i.e. they present smaller standard deviation in relation to the slope coefficient. Thus, the growth of the human capital which accounts for the skill-biased technical changes occurring in the period is strongly correlated with BK's measure of schooling while the corresponding growth of the technology factor A_U mirrors this relationship.²³

The differences happen because, in the computation of the regressand of column 3, the skilled human capital is adjusted for the skill bias (A_S/A_U) given by Equation (WP CES*) and not only by the skill premium.²⁴ While, as in the (BK-A) specification, the unskilled human capital h_U falls, the growth of the second term in the aggregation $(h_S A_S/A_U)$ more than compensates it, especially when each term is treated as imperfect substitutes. Even though the calculated skill bias growth is scattered and not directly correlated to BK's measure of schooling on average, country by country the technical changes have boosted skilled labour particularly more where this type of worker became more abundant.²⁵

5.2 Sensitivity analysis

The calculated values for the skill premia across countries and over time are clearly dependent on the value of the elasticity of substitution between unskilled and skilled

²³Perhaps it is worth pointing out that, for each specification, the sum of the slopes of the regressions of human capital growth g_h and technology growth, either A or A_U , always sum to 0.212 p.p., the slope of the regression of $g_A + g_H$ as presented in column 1 of Table 1.2.

²⁴For sigma=1.4, the following simplification aids the interpretation: $A_S/A_U = (W_S/W_U)^3 (h_S/h_U)^2$.

²⁵Figure 1.A.6 in the Appendix presents the scatter plots and fit lines of the key variables and parameters comprising the regressions of column 3 and 4 of Table 1.3.

labour σ . Recalling that lower values reinforce imperfect substitutability ($\sigma = 0$ implying perfect complementarity), the sensitivity analysis must assess how the choice of 1.4 for this parameter affects the estimations as well as how fast the results converge to those obtained by the linear specification.



Note: horizontal reference lines refer to the values of the slope (right axis) of each respective linear specification. It is of 0.035 (BK*'s) in Figure 1.4a and of 0.115 (CES's) in Figure 1.4b.

Figure 1.4: Estimates of regressions BJ and CES with varying values of sigma

Figure 1.4a plots the coefficients of the regressions where the human capital growth is calculated using specification (BJ) for values of σ ranging between 1.2 and 4; the vertical reference line is at the benchmark of 1.4 adopted in the analysis. It shows that the estimates for the constant (left axis) and for the slope (right axis) converge reasonably fast towards the values of 0.406 and 0.035, respectively, computed with the linear human capital specification (BK*).²⁶ For $\sigma = 2$ —arguably the upper bound in the SBTC literature— the slope estimate already reaches -0.03, or one quarter of the -0.11 found with the benchmark for the elasticity of substitution.²⁷

A similar convergence pattern is seen in Figure 1.4a, which depicts the estimates for regressions for different values of σ using the human capital computed using specification (CES). The estimates for the constant (left axis) and for the slope (right axis) also converge reasonably fast towards the values of 0.21 and 0.115, respectively, computed with the linear human capital specification (BK-A).²⁸ For $\sigma = 2$, the slope estimate is quickly debated in more than half, to 0.46 from the value of 0.999 estimated

 $^{^{26}}$ The results of model BK* are reported in the second column of Table 1.2. Recall that σ tends to infinity in the linear human capital specification.

²⁷See column 4 of Table 1.2.

²⁸The results of model BK-A are reported in the first column of Table 1.3. Once more, $\sigma \rightarrow \infty$ corresponds to the linear human capital specification.

with the benchmark value of the elasticity parameter.²⁹

6 Conclusions

This chapter shows that the choice of the human capital specification plays a considerable role in the study of the importance of education to economic growth. I demonstrate that altering the way human capital is perceived in one of the building blocks of Bils and Klenow's (2000) analysis produces critically different results.

Two of the assumptions behind their specifications are analysed separately. On one hand, the premise that unskilled and skilled labour are perfect substitutes is confronted by replacing the linear aggregator by a CES form following Jones's (2014), which only differ from Bils and Klenow's (2000) by treating workers with different levels of skills as imperfect substitutes of each other. On the other hand, I consider skill-specific technology factors following Caselli (2017) in order to incorporate the skill-biased technical changes observed in the studied period of 1960 to 1990.

In the comparison of a linear specification with a CES with a skill-neutral humancapital-augmenting technology term, I find that the relationship between human capital growth and schooling inverts sing, from positive to negative. The negative correlation found goes much beyond possible initial-value bias, since this issue is also present in the linear specification. The problem seems to be that the imperfect substitutability in the non-linear form is punishing more than proportionally decreases in one type of human capital—typically, the unskilled— even when accompanied by increases in the other category of labour. This is the case of the United States, Australia and Greece, for which the CES specification without skill-specific technology terms finds near-zero growth rates of human capital in the period.

In the case of human capital specifications with skill-specific technology terms, the estimations show striking differences. The CES specification produces a relationship between human capital growth and schooling almost ten times larger than the linear form. In this pair of specifications, the human capital aggregator includes the skill bias, i.e. the ratio of skilled over unskilled technology factor. By construction, however, while in the CES specification the term comprises of the skill premium and the

 $^{^{29}}$ See column 3 of Table 1.3 for the coefficients of the CES model using $\sigma = 1.4.$
relative supplies of skills, in the linear form the skill bias is given solely by the former. The fact that the relative skill supply —which derive from measures of education boosts the skill bias helps to explain the strong relationship between the human capital growth produced by the CES and schooling. Arguably, when technology is considered as affecting skilled and unskilled workers differently, and these workers are imperfect substitutes of each other, the rewards for education are intensified at the macroeconomic level via the development of technologies that allows the more expensive factor to be used more efficiently.

There is an ongoing debate in the literature (Caselli and Ciccone, 2019; Jones, 2019) regarding the inclusion or not of skill-specific technology terms in the CES human capital aggregation applied to cross-country development analysis. Caselli and Ciccone (2019) argue that the drawback of the omission of these terms lies in the fact that it does not account for factors beyond workers' characteristics to affect the human capital. Jones (2019) disagrees, arguing that the computation of the different levels of human capital using the macro-Mincer specification already attributes to each category of worker its economic value.

This chapter adds to this discussion by contrasting both CES specifications and estimating their diverging relationships with schooling. Moreover, I contribute to growth theory in general by demonstrating that incorporating the conclusive findings of the empirical microeconomic literature is crucial for any subsequent cross-country analysis on the role of human capital on growth.

Bibliography

- ACEMOGLU, DARON, AND DAVID AUTOR (2011): "Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings," vol. 4 of *Handbook of Labor Economics*, chap. 12, pp. 1043–1171. Elsevier.
- BARRO, ROBERT J. (1991): "Economic Growth in a Cross Section of Countries," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106(2), 407–43.
- BARRO, ROBERT J., AND JONG WHA LEE (2001): "International Data on Educational Attainment: Updates and Implications," *Oxford Economic Papers*, 53(3), 541–63.
- BILS, MARK, AND PETER J. KLENOW (2000): "Does Schooling Cause Growth?," *American Economic Review*, 90(5), 1160–1183.
- CASELLI, FRANCESCO (2017): *Technology Differences over Space and Time*. Princeton University Press.
- CASELLI, FRANCESCO, AND ANTONIO CICCONE (2013): "The contribution of schooling in development accounting: Results from a nonparametric upper bound," *Journal of Development Economics*, 104, 199–211.

—— (2019): "The human capital stock: A generalized approach: Comment," *American Economic Review*, 109(3), 1155–1174.

CASELLI, FRANCESCO, AND II COLEMAN, WILBUR JOHN (2002): "The U.S. Technology Frontier," *American Economic Review*, 92(2), 148–152.

(2006): "The World Technology Frontier," *American Economic Review*, 96(3), 499–522.

- CASS, DAVID (1965): "Optimum Growth in an Aggregative Model of Capital Accumulation," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 32(3), 233–240.
- CICCONE, ANTONIO, AND GIOVANNI PERI (2005): "Long-Run Substitutability Between More and Less Educated Workers: Evidence from U.S. States, 1950-1990," *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 87(4), 652–663.
- FEENSTRA, ROBERT, ROBERT INKLAAR, AND MARCEL TIMMER (2015): "The Next Generation of the Penn World Table," *American Economic Review*, 105(10), 3150–82.

- GROWIEC, JAKUB, AND CHRISTIAN GROTH (2015): "On aggregating human capital across heterogeneous cohorts," *Mathematical Social Sciences*, 78, 21–38.
- JONES, BENJAMIN F. (2014): "The Human Capital Stock: A Generalized Approach," *American Economic Review*, 104(11), 3752–77.
- —— (2019): "The Human Capital Stock: A Generalized Approach: Reply," *American Economic Review*, 109(3), 1175–1195.
- KATZ, LAWRENCE F., AND KEVIN M. MURPHY (1992): "Changes in Relative Wages, 1963-1987: Supply and Demand Factors," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107(1), 35–78.
- KOOPMANS, TJALLING C. (1965): "On the Concept of Optimal Economic Growth," *Pontificia Academia Scientiarum Scripta Varia*, 28(1), 225–87.
- LEE, JONG-WHA, AND HANOL LEE (2016): "Human capital in the long run," *Journal of Development Economics*, 122(C), 147–169.
- MONTENEGRO, CLAUDIO E., AND HARRY ANTHONY PATRINOS (2014): "Comparable estimates of returns to schooling around the world," Policy Research Working Paper Series 7020, The World Bank.
- ROSSI, FEDERICO (2020): "Human Capital and Macroeconomic Development: A Review of the Evidence," *The World Bank Research Observer*, 35(2), 227–262.
- SOLOW, ROBERT M. (1956): "A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 70, 65–94.
- THE WORLD BANK (2017): "World Development Indicators Education: Outcomes," https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.SEC.DURS, Accessed 19 Jul 2018.

1.A Supplementary figures

I present here additional figures depicting relationships between key constructed variables and education. Some repetition of plots serves the purpose of easiness of exposition and comparisons.



Figure 1.A.1: Unskilled and skilled human capital measures



Figure 1.A.2: Comparison of BK*'s and BJ's human capital and technology measures



Figure 1.A.3: Comparison of BK-A's and CES's human capital and technology



Figure 1.A.4: Specifications BK* and BJ: scatter plots of key variables and parameters on BK's schooling



Figure 1.A.5: Specification BK-A: scatter plots of key variables and parameters on BK's schooling



Figure 1.A.6: Specification CES: scatter plots of key variables and parameters on BK's schooling

Chapter 2

A8 skills in the UK: who benefits? Input-output linkages and the transmission of a skill supply shock across industries

1 Introduction

Modern economies involve very sophisticated input-output structures. Goods like electricity, financial services, transportation, information technology and healthcare are both inputs and outputs. [...] Despite our intuitive recognition of this point, standard models of macroeconomics and economic growth typically ignore intermediate goods.

In the event of a shock in the supply of a factor, the 'conventional wisdom' —as Charles I. Jones puts it— would be content in stating that the group of industries more intense in its use would be the most affected. Some few could add that the shock would also be felt by other industries, to the extent that they employ that factor. Little explored, however, is how industries that make no use of it would be affected by the shock via intermediate inputs use.

This reasoning equally permeates the media, as seen in the discussion surrounding the withdrawal of the United Kingdom (UK) from the European Union (EU). Information technology (IT) and creative industries fear for the supply of highly skilled workers,¹ while services worry about the large percentages of workers becoming illegible to work in the UK² and low-skilled industries foresee a tougher prospect in finding readily available cheap labour.³ Consistently, there is hardly any consideration about how these supposed supply shortages would affect industries which do not employ these skills.

Migration and investment in education are examples of shocks in the supply of labour or, more specifically, skills. Understanding how these shocks affect the economy in general and the various industries, in particular, is essential for the design of labour market policies. As industries directly affected by a skill supply shock sell their goods as intermediate goods to other industries, the effects of the shock are not limited to the former but include other industries connected through input transactions. The usual impression that the supply of a certain set of skills is of the sole interest of industries using these skills needs to be supplemented by the notion that industrial interconnections propagate labour supply shocks throughout the economy.

To investigate this premise empirically, I explore the large influx of immigrants to the UK coming from one of the so-called A8 accession countries from the EU 2004's enlargement (Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia). The goal is to understand how the A8 immigration affects the real output of UK industries via input-output linkages. To do so, I design counterfactuals removing the stock of low-skilled (3.15%) and high-skilled (2.22%) A8 workers from the universe of employed people in 2014.⁴ The combined effect on GDP is of a drop of 1.81% compared to the observed data, 1.17 percentage points (p.p.) from the removal of low-skilled and 0.64 p.p. from the high-skilled A8 workers.

The cross-industry findings challenge the idea that a skill supply shock affects the industries proportionally to their use of that skill —as it would be the case in an economy without linkages. Figure 2.1 plots the low-skill and high-skill nominal shares

¹Bethan Staton, "Migration controls threaten job shock to Bristol," *Financial Times*, 10 October 2019, https://www.ft.com/content/9ce7802c-eaa8-11e9-85f4-d00e5018f061 (accessed 21 October 2020)

² "Britain's post-Brexit immigration rules worry business," *The Economist*, 20 February 2020, https: //www.economist.com/britain/2020/02/20/britains-post-brexit-immigration-rules-worry-business (accessed 21 October 2020)

³Judith Evans, "UK farmers warn time running out to find labour for 2021 harvest," *Financial Times*, 28 October 2020, https://www.ft.com/content/78f78ff9-1884-4cc4-8fa0-1608a1452a02 (accessed 04 November 2020)

⁴The total immigrant (non-citizens) employment share in 2004 was less than 10%. More details in section 4 and appendix 2.B.1.

vis-à-vis the output change produced by the removal of A8 workers —as given by the model developed in this chapter. The impacts are not only (i) still large in industries using very little of each skill but also (ii) the relationship between skill usage and output effect is not a monotone one, as shown by the non-smooth decay of the yellow bars on the right of each subfigure. These results indicate that the shock reaches industries less intense in the use of the affected skills via channels other than skill use.



Note: author's calculations. Codes according to ISIC Rev. 4 (Table 2.1).

Figure 2.1: Rankings of skill use and immigration impact per skill level

1.1 Contributions

In this chapter, I analyse how input-output linkages play a role in the transmission of a skill supply shock across industries. My first contribution is to develop a multisector closed-economy computable general equilibrium model with industry-specific skill-intensities and input-output linkages. It draws from the family of models stemming from Long and Plosser (1983), in particular Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012) and Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016). Like the latter pair, the present model is a static one, abstracting from dynamic aspects; unlike them, I include two different levels of skills and industry-specific factor intensities. Closed-form solutions for the equilibrium values of all endogenous variables are derived, in particular of the GDP [Proposition 2.1] and industry output [Proposition 2.2].

My second contribution is to apply the model to the data, particularly to study the impact of the A8 immigration on the UK economy. This is, to the best of my knowledge, the first calibrated input-output model for the UK economy which matches the factor shares across industries. Notably, I make use of the convenient decomposition of labour into skills categories provided by EU KLEMS. To be as close as possible to the World Input-Output Database (WIOD), which gives the interindustry linkages key to this chapter, the model also includes capital usage varying across industries. By doing so, I present a comprehensive view of the UK production network combined with an elucidative study of the importance of A8 workers to UK industries. I construct the dataset and implement the model on MATLAB, which allows me to contrast the model's first order results with non-linear solutions provided by the counterfactual exercises. Moreover, working on MATLAB endows the research with enough flexibility to test some of the model's hypothesis via robustness checks based on alternative specifications.

My third and most significant contribution is to build a framework to investigate the mechanism through which input-output linkages spread skill shocks across industries and to evaluate its relevance to any given economy. This endeavour unfolds into a number of deeds.

I first build an alternative model lacking the input-output linkages akin to Jones (1965),⁵ henceforth the *no-IO model*. Contrasting it with the main model —hence the *IO model*— reveals how much ignoring industrial interconnections can lead to predictions far wide of the mark. I show that in the case of the A8 counterfactual, the output change of less-intense industries can be underestimated up to 0.56 p.p. (for industries using zero of the affected factor) while the impact on more-intense industries is overestimated by a remarkable 42 per cent on average.

I am then able to get to the core of the chapter: to assess how the no-IO model misestimation relates not only (i) to the direct relationship between each pair of industries —trivially given by the input shares— but also (ii) to the indirect transactions —conveyed ultimately by the input-output matrix. By doing so, I can fully explore and understand the interindustry connections of the economy.

Intuitively, the reason for industries more intense in the use of the shocked factor to have output changes smaller than those predicted by the no-IO model lies on the notion that those industries might buy intermediate inputs from the industries less

⁵The neoclassical multi-sector models cited include intermediate goods. Jones (1965) applies an activity analysis model instead. On activity analysis models, see Norton and Scandizzo (1981).

intense in the use of that factor and therefore less affected by the shock. The reverse applies to industries less intense in the shocked factor. The weighted average of the factor intensity of the intermediate input basket of the industries [constructed as per **Definition 2.5**] shows that this phenomenon indeed happens, but does not explain all the differences between the models' predictions.

In reality, the whole chain of intermediate input use matters in the shock transmission. This array is represented by a matrix defined in this chapter [**Definition 2.3**] as the *Leontief-inverse transposed*, since it is an analogue of the static solution matrix in Leontief (1986). Unlike the original one, the matrix studied here has the perspective of input use, i.e. the series of intermediate good purchases from each buying producer to every successive selling industry.

In the IO model, the effect of a factor shock on industry output combines input shares with the affected-factor shares of all industries [**Corollary 2.2**]. By contrast, in the no-IO model, each industry's isolated impact of the labour supply shock is simply given by its respective labour share [**Corollary 2.3**]. In that way, the difference between the two models in gauging the impact of the shock across industries results from a combination of the Leontief-inverse transposed and the total factor shares of every industry. These elements are defined as *linkage weights* [**Definition 2.4**] since they sum to one to each purchasing industry and summarise all upstream input connections relevant to the shock transmission.

One of the key findings of this chapter is given by **Theorem 2.1**, which establishes that the output change of each industry is an average of the labour shares of all industries calibrated by the linkage weights. This means that the industries are not affected solely by their own labour shares but also by those of the industries with which it transacts directly or indirectly throughout the production network. Moreover, the linkage weights determine that the higher the overall influence of an input supplier in the production technology of an industry, the more its isolated impact will be felt by that industry. These results fully explain how the transmission of a labour shock works to average out the impacts across the economy, reducing the output change in more intense and augmenting it in less intense industries.

I explore the equivalence of the Leontief-inverse transposed to an infinite sum of powers of the transpose of the input-output matrix to investigate the relevance of indirect input transactions, i.e. linkages between a pair of industries occurring through at least one other industry. More specifically, the low- and high-skill labour shock themselves are estimated using a truncated sum of the transpose of the input-output matrix in each corresponding order of approximation. The ratios of each order of truncation over the total shock effect are used to assess how fast is the convergence of these sequential approximations for each industry. Slow convergence is observed for industries having more intricate upstream connections, i.e. relying on inputs of industries that also rely considerably on other suppliers.

This endeavour is paramount in explaining differences in output changes among industries with similar first-order interconnections. I find that indeed they happen due to higher-order linkages, coming from the gravity of other more or less connected industries within the chain of upstream transactions. For example, 'real states activities' has the third smallest total input share, at just 23%, but is the one for which the model ignoring input-output linkages performs the worst. Indeed, the few direct suppliers of this industry, in particular financial and insurance activities and construction, are significantly upstream connected within the network.

1.2 Literature review

There has been a thriving revival in the field of input-output economics, motivated both by technical advances in neighbouring fields —e.g. network theory— and from the availability of unprecedentedly refined datasets with hundreds of industries⁶ and millions of firms (Carvalho and Tahbaz-Salehi, 2019). Prominent examples of this flourishing literature are Gabaix (2011), Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012) and Baqaee and Farhi (2019).

Chiefly, this chapter is inspired by these articles but pivots them in an original way. While these articles —as their stem, the seminal input-output real business-cycle model of Long and Plosser (1983)— investigate productivity shocks from micro to macro, the focus of the present study is the transmission of aggregate labour/skill shocks in the reverse direction: towards microeconomic entities. Thus, this chapter's

⁶In terms of terminology, the words "industry" and "sector" are often used interchangeably. Historically, the seminal work of Leontief (1941) covered a group of 10 industries while the works such as Uzawa (1961) and Uzawa (1963) extended the Solow-Swan growth model to two sectors, separating consumption to investment goods, which later gave way to the multi-sector growth (MSG) models. I choose 'industry' as it is the term adopted by the data used in this chapter.

contribution to this literature lies in assessing the role of intermediate inputs linkages in transmitting factor supply shocks across industries in a closed-economy model.

The investigation of shifts in industrial composition caused by changes in factor supplies is usually performed by studies in the field of international trade. Placed within the Heckscher-Ohlin theory of international trade —even though it only required a closed-economy model— Rybczynski (1955) applies the then-recently developed production version of the Edgeworth box (Stolper and Samuelson, 1941)⁷ to prove what was later known as the Rybczynski theorem: "The maintenance of the same rates of substitution in production after the quantity of one factor has increased must lead to an absolute expansion in production of the commodity using relatively much of that factor, and to an absolute curtailment of production of the commodity using for the rates of substitution to adjust, the paper shows that there must be a deterioration in the terms of trade of the good more intense in the increased factor whereas boosted income will guarantee higher production of both goods, relatively more for the one whose relative price lowered.

The initial models of the Heckscher-Ohlin theory, however, did not include intermediate goods. Kemp (1969) and Schweinberger (1975) extended them and prove that the main theorems of the theory would still hold. My contribution to this literature is to evaluate how the input-output linkages would alter the exact product-mix predictions of the models.

Studies of skill shocks in the field of labour economics traditionally focus on their labour market outcomes, overlooking the perspective of the industries. Notable examples are Katz and Murphy (1992) and Goldin and Katz (2007) investigating the changes in the relative supply of skilled workers in the United States and Card (1990), Altonji and Card (1991) and Borjas, Freeman, and Katz (1992) on the effects of immigration. This body of research typically have partial equilibrium models of supply and demand for labour in the background (Ottaviano and Peri, 2013), but there are renowned exemplars of general equilibrium analysis, such as Heckman, Lochner, and Taber (1998).

More recently, however, labour literature has moved to the investigation of the re-

⁷See Humphrey (1996) for a chronicle of the development of the Edgeworth or diagram box.

sponse of firms and local industries, especially within cities.⁸ Examples of studies on the impact of immigration on firms' outcomes include Olney (2013), Mitaritonna, Orefice, and Peri (2017) and Dustmann and Glitz (2015). However, these are empirical papers and take a different approach than mine, resorting to reduced form relationships between the supply of labour and firms' outcomes; they do not account for input-output linkages among either firms or industries.⁹

Within both international trade and labour economics, several studies cover the EU expansion (Caliendo, Opromolla, Parro, and Sforza, 2017; Cardoso, 2020) and UK's exit (Van Reenen, 2016; Dhingra, Huang, Ottaviano, Pessoa, Sampson, and Van Reenen, 2017). Nearly none of them study the changes in the industry composition. The one exception, and the work most closely related to this chapter, is Bratsberg, Moxnes, Raaum, and Ulltveit-moe (2019), who develop a factor proportions general equilibrium model to study the effect of 2004's and 2007's EU enlargements on Norway labour market and industry outcomes. Their model considers native and immigrants as having potentially different sets of skills —which includes language— and sorting into occupations that are used with varying proportions across industries. Consistent with the literature finding that firms adjust their production technology to accommodate large inflows of workers,¹⁰ Bratsberg, Moxnes, Raaum, and Ulltveitmoe (2019) depicts a mechanism in which industries not only increase employment in occupations intensive in the skills abundant in the immigrants --responding to their relatively cheaper costs— but also by altering the skill mix and capital-labour mix of their production. Still, however, the paper does not include intermediate good, therefore also ignoring input-output linkages.

The neoclassical model of this chapter stands on the shoulders of Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012), Jones (2013) and Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016), being particularly closer to the latter.¹¹ Vis-à-vis their models, this chapter adds to the literature by splitting labour into two skill levels and adding

⁸See Ottaviano and Peri (2013) for a survey of this literature. According to them, this shift was motivated by the puzzle of unchanged relative wages between incoming immigrants and incumbent workers found in previous work, notably Lewis (2003) and Card and Lewis (2005). The new studies assess whether immigration altered intercity trade, correcting skill imbalances.

⁹Analysing firm-level data, the results obtained regarding the industries are due to clustering firms within the same line of business, which generates a coarser classification than the one provided by the industry-level data.

¹⁰On this topic, see the comprehensive survey by Lewis (2013).

¹¹All cited models are static variations of the 'dynamic multi-sector' models of Long and Plosser (1983), Horvath (1998) and Dupor (1999).

industry-specific factor intensities, as well as having a different focus for the exercises. In this family of neoclassical input-output models, Horvath (1998, 2000) and more recently vom Lehn and Winberry (2019)— also include technology parameters varying across industries, but do not consider different categories of skills.¹² Notwithstanding, my model is tractable and suitable to be applied to the data, providing a robust tool for input-output analysis.

In terms of application, to the best of my knowledge, this is the first study to consider the impact of EU immigration on UK industries considering their direct and indirect interconnections. Such contribution might prove helpful for aiding policies on immigration, skill supply management and industrial organization.

Most remarkably, insofar as this research topic has not been previously pursued, the framework developed here to the analysis of the transmission mechanism of a factor supply shock across industries is entirely novel. The depiction of the output changes of each industry being a weighted average of other industries' characteristics and the characterisation of the higher-order interconnections among industries allows for a thorough understanding of the role of input-output linkages and are, therefore, the main contributions of this chapter.

1.3 Outline

The structure of this chapter is as follows. Section 2 presents the theoretical framework, which includes the main input-output model with its solutions, the alternative no-IO model, and the key definitions and results supporting the analysis. Section 3 introduces the data, outlines the calibration of the model and gives the rationale for opting for the non-linear solutions produced by the MATLAB implementation. Section 4 turns to the application side, where I show how the model can fortuitously elucidate how the A8 immigration affected UK industries making use of the comprehensive framework developed; in this section, I also present a robustness test for the counterfactual design. Section 5 concludes. Algebraic derivations and proofs, data and computation details, and supplementary results are available in the Appendices 2.A, 2.B and 2.C, respectively.

¹²Horvath (2000) even abstracts from labour altogether.

2 Theoretical analysis

2.1 The input-output model

The main model is an extension of Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016)'s, to which I incorporate industry-specific factor intensities and decompose the labour stock into two groups: *low-skilled* and *high-skilled*. Workers are identical within each category and can move freely across industries, responding to the demand for skills.¹³

Each industry is viewed as a single representative firm producing a homogeneous good. There are n industries in the economy. The output q_i of each industry i is given by the following constant returns to scale (CRS) Cobb-Douglas technology:¹⁴

$$q_{i} = A_{i} \left(k_{i}^{\alpha_{i}} l_{i}^{\delta_{i}} h_{i}^{1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}} \right)^{1-\gamma_{i}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} d_{ji}^{\gamma_{ji}}$$
(2.1)

Where the endogenous variables, besides q_i , are:

- k_i: capital
- *l_i*: low-skilled labour
- *h_i*: high-skilled labour
- d_{ji} : output of domestic industry j used as input in the production of i^{15}

Regarding the technology parameters:¹⁶

- *A_i*: industrial total factor productivity
- α_i : factor income share of capital in the production technology of industry *i*
- δ_i : factor income share of low-skilled labour for industry *i*
- $1 \alpha_i \delta_i$: factor income share of high-skilled labour for industry *i*
- γ_{ii} : the share of good j in the production technology of firms in industry i,

where $\gamma_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji}$

¹⁵These elements are also called "materials" or "material inputs" in related literature on trade. See Caliendo, Dvorkin, and Parro (2019).

¹³Unlike the literature on immigration, I make no distinction in the model between incomers and native workers. In other words, I assume they are perfect substitutes for each other.

¹⁴Given the complexity of the model, the adoption of a constant-returns-to-scale (CRS) Cobb-Douglas specification for the industries' output functions is convenient in terms of producing analytical solutions, which are favoured for shocks of greater magnitude. Since the main object of this chapter is of first-order, i.e. the changes in real output, non-linearity issues as discussed by Baqaee and Farhi (2019) do not weigh on the chapter's results. Moreover, the counterfactual design as a shock in one given year matches well with fixed parameters. Altogether, the results should be seen as short-run responses to factor supplies for given technologies.

¹⁶The Cobb-Douglas technology in (2.1) coupled with competitive factor markets, result in the factor parameters corresponding to their nominal shares in equilibrium. Likewise, the parameters γ_{ji} correspond to the entries of the IO matrix, measuring the value of spending on input *j* per dollar of production of good *i*.

Output of industry *i* is used for final consumption, y_i , or as intermediate good, such that the market clearing condition for each good *i* holds, i.e.:

$$y_i + \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij} = q_i$$
 (2.2)

The consumer side is synthesised by a final good aggregation. This can be interpreted as an entity which combines all the y_i left-overs from the industries and transforms them into the aggregate GDP. Consumer preferences are represented by industry-specific final demand parameters $\beta_i \ge 0$, $\forall i$, where $\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i = 1$.

$$Y = \prod_{i=1}^{n} y_i^{\beta_i} \tag{2.3}$$

Real GDP (*Y*) equals nominal GDP (*PY*) since the price deflator is chosen as the numeraire and its value is normalised to one (P = 1). Production side equals expenditure side GDP, so that final output is equivalent to household's consumption:

$$Y = C \tag{2.4}$$

Households supply the primary factors of production inelastically, receiving competitive market wages w_L and w_H —for low- and high-skilled labour, respectively and rental on capital w_K . Thus, households' income comprises of the aggregate value-added and is fully used to finance consumption:

$$C = w_K K + w_L L + w_H H \tag{2.5}$$

Finally, factor markets are also assumed to clear, i.e. the sum of each factor employed in every industry equals the exogenous aggregate levels of physical capital *K*, low-skilled *L* and high-skilled labour *H*:

$$K = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i \qquad (2.6) \qquad L = \sum_{i=1}^{n} l_i \qquad (2.7) \qquad H = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i \qquad (2.8)$$

2.2 General equilibrium

The competitive general equilibrium of this economy is trivially given by the profit maximisation of industries and final good aggregator taking prices as given. The formal definition of the equilibrium allocation follows:

Definition 2.1 (Equilibrium) A competitive equilibrium consists of quantities regarding aggregate output Y and consumption C, the industrial output $\{q_i\}$, intermediate input choices $\{d_{ji}\}$, final good demands $\{y_i\}$ and industry demand for factors $\{k_i\}$, $\{l_i\}$ and $\{h_i\}$, as well as prices of factors w_K , w_L , w_H and goods $\{p_i\}$ for every industry i, jin the economy such that:

1. Industry Problem: Given good prices $\{p_i\}$ and factor prices w_K , w_L and w_H the representative firm of each industry chooses factors, inputs and output to maximise its profit subject to the technology, such that:

$$\max_{\{q_i,k_i,l_i,h_i,d_{ji}\}} p_i q_i - w_K k_i - w_L l_i - w_H h_i - \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji}$$

s.t. Equation (2.1).

2. Final Good Problem: Given $\{p_i\}$ and P, the final good aggregator (entity) maximises profit subject to the available technology, such that:

$$\max_{\{y_i,Y\}} PY - \sum_{i=1}^n p_i y_i$$

s.t. Equation (2.3).

- 3. setting the final good price as the numeraire, i.e. P = 1, prices clear the markets for all goods and factors, such that:
 - industry goods: Equation (2.2)
 - final good: Equation (2.4)
 - capital: Equation (2.6)
 - *low-skilled labour: Equation* (2.7)
 - high-skilled labour: Equation (2.8)

First order conditions

The Cobb-Douglas combined with efficient markets yields the standard first order conditions (FOCs) for the equilibrium in each industry i in terms of the nominal shares of capital (2.9), low-skilled (2.10) and high-skilled labour (2.11), and the intermediate inputs share (2.12) in the total costs (sales) of an industry:

$$\frac{w_K k_i}{p_i q_i} = \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i) \tag{2.9}$$

$$\frac{w_L l_i}{p_i q_i} = \delta_i (1 - \gamma_i) \tag{2.10}$$

$$\frac{w_H h_i}{p_i q_i} = (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)(1 - \gamma_i)$$
(2.11)

$$\frac{p_j a_{ji}}{p_i q_i} = \gamma_{ji} \tag{2.12}$$

The necessary equilibrium condition for the final good maximisation renders β_i as each industry's nominal sales share on GDP:

$$\beta_i = \frac{p_i y_i}{Y} \tag{2.13}$$

2.3 Special notes

Industry factor shares

The nominal factor shares as given by Equations (2.9), (2.10) and (2.11) appear often in the subsequent analysis of this chapter. For this reason, it is worth understanding their meaning precisely.

Consider each industry *i* value added, i.e. its total payment to factors, as given by:

$$va_i = w_K k_i + w_L l_i + w_H h_i$$
 (2.14)

Then, in equilibrium, having total costs equating total sales, every industry in the IO model must satisfy:

$$p_i q_i = v a_i + \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji}$$
(2.15)

With these references, I define the 'broad' as given by Equations (2.9), (2.10) and (2.11) and the 'narrow' factor shares as below. The main difference between them is

that while the former considers an industry's total costs, i.e. including the costs of the intermediate inputs, the latter are solely in terms of the total costs of factors.

Definition 2.2 (Narrow factor shares) *The narrow nominal shares for capital, low-skilled and high-skilled labour for each industry i are respectively given by the equa-tions below:*

$$\alpha_i = \frac{w_K k_i}{v_i} \tag{2.16}$$

$$\delta_i = \frac{w_L l_i}{v_i} \tag{2.17}$$

$$(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) = \frac{w_H h_i}{v_i} \tag{2.18}$$

Aggregate factor shares

To simplify the analysis, I use α and δ to represent aggregate factor shares in the value added given by Equation (2.5), such that:

$$\frac{w_K K}{C} = \alpha \qquad (2.19) \qquad \qquad \frac{w_L L}{C} = \delta \qquad (2.20) \qquad \frac{w_H H}{C} = (1 - \alpha - \delta) \quad (2.21)$$

IO Matrix

The input-output (IO) matrix $\Gamma = [\gamma_{ji}]$ is the representation of the inter-industry commerce. Each row contains the values of intermediate good *j* consumed by each industry *i* per dollar of production. This layout adheres to the way input-output data is usually available, having origins in the rows and destinations in the columns.¹⁷

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma} = [\gamma_{ji}] = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{12} & \cdots & \gamma_{1n} \\ \gamma_{21} & \gamma_{22} & \cdots & \gamma_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{n1} & \gamma_{n2} & \cdots & \gamma_{nn} \end{bmatrix}$$

Under this notation, the sum of elements in the *i*th column of matrix Γ is equal to the total intermediate share of the respective industry: γ_i . These are also called the

¹⁷It is important to stress here that prominent works more theoretically driven, have opted to express the IO matrix in the reversed direction, i.e. having consuming industries on the rows and producers along the columns. See Baqaee and Farhi (2019) and Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012).

"weighted in-degrees".¹⁸ However, since each γ_i includes industry *i*'s own consumption γ_{ii} —and these values tend to be significant—, it is not as much a measure of upstream connectedness as it is a measure of overall reliance on intermediate inputs.

Sales shares

An important parameter not present in the main formulae of the model aids significantly in the derivations and analysis. It is industry i's sales share on GDP, or Domar¹⁹ weight, defined as *i*'s nominal sales $p_i q_i$ over aggregate output.

$$\mu_i = \frac{p_i q_i}{Y} \tag{2.22}$$

Combining the market clearing condition in Equation (2.2) with the equilibrium conditions given by equations (2.12) and (2.13), it is clear that μ_i is a constant parameter and not a variable in the model: i.e. $\mu_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \gamma_{ij} \mu_j + \beta_i \cdot \beta_i^{20}$ Or in matrix form:

$$\boldsymbol{\mu} = [\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{\Gamma}]^{-1} \boldsymbol{\beta} \tag{2.23}$$

Matrix $[I - \Gamma]^{-1}$ is known as the "Leontief inverse" and combines the whole chain of gross output production per unit of consumption. If all input shares γ_{ji} are nonzero, positive and smaller that one, the matrix is non-singular.²¹

Industry output versus final good

Before presenting the main results of the model, it is worth explaining why the focus of the analysis is on the industry output q_i and not on the final good y_i . As showed by Equations (2.2) and (2.3), part of the total production of industry i is used by other industries and the remainder is transformed in final consumption. Since intermediate inputs are only transfers between sectors which are cancelled out in the total summation, they are irrelevant in aggregate terms in this model.²²

¹⁸Likewise, the "weighted out-degrees" of an industry j are defined as $\gamma_j^{out} = \sum_{i=1}^n \gamma_{ji}$. This measure corresponds to the relative importance of industry j's output as an intermediate input in the production network. It is equal to the sum of elements in the j^{th} row of matrix Γ .

¹⁹Domar (1961).

²⁰Moreover, because of intermediate goods, $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i > 1$ in general. ²¹See Carvalho and Tahbaz-Salehi (2019) for a full characterisation of the Leontief inverse.

²²Appendix 2.A.1 details the algebra of this property. It shows how aggregate income equals final nominal demand in this model, such that produced and consumed intermediate inputs cancel out.

As such, both final good y_i and its aggregation Y do not capture the variables which are the novel and central part of the analysis. Hence, to assess how each industry is particularly affected by a labour shock, one must study its effect on its total physical production, as given by the real output q_i .

2.4 Analytical results and tools

Equilibrium solutions

Despite the richness of the model, closed-form solutions are derivable for all endogenous variables. I present here the two most relevant for the subsequent analysis.²³

Proposition 2.1 (Real GDP) *The equilibrium aggregate output is given by:*

$$\log Y = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + \delta (\log L - \log \delta) + (1 - \alpha - \delta) (\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i) [\alpha_i \log \alpha_i + \delta_i \log \delta_i + (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) \log (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i) \log (1 - \gamma_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \log A_i + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i \log \beta_i$$

$$(2.24)$$

The solution clearly shows how the exogenous factor supplies K, L and H relate to the GDP through their respective nominal shares. Furthermore, it confirms that Hulten (1978)'s theorem holds, as the model comprises of CRS technologies and efficient markets. In other words, the industrial multiplier,²⁴ or the elasticity of aggregate output Y to the productivity of industry i, equals μ_i , i.e. industry i's sales share on GDP.

Proposition 2.2 (Industry output) The output of each industry i in equilibrium reads:

$$\log q_{i} = (1 - \gamma_{i})\alpha_{i}(\log K - \log \alpha + \log \alpha_{i}) \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i}(\log L - \log \delta + \log \delta_{i}) \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})(\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i})(\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i})) + \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i} \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j}$$
(2.25)

²³The remaining derivations are available in Appendix 2.A.

²⁴The literature — see Chipman (1950) — usually adopts the concept of the industrial or sectoral multiplier to represent the effect on aggregate output Y of a one-per cent change to the productivity of industry i: $d \log Y/d \log A_i$.

The appearance of the term $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$ on the right-hand side of this equation reveals how each industry's output is recursively related to all other's and makes explicit the model's supply-side characteristic. In this framework, goods are produced not responding to the demand but to the availability of resources: other industry's output *j* matters to the extend that it is used as an input by industry *i*.

Corollary 2.1 (Vector of industry output) The complete solution for the industry output can only be obtained in matrix form. Let $q_i = \log q_i$ and the *i*th row of vector V be composed of all the constant terms of (2.25) —those prior to $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$ —such that vector q reads:

$$\mathbf{q} = \left[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \right]^{-1} \mathbf{V} \tag{2.26}$$

Equation (2.26) is key in the toolkit developed in this chapter and is discussed in extension further on.

Comparative statics

The IO model's prediction for the effects on the output of an industry are given by the first derivative of its equilibrium solution with respect to the shocked variable. It follows from Corollary 2.1 that this differentiation is rather straightforward.

For clarity, I present below the effects of a low-skilled, a high-skilled and a total labour supply shock. For the latter, I consider E = L + H, i.e. the sum of the low- and high-skilled labour supply.

Corollary 2.2 (Output effect) The vectors of the effect of a low-skilled, high-skilled and total labour supply shock on the real output of the industries in the IO model are given by the product of the Leontief-inverse transposed and a vector comprised of the 'broad' low-skill, high-skilled and total labour shares of each industry *i*, *i.e.* the nominal shares δ_i , $(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)$ and $(1 - \alpha_i)$, respectively, times the total factor share $(1 - \gamma_i)$.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)\delta_1 \\ (1 - \gamma_2)\delta_2 \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)\delta_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(IO_{LS})

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)(1 - \alpha_1 - \delta_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2)(1 - \alpha_2 - \delta_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)(1 - \alpha_n - \delta_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(IO_{HS})
$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)(1 - \alpha_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2)(1 - \alpha_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)(1 - \alpha_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(IO_{ES})

Noticeably, the three results are analogue of each other. They all have the Leontiefinverse transposed premultiplying a "vector shock" comprised of the 'broad' nominal shares of the affected factor for all industries. These results will be explored in depth in section 2.5.²⁵

Contrast with a model without input-output linkages

The model without linkages is a specialisation of the full model where industries do not use other industries' output as intermediate inputs, i.e. all the intermediate inputs γ_{ji} equal zero. The formulae is the same as before, except by this restriction. For clarity, Equations (2.1) and (2.2) are replaced with the following, respectively:

$$q_i = A_i \left(k_i^{\alpha_i} l_i^{\delta_i} h_i^{1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i} \right) \tag{2.27}$$

$$q_i = y_i \tag{2.28}$$

Likewise, Equations (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}) regarding the impact of low-skilled, high-skilled and total labour supply, respectively, are also adjusted accordingly.

Corollary 2.3 (Output effect no-IO model) In the no-IO model, the effect of a lowskilled, high-skilled and total labour supply shock on the real output of the industries

²⁵These results are closely related to Baqaee (2015)'s "network-adjusted labour intensity". Being supply-side shocks, they propagate downstream and, as such, they require an upstream measure to assess how much each industry relies on the output of the affected industries.

is proportional to their affected 'narrow' factor shares, such that:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_i}{\mathrm{d}\log L} = \delta_i \qquad (\text{no-IO}_{LS})$$

$$\frac{d\log q_i}{d\log H} = (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)$$
 (no-IO_{HS})
$$\frac{d\log q_i}{d\log q_i} = (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_i}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (1 - \alpha_i) \qquad (\text{no-IO}_{ES})$$

Unlike the IO model, the no-IO model predicts that the impact of the shocks on each industry is fully determined by its own usage of the affected factor. As expected, the other industries' output and parameters play no role in it.

Leontief-inverse transposed

The Leontief inverse in Equation (2.23) takes into account all direct and indirect effects at work along the *downstream* chains, i.e. from the seller's perspective.²⁶ Having the input-output transpose matrix Γ' instead captures the *upstream* or buyers' chains, as it is the case in equations (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}).²⁷ For this reason, I coin matrix $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ the *Leontief-inverse transposed* matrix.

Definition 2.3 (Leontief-inverse transposed) $Matrix [I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ is defined as the Leontiefinverse transposed. Each element v_{ij} of it represents the overall relevance of the input of industry j in the production technology of industry i.

In the Leontief-inverse transposed, the elements portray how much each industry relies on every other industry's inputs, while each element of the Leontief inverse represents how important each industry is as a supplier to every other industry. In that way, v_{ij} captures all the direct and indirect transactions of each input j over the supply chain of each good i.

$$\begin{bmatrix} I - \Gamma \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \mathbf{1} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Gamma^k \right) \mathbf{1} = \left(I + \Gamma + \Gamma^2 + \dots \right) \mathbf{1} \\ \approx \begin{bmatrix} I + \Gamma \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} = \mathbf{1} + \gamma^{out}$$

²⁶A simple way of demonstrating this result, as done by Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016) is to represent the Leontief-inverse as an infinite geometric series post-multiplied by a vector of ones and truncated at its first-order term. This leads to the vector of out-degrees γ^{out} :

The approximation is rather coarse and does not hold numerically, but it is helpful in the visualisation of the direction of the effects captured by this measure.

²⁷Algebraically, the Leontief-inverse transposed is trivially the transpose of the Leontief-inverse, i.e. $[I - \Gamma^T]^{-1} = [[I - \Gamma]^{-1}]^T$.

Nonetheless, the direction of the effect must not be understood rigidly. Because there are loops in the network, a supposed downstream effect may also include some transactions happening upstream, in the sense that an initially selling sector may eventually be a buyer in a chain.²⁸ In essence, all that is relevant in this interpretation is the starting point, which is either a view from the sellers' or from the buyers' perspective.

Linkage weights

Remarkably, all the common portions of Equations (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}) are derived from the input shares γ_{ii} . For each industry *i*, these terms come from the product of each element v_{ii} of the row i of the Leontief-inverse transposed with the elements of the column vector of total factor shares. In fact, since each row of $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ is a linear combination of the vector $1 - \gamma$,²⁹ the result of this product is the vector of ones. I define the elements of this dot product as linkage weights.

Definition 2.4 (Linkage weights) The linkage weights ρ_{ij} of each industry *i* with respect to industry *j* are defined as:

$$\rho_{ij} = \upsilon_{ij}(1 - \gamma_j) \tag{2.29}$$

In essence, they represent the importance of every industry j in spreading the factor shock to each industry *i*. Moreover, these terms premultiply the isolated shock experienced by each industry --given by the shares of the affected factor--- and therefore play a key role in the transmission of the shocks. In fact, these linkage weights render the output impact in the IO model as a weighted average of the isolated output impact predicted by the no-IO model.

Theorem 2.1 (Shock dispersion via linkages) The effect of a labour (skill) shock on the real output of an industry i is given by the average of the labour (skill) nominal shares of the input-supplying industries j weighted by the linkage weights ρ_{ij} . Equa-

²⁸For example, matrix Γ^2 considers all the two-step transactions, such that $1 \to 2 \to 1$ would be a chain of industry 1 selling to 2 and then buying something back from industry 2. ²⁹Recall $\gamma_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji}$, i.e. the sum of row *i* of Γ' or, equivalently, the sum of column *i* of Γ .

tions (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}) can be simplified accordingly to read:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_i}{\mathrm{d}\log L} = \sum_j \rho_{ij} \delta_j \tag{2.30}$$

$$\frac{d\log q_i}{d\log H} = \sum_j \rho_{ij} (1 - \alpha_j - \delta_j)$$
(2.31)

$$\frac{d\log q_i}{d\log E} = \sum_j \rho_{ij} (1 - \alpha_j)$$
(2.32)

In other words, the total effect of the labour shock is a combination of the labour shares of all industries from which a producer buys, graduated by their relative importance in the whole upstream chain of transactions. They are therefore the precise way of expressing how the shocks are average out across industries in the IO model.

2.5 Investigating the transmission mechanism

The main takeaway of the theoretical analysis presented so far is that in the IO model the effect of a labour or skill shock on the output of an industry comprises of terms deriving from the input shares and the nominal shares of the affected factor for all industries. By contrast, the no-IO model predicts that each industry's isolated impact of the labour supply shock comprises solely of its respective labour share.

I explore two ways of understanding the role of input-output linkages in the transmission of the shocks across industries: (i) the direct input purchases of each industry; and (ii) the transactions of higher orders along the input supply. I focus exclusively on the two skill categories, leaving aside the combined shock for the sake of better readability of the analysis.

First round IO effects: Skill content of input purchases

A key idea of this chapter is that a model ignoring interindustry connections tend to underestimate the output impact of a labour shock to more labour-intensive industries and overestimates it for less intensive ones. I explore the intuitive idea that the averaging out of the impacts across industries may result from their direct transactions by constructing the weighted average of the factor intensity of the intermediate input basket of the industries. The intermediate input bundle of an industry is composed of goods with different factor intensity. By skill level, I calculate the weighted average of the labour content of the input basket of a buying industry *i* by taking each producer *j*'s skill intensity (either δ_j for low-skill or $(1 - \alpha_j - \delta_j)$ for high-skill) and weighting it by the relative amount of good *j* used by *i* $(p_j d_{ji} / \sum_j p_j d_{ji} = \gamma_{ji} / \gamma_i)$.

Definition 2.5 (Skill content) *The low-skill and high-skill content of the input purchases of industry i are respectively defined as:*

$$LSC_i = \sum_j \delta_j \left(\frac{\gamma_{ji}}{\gamma_i}\right) \tag{LSC}$$

$$HSC = \sum_{j} (1 - \alpha_j - \delta_j) \left(\frac{\gamma_{ji}}{\gamma_i}\right)$$
(HSC)

Additionally, I discount an industry's own skill content to gauge whether it purchases goods relatively more or less intensive than its own production. I then investigate if these differences could explain the averaging out of the skill shocks by comparing these values with the ratios of the predictions of the no-IO over the IO model. I present these results in section 4.2, which shows that these transactions fall short of explaining all input-output interconnections.

Higher IO effects: Speed of convergence of the shocks' approximations

Formally, the upstream array of intermediate input use and its role in transmitting the labour shocks are embedded in the Leontief-inverse transposed $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$. As shown by Corollary 2.2, in the IO model the effect on output of industry *i* is a combination of two components:

- a common *shock vector*, consisting of each industry-specific labour shares times the correspondent total factor share $(1 - \gamma_i)$; and
- the respective row of matrix [I Γ']⁻¹, which graduates the importance of the shock vector. This is the key component, since it is the varying part across industries and determines how much of the shock in every industry in the economy will be transmitted to each industry.

The equivalence of matrix $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ to an infinite sum of powers of matrix Γ' can be explored to investigate the relevance of the initial orders of the sum in explaining

the final matrix. In other words, depending on how fast the power series converges to its limit, more or less important are the higher orders of the approximation.

$$\left[I - \Gamma'\right]^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} {\Gamma'}^{k} = I + {\Gamma'} + {\Gamma'}^{2} + \dots$$
(2.33)

Each order of approximation of the Leontief-inverse transposed can be interpreted as the transactions occurring at the correspondent number of steps in the chain, i.e. from no intermediate input purchases (zeroth order), passing by direct transactions with input suppliers (first order), to those links more indirectly relating a pair of industries (higher orders). For instance, the second order of approximation includes all cases in which an industry g sells to j which then sell to an industry i.

To aid the analysis, I calculate the approximations of the shocks themselves on the output of the industries. Taking a low-skill labour supply shock of magnitude as an example, the equations below illustrate the first three orders of approximation:

• Zeroth-order approximation

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} (1-\gamma_1)\delta_1 \\ (1-\gamma_2)\delta_2 \\ \vdots \\ (1-\gamma_n)\delta_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(IO_{LS}0)

• First-order approximation

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I + \Gamma' \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)\delta_1 \\ (1 - \gamma_2)\delta_2 \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)\delta_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(IO_{LS}1)

• Second-order approximation

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log L} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I + \Gamma' + \Gamma'^2 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)\delta_1 \\ (1 - \gamma_2)\delta_2 \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)\delta_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(IO_{LS}2)

Although not identical, the zeroth order of approximation can be interpreted as an analogue to the impact predicted by the no-IO model; it differs by the total share of factors $(1 - \gamma_i)$ multiplying each industry's labour share. The first-order approximation includes the direct transactions only, from an industry to its suppliers. Each subsequent order includes a set of transactions one step farther than the preceding. Moreover, since the approximations are for the actual impact on output, the results will vary even though the matrices are the same in both cases. This happens because the industries have distinct shares of high- and low-skill labour and they will be affecting other industries along the chain of transactions accordingly.

In section 4.2, I recast matrix $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ into the sum of powers of matrix Γ' times the respective shock vectors to investigate the relative importance to an industry of its indirect input transactions. The results confirm that industries' higher-order connections matter in explaining the input-output linkages, especially for industries which has few first-order transactions.

3 Quantitative analysis

3.1 Dataset

The developed models are applied in this chapter to the study of the United Kingdom. The national input-output tables (NIOT) are extracted from the World Input-Output Dataset (WIOD), Release 2016 (Timmer, Dietzenbacher, Los, Stehrer, and de Vries, 2015). The remainder —including the industry-level series on payments to labour and employment by skill level— comes from EU KLEMS (Jäger, 2017).³⁰ The analysis is focused on 2014, the most recent year in both databases.³¹

The constructed dataset is attuned to some simplifying assumptions, particularly that factor markets are efficient so that competition wields unique factor prices. This leads to the merging of some industries, which are aggregated in 29 groups, as listed in Table 2.1 together with their number and codes.³²

³⁰Full description of the data is available in Appendix 2.B.1.

³¹Using 2003 —the year before the EU expansion that included the A8 countries— as the base year would unintentionally incorporate some parametric changes in the calculations. In Appendix 2.B.3, I discuss this alternative computation in details.

³²Appendix 2.B.1 describes this process.

No	Code	Description
1	A-B	Agriculture, forestry and fishing; Mining and quarrying
2	C10-C12	Manufacture of food products, beverages and tobacco products
3	C13-C15	Manufacture of textiles, wearing apparel and leather products
4	C16-C18	Manufacture of wood etc. except furniture; Manufacture of paper
		etc.; Printing and reproduction of media
5	C19	Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products
6	C20-C23	Chemicals and chemical products; Rubber and plastics products;
		Other non-metallic mineral products
7	C24-C25	Basic metals and fabricated metal products, except machinery
,		and equipment
8	C26-C27	Electrical and optical equipment
9	C28	Machinery and equipment n.e.c.
10	C29-C30	Transport equipment
11	C31-C33	Other manufacturing; repair and installation of machinery and
11		equipment
12	D-E	Electricity, gas and water supply
13	F	Construction
14	G45	Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and mo-
		torcycles
15	G46	Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
16	G47	Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
17	H49-H53	Transport and storage; Postal and courier activities
18	Ι	Accommodation and food service activities
19	J58-J60	Publishing, audiovisual and broadcasting activities
20	J61	Telecommunications
21	J62-J63	IT and other information services
22	К	Financial and insurance activities
23	L	Real estate activities

Table 2.1: Dataset's industr	v codes and description
Tuble 2.1. Dutubet b muubti	y couco una acocription

No	Code	Description
24	M-N	Professional, scientific, technical, administrative and support
		service activities
25	0	Public administration and defence; Compulsory social security
26	Р	Education
27	Q	Health and social work
28	R-S	Arts, entertainment, recreation; Other service activities
29	Т	Activities of households as employers; Activities of households for
		own use

3.2 Calibration

To be as anchored as possible to the data and given that the research question of this chapter focuses on factor changes, aggregate (K, L and H) and industry level (k_i , l_i and h_i) factor quantities are taken directly from the data. Factor prices w_K , w_L and w_H are extracted from data values for aggregate factor compensations under the perfect competition assumption which asserts that factors are paid the same fare by all industries.

In monetary terms, industry gross output values are constructed as the sum of total input use and value added, while the (left-over) consumption good equals gross output minus the total sales of intermediate good.³³ Data for nominal and real value added across industries are used to calculate good prices. Aggregate price P is normalised to equal one and good prices p_i are adjusted accordingly. Industry output q_i , consumption good y_i and input-output variables d_{ji} are then extracted from their data nominal values. In possession of these quantities, industry level parameters α_i , δ_i and γ_{ji} are computed using Equations (2.9), (2.10) and (2.12).

Leaving out data on international trade, aggregate output is set to equal domestic consumption as given by Equation (2.5). This allows for β_i to be computed via Equation (2.13). Likewise, aggregate parameters α and δ are determined by Equations (2.19) and (2.20), respectively.

³³Further details in Appendix 2.B.1.

For the no-IO model, domestic input-output data is also left out, so that both q_i and y_i equals industry value added va_i in real terms (divided by p_i); and μ_i equals β_i following Equations (2.13) and (2.22). Expectedly, the estimations for these shares vary significantly across the models.³⁴ More importantly, since total payments to factors³⁵ is unchanged, *factor shares* α_i *and* δ_i *are the same in both models*. Good and factor prices in the no-IO are also identical to those in the IO model, as well as all aggregate variables.

The dataset is constructed in MATLAB, where the models are solved. The productivity parameters A_i are calculated as the level required to match the output computed by the models to data values in each industry.

Finally, I classify the industries as either or not low-skill and high-skill intensive by comparing their skill intensity $[\delta_i \text{ and } (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)]$ with the respective the national average $[\delta \text{ and } (1 - \alpha - \delta)]$. Since there are three factors in the model, an industry can be neither low- nor high-skill intensive —in which case it is capital-intensive— or it can be both, i.e. labour-intensive.

Factor and input shares

Figure 2.2 illustrates the main industry parameters computed as described in Section 3.2. Industry skill intensities (L: low and H: high) are labelled below their codes. Nominal shares of capital α_i , low-skill δ_i , high-skill $(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)$ and total intermediate inputs γ_i are respectively labelled as 'k_shares', 'l_shares', 'h_shares' and 'gammai'. It seems to be the case that high-skill intensive industries have somewhat lower input shares than capital-intensive ones.

³⁴I present these differences in Appendix 2.A.5.

³⁵Or, equivalently, value added va_i as given by Equation (3.14).



Figure 2.2: Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2014)

Input-output linkages

Figure 2.3 plots three different representations of the input-output linkages: (a) the IO matrix Γ transposed; (b) the Leontief-inverse transposed $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$; and (c) the matrix of the linkage weights. The IO matrix presented in plot 2.3a is transposed to have the same perspective as the other plots, i.e. each industry's use of other industries' goods are shown along the rows of the plots.

Even though the diagonal elements of matrix Γ are not particularly large, these values of both Leontief-inverse transposed and the matrix of linkage weights are prominent. This reflects the fact that each industry's own parameters tend to be more relevant in transmitting any exogenous shock than those of other industries. Whilst each row of the Leontief-inverse transposed spins from a buying industry *i*, the linkage weights include other industries' values of $(1 - \gamma_{ji})$. This may affects the ranking of the relevance of selling industries.³⁶ Both representations are helpful for the analysis.

Matrix $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ summarises all the upstream transactions occurring to infinity. Notwithstanding, the full transmission of the shock relay of all industries to each particular industry is entirely subsumed by the linkage weights. Moreover, the latter is useful in depicting the relevance of the impact on every industry *j* to each industry *i* in a standardised range between zero and one.

³⁶Industry C19 is an example of such a case. I study this industry in detail in section 4.3.


Figure 2.3: Representations of input-output linkages

3.3 Assessing the accuracy of first order approximations

The rich dataset conceived as a closed system allows for the full implementation of the general equilibrium model and computation of the counterfactual directly on MATLAB. Very few adjustments are required to make the data consistent with the model. The most significant relates to the single factor prices assumption, contradicting the data which has those varying across industries.

The exact numerical solutions are executed for both models in all the scenarios and presented in the results. Not relying on the model's first-order approximations is particularly important when the magnitude of the shocks differ significantly from the one-percent benchmark.

The examples below illustrate the divergence on the predictions of the effect on GDP of labour supply shocks of 1%, 10% and 100%. First-order approximation performs quite well for relatively small counterfactual changes (up to 10%) but not so well for larger ones. Recalling E stands for total labour supply, underscore-'obs' refers to values calibrated as explained in Section 3.2 while underscore-'cf' represents the values computed in the counterfactual scenarios.

- Counterfactual 1: 1% increase in E
 - Increasing the total supply of labour by one per cent: $E_{cf} = 1.01 \cdot E_{obs}$
 - Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log E} = (1 \alpha) = 0.6563\%$

- Results:
$$\frac{Y_{cf} - Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = 0.6552\%$$

- Counterfactual 2: 10% increase in E
 - Increasing the total supply of labour by one per cent: $E_{cf} = 1.1 \cdot E_{obs}$
 - Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log E} = (1 \alpha) \times 10 = 6.563\%$
 - Results: $\frac{Y_{cf} Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = 6.455\%$
- Counterfactual 3: 100% increase in E
 - Increasing the total supply of labour by one per cent: $E_{cf} = 2 \cdot E_{obs}$
 - Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log E} = (1 \alpha) \times 100 = 65.63\%$

- Results:
$$\frac{Y_{cf} - Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = 57.61\%$$

Opting for the non-linear solutions

For the application to the A8 immigration that follows, I opt to use the non-linear solutions since they are the exact values and easily computable in MATLAB after the models are solved there. In fact, given the relatively small magnitude of the shocks — 3.15% for low-skilled and 2.22% for high-skilled workers— the first-order approximations are nearly the same as the non-linear results. I present a comparison of the main results produced by both approaches in Appendix 2.B.4.

4 Application to A8 Immigration in the UK

In May 2004, the European Union expanded from 15 to 25 member states. The ten newcomers included eight low-income countries, the so-called A8 group: Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia. The inflow of A8 workers to the UK was relatively high. According to UK Annual Population Survey (APS) Household Dataset, the stock of A8 workers in 2014 represented 2.76% of the UK employed labour force in 2014. This seemingly low share is actually substantial since it makes up about one quarter of all non-British nationals.³⁷ By skill group, the shares were of 3.15% and 2.22% of low-skilled and high-skilled workers, respectively.

To evaluate this inflow of workers, it would be ideal to have a UK economy without those immigrants as the base of comparison. To construct this counterfactual, however, I would have to determine what would have been the respective parameters and level of capital of this economy. The alternative approach adopted here is to simply remove the A8 stock in a given year and see how the output of the industries respond to this counterfactual shock. Therefore, I consider the removal of these workers in each group of labour as the counterfactual shock, using these percentages as the values for each numerical exercise. In section 4.4, I present a robustness check using the year before the EU expansion, i.e. 2003, as the base year in an attempt to test the other extreme case in which all parametric changes are associated with the

³⁷This refers to the nationality declared by the employed people. The vast majority of the universe (over 90%) is of British nationals, which certainly include immigrants who already acquired British citizenship. Although the application process only required five years of legal residency, non-EU nationals would have much more incentive than EU nationals to engage in the request for British citizenship. Full data description in the Appendix 2.B.1.

A8 immigration.

The evaluation of the A8 is performed separately for each skill level and combined as a whole labour supply shock on the reference year of 2014 —the most recent for which there is data available. They are labelled *LS CF*, *HS CF* and *ES CF* for the lowskilled, high-skill and total labour supply counterfactuals, respectively. I compare the impact of the removal of those immigrants from the labour stock on the industrial gross output q_i produced under the framework of the models with and without inputoutput linkages.

The impact of these shocks on the main aggregate variables is plotted in Figure 2.4. The values refer to both models since by construction intermediate inputs affect only the distribution of the shocks but not the aggregate values. The removal of A8 workers causes a reduction in the GDP and in rental on capital of the same magnitude also due to the models' specifications. In the combined case, it reaches 1.81 per cent. The effects on low-skill and high-skill wages vary depending on the exercise being implemented. Since the stock of A8 low-skilled workers is larger than the stock of A8 high-skilled workers, its removal causes the largest impacts.



Figure 2.4: Counterfactual effects on aggregates measures (percentage change)

4.1 Results

As showed analytically in Section 2.4, at the industry level, the no-IO model misestimates the output impact of the shocks, when compared to the full model. I quantitatively investigate these effects concerning the A8 immigration to the UK. In Section 4.1, I contrast both models predictions to industry output in the counterfactual scenarios to make explicit how the no-IO model's misestimation relates to the intensity of each industry in the shocked factor. Section 4.1 presents the glaring overall misestimation of the no-IO model for the output effect of the industries according to their shocked-factor intensity. In Section 4.1, I introduce a statistic key to posterior analysis: the ratios of the models' predictions for the industry output changes. Finally, Section 4.1 address the question of which industries, in particular, are the most affected by the A8 shock in contrast to the which have their output effect the most and the least misestimated by the no-IO model.

Output changes

Figure 2.5 shows the output changes produced by each pair of models resulting from the removal of the low-skill (CF LS), high-skill (CF HS) and all (CF ES) A8 workers. The downward sloping lines represent the predictions of the no-IO model, which amount to the magnitude of the shocks themselves times each industry's factor shares.³⁸ The colourful lines represent the linear regressions of the counterfactual changes calculated with the main model. The regression is weighted by each industry representativity in the total gross output of the economy, i.e. the size of each industry in terms of nominal gross output p_iq_i , as depicted by the hollow circles.

In each plot of Figure 2.5, industries on the left-hand side are defined as less intensive whereas those on the right-hand side are more intensive in the use of the factor than the national average. Unequivocally, the former group have their counterfactual output changes more negative while the latter present less negative output changes than those predicted by a model without linkages. Graphically, the fit lines for the counterfactual changes are less steep under the full than under the no-IO model.

³⁸In the case of a one-percent shock, the locus of the predictions of the no-IO model over the respective factor shares would simply be the 45-degree line; a different magnitude of the counterfactual shock merely rotates this line.



Note: vertical reference lines represent the aggregate low-skilled ($\delta = 0.3677$) and high-skilled labour ($1 - \alpha - \delta = 0.2887$) shares.

Figure 2.5: Output changes over labour shares (weighted by output shares)

The labour supply shocks produce a milder impact on industries more intensive in the use of the affected factor than that predicted by a model without input-output linkages. In contrast, industries less intensive in the use of each factor are more affected in the IO model. The results suggest that there is a sort of transfer of the impact of the shock from more intensive to less intensive industries via intermediate inputs. Output q_i increases more than the no-IO for industries on the left and vice-versa for those on the right-hand side of the plot.

Overall no-IO misestimation

One way of assessing the global error of the model without input-output transactions is to sum the differences between the predictions of the model for each industry; graphically, summing the distances between the each dot and the black line in Figure 2.5. In the case of the total labour supply shock (CF ES), the sum of all the underestimation produced by no-IO model reaches 2.57 percentage points for the capital-intensive industries while the total overestimation is of 2.76 pp; overall, the no-IO overestimate the negative effect on the output of the industries by 0.19 pp.³⁹

The coefficients of the regression lines plotted in Figure 2.5 can also give a glimpse of the overall misestimation produced by a model that ignores input-output transactions. Since the no-IO model predicts an impact in each industry equivalent to its affected factor share times the magnitude of the shock, the slopes of its fit lines are given by the latter with the intercepts nearly at the origin. The comparison of these lines with the fit lines of the IO model shows how much the no-IO model underestimate (overestimate) the magnitude of the shock for industries less (more) intensive in the affected factor.

Table 2.2 shows the values of those regression lines. As expected, the no-IO coefficients are such that the constants are roughly zero and the slopes are equivalent to the counterfactual shocks. The constants of the I-O model regressions indicate how much, on average, an industry using zero of the affected factor would have its output reduced solely due to I-O linkages. In the case of the total shock CF ES, this fall would be of 0.56%, comprising of 0.37% from the low-skill and 0.20% from the high-skill shock. The slopes indicate how much more the output of an industry would be reduced by each unit of labour share it has. On average, the factor share coefficients of the no-IO model are 42% larger than those of the I-O model.

In summary, the underestimation of the no-IO model for the output changes hits 0.56 percentage point (pp) in the limit,⁴⁰ whilst the incremental overestimation is of 42% on average.

³⁹Using the nominal gross output to weight each industry's error results in much smaller differences, since it turns out that the most misestimated industries have low participation in the economy's gross output. Capital-intensive are underestimated by 0.09pp whilst labour-intensive industries are overestimated by 0.07pp.

⁴⁰In the data, the lowest share of labour if of 0.08% for industry L, which presented an output decrease of 0.58% under the IO model and of 0.22% under the no-IO (a difference of 0.36 percentage points) whereas the biggest underestimation of the no-IO model (0.70 pp) regards industry C19, which has the third lowest labour share (30%).

	ES	No-IO ES	LS	No-IO LS	HS	No-IO HS
e_shares	-1.93***	-2.75***				
	(0.14)	(0.10)				
l_shares			-2.16***	-3.16***		
			(0.13)	(0.00)		
h_shares					-1.63***	-2.22***
					(0.07)	(0.00)
constant	-0.56***	-0.02	-0.37***	-0.01***	-0.20***	-0.00***
	(0.10)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.00)	(0.02)	(0.00)
Observations	29	29	29	29	29	29
Adjusted R^2	0.963	0.967	0.969	1.000	0.980	1.000
Standard errors in parentheses. * $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.01$, *** $p < 0.01$					1, *** <i>p</i> < 0.001	

Table 2.2: Fit	lines for cour	nterfactual o	output chang	ges on factor	r shares

Note: Stata's weighting option *pweights* denotes the inverse of the probability of each observation.

Ratios

It is clearly the case that the industries are dissimilarly affected by the labour shock. The ratio of the prediction of the no-IO model over that of the IO model gives an idea of how much the former misestimates the impact on the output of an industry. Indirectly, it is a measure of how much the input-output linkages affect each industry's outcome beyond the expected influence of its own labour shares.

In the A8 counterfactual exercises, all shocks (removal of A8 workers from labour force) and calculated impact (counterfactual output growth) are negative. Thus, the calculated ratios (impact estimated by the no-IO over impact of IO model) are all positive. The no-IO model underestimates the impact of a counterfactual shock if its calculated values are less negative than in the IO model, i.e. the ratio of the impacts calculated by each model is below one, while the reverse applies for an overestimation. This corresponds to the points being below or above the horizontal reference line in Figure 2.6.



Note: vertical reference lines represent the national shares of low-skilled ($\delta = 0.3677$) and high-skilled labour (1 – $\alpha - \delta = 0.2887$).

Figure 2.6: Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)

The results are in line with the expected predictions of the models, with most ratios lying on quadrants I or III of the plots. The impacts of the CF LS (left plot of Figure 2.6) tend to be underestimated for industries less intensive in low-skill labour (left-hand side of the vertical line) and overestimated for the low-skill intensive industries. Similar pattern occurs with the ratios of the CF HS (plot on the right-hand side of Figure 2.6) regarding more and less high-skill intensive industries.

Most and least affected industries

The disparities between the models on the predicted output effect of the A8 immigration over the industries are substantial. The no-IO model portrays the impact of a labour shock as simply proportional to each industry's labour share. In reality, the outcomes are a combination of the labour shares and the input-output transactions of all industries. Therefore, the industry most misestimated by the no-IO model does not necessarily present extreme values of output changes or labour shares.

Figure 2.7 plots the models' predictions for the industry output changes alongside their ratios.⁴¹ Notice that the counterfactual impacts on industry T ("Activities of households as employers; undifferentiated goods- and services-producing activities of households for own use") are nearly the same in both models, i.e. the ratios are equal to one. This is a consequence of its close to zero use of intermediate inputs (γ_{ii}). Hereafter, this industry is ignored in the comparisons but remains in the plots

⁴¹The values plotted are a combination of those in Figures 2.1, 2.5 and 2.6. See Appendix 2.C.1 for numerical comparisons.



as a point of reference for the analysis.

Figure 2.7: IO and no-IO output changes (left) and ratios (right)

In the case of the CF LS (Figure 2.7a), the largest output decline is suffered by industry I "Accommodation and Food Service Activities" (-1.80 per cent), while industry G45 "Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles" has the largest no-IO output drop (-2.08%). Notwithstanding, the most overestimated output fall is for industry G46 "Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles". On the opposite end, the smallest output decline predicted by models IO and no-IO are both for industry L "Real estate activities" (-0.37% and -0.14%, respectively), which also has the most underestimated output change. Finally, in the group of those industries getting similar predictions by both models there are industries M-N "Professional, scientific, technical, administrative and support service activities" and C29-C30 "Transport equipment", with rather similar low-skill shares (42% and 37%, respectively). The latter is an interesting case, since it is the only low-skill intensive industry (slightly) underestimated by the no-IO model.

In the case of the CF HS (Figure 2.7b), the largest output decline is suffered by industry P "Education" (-1.23 per cent), while industry J62-J63 "IT and other information services" has the largest no-IO output drop (-1.46%). The latter also happens to be the most overestimated by the no-IO model. Industry L "Real estate activities" has once more the smallest output decline predicted by the models (IO -0.21% and no-IO -0.07%) and is the most underestimated. The industries barely misestimated by the no-IO model are R-S "Arts, entertainment, recreation and other service activities" which have fairly different high-skill shares (38% and 29%, respectively).

In both counterfactuals, industries L "Real estate activities", D-E "Electricity, Gas and Water Supply" and C19 "Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products" have their output contractions consistently underestimated by the no-IO model. Being capital-intensive industries, they are relatively less intensive in both low- and high-skilled labour, suggesting that the transmission of the labour supply shocks via input-output linkages is especially relevant for those industries.

4.2 The role of input-output linkages

The no-IO model misestimation of the output impact of the shocks occurs because it ignores the transactions of intermediate inputs across industries, depicting the impact of a shock on an industry solely as its affected-factor share. In reality, the IO linkages counterbalance the impact of a factor supply shock in a specific industry, as industries intensive in the altered factor transact with others both more and less intensive in that factor.

In Section 4.2, I show that the more intensive an industry is in a factor, the more likely it is to buy from relatively less intensive industries and, therefore, to have part of its impact reduced. The reverse is also true, so less intensive industries have their

impact enlarged by IO linkages. When compared to one industry's own shockedfactor share, the results confirm the expectations that more (less) intensive industries which are the most over(under)estimated by the no-IO model tend to use inputs less (more) intensive in the shocked factor.

The relationship between the differences in the models predictions and the shockedfactor intensity of input use is not a one-to-one, however. Higher order input transactions also play a role. In Section 4.2, I present the quantitative results for the approximations of the shocks to confirm that industries most misestimated by the no-IO model tend to be the most upstream connected into the production network.

Skill content of input purchases

The weighted average of the sellers' skill intensity tend to be smaller than the buyer's for industries intensive in the use of that factor and reversely for an industry in the other side of the skill spectrum. Figure 2.8 plots the weighted averages given by Equations (LSC) and (HSC) over skill intensity. It shows that this pattern is true with very few exceptions, with only industry C29-C30 in Figure 2.8a worthy of note. Within categories, however, it is also true that industries tend to buy moderately more inputs from their own skill-intensity peers.





(b) High-skill content of input use

Note: low- and high-skill content of the industry input basket calculated via Equations (LSC) and (HSC), respectively.

Figure 2.8: Skill content of input bundle over skill intensity



(a) Ratios of models' output impact (left); relative low-skill intensity of input use (right) tive high-skill intensity of input use (right)

Figure 2.9: No-IO's misestimation and relative skill content of input bundle

Figure 2.9 plots the industries' relative skill intensity of the input basket as the green diamonds (right axis) and the bars of misestimation ratios (left axis) ranked by the latter. The plots for LS CF and HS CF show a negative relationship between the former and the latter. These patterns partially confirm the expectations, i.e. the further the skill intensity of an industry's input bundle is in relation to its own, the more the model without input-output linkages misestimates the impact of A8 immigration.

This is not an infallible rule, however. As the jumps in the green diamonds show, the skill content of each industry's intermediate input use compared to its own do not fully explain the differences in the models' predictions. I explore the higher order of input-output connections in the next section.

Speed of convergence of the shocks' approximations

Figures 2.10 and 2.11 plot the ratio of each order of approximation to the correspondent total impact on the industries. In the the low-skill labour supply shock example, this corresponds to each order ($IO_{LS}0$), ($IO_{LS}1$) etc. divided by (IO_{LS}) for each industry. These ratios give the percentage of the total impact explained by each order of approximation in each industry and thus gauge the relevance of the indirect intermediate input transactions. The faster the fraction explained converges to 100% the less relevant the transactions farther along the chain are for an industry. Reversely, the industries showing the lowest ratios by the third order are assumed to be those whose transactions are more entangled into the production network for the goods intensive in the affected factor.



Figure 2.10: LS CF ratios of approximation (sorted by low-skill shares)

In the calculations of these ratios, I assume one-percent reductions in the stock of low-skilled and high-skilled labour. I do this for simplicity, since the magnitude of the shocks vanishes when computing the quotients.

Overall, the first-order impact as given by the ratio of the zeroth order approximation is on average of about just 50% of the total effect, showing the importance of higher order IO effects.⁴² Moreover, the average first order effect is of just 73% of the total across all industries, pointing that a quarter of the effect is still unaccounted for. Only by the third order of approximation that all industries have their output impact more than 80% appraised.

The three industries showing the lowest ratios are the same in both counterfactuals: D-E, C19, C10-C12, L, C20-C23 and C29-C30. Interestingly, two industries present very low speed of convergence for the CF LS but relatively fast for CF HS: J61 and K; and other two have ratios converging relatively fast in the CF HS but slow in the CF LS: F and A-B.

⁴²Reminding that industry T "Activities of households as employers; undifferentiated goods- and services-producing activities of households for own use" is ignored in this comparison since it has no capital nor intermediate input use. Thus, the no-IO model estimates exactly same impact as IO model in both counterfactual exercises. It stays in the plots as a reference point.



Figure 2.11: HS CF ratios of approximation (sorted by high-skill shares)

As expected, the slow speed of convergence and therefore the upstream connectedness of the industries help to explain the discrepancies in the negative relationship between the direct input purchases and the models' differences plotted in Figure 2.9. To name a couple of examples, industries C19 and D-E are both significantly underestimated by the no-IO model, even though they do not present input use significantly more intensive in the use of the shocked factor in comparison to their own, in both counterfactuals.

In the group of fastest convergence, there are industries Q and R-S, labour-intensive services not much connected within the production network.⁴³ After these two, the five industries presenting the highest ratios for the HS CF are all high-skill intensive (J58-J60, J62-J63, M-N, O and P) while for the LS CF the group is comprised of a mix of low- and high-skill intensive industries (G45, G47, I, M-N and P). The result for the low-skill shock (LS CF) is surprising because the zeroth-order ratio itself is expected to be higher for industries directly affected.

In this section, I showed that higher order input-output effects are important for

⁴³Figures 2.C.54 and 2.C.56 in the Appendix show the input-output linkages of these industries.

transmitting supply shocks, with effects very heterogeneous across industries depending on their connection to the network. In the next section, I move on to case studies in order to explore this further, and explain key linkages in the empirical UK network.

4.3 Specific industries

The analytical framework I presented is especially useful in explaining the output impact on industries that have non-trivial combinations of parameters. I select three industries for an in-depth analysis based on their particularities, namely:

- 1. L "Real estate activities" is the most underestimated by the no-IO model even though it has the third lowest total input share;
- 2. C19 "Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products" has the highest input share which is heavily skewed towards one supplier and notwithstanding it is highly connected in the input-output network;
- 3. J61 'Telecommunications" presents opposing transmissions for the low-skill visà-vis the high-skill shock.

These case studies demonstrate the proficiency of the model. I show that the resources provided by the developed framework can successfully extricate complex input-output linkages to explain ambiguous industry-level results while providing a comprehensive understanding of a country's industrial interconnections.

L: "Real estate activities"

Being the most capital-intensive industry, with a capital share of 92% (Figure 2.2), industry L "Real estate activities" is the least affected in terms of output fall according to both models in both counterfactuals. Given their own small shares of low- (4%) and high-skill (3%) labour, the discounted skill content of their input basket is by far the largest, which helps to explain the shock transmission. As Figure 2.9 shows, L's output drop is the most underestimated by the no-IO model.

This indicates that the linkage effects are quite relevant even though its total usage of intermediate inputs (Figure 2.2) is the third lowest at 23%. As shown by Figure 2.12a, this is comprised of very few goods: mostly from industries K "financial and insurance activities" (11%) and F "construction" (7%); to a lesser extent from industries M-N "Professional, scientific, technical, administrative and support service activities" and O "Public administration and defence; compulsory social security" (both around 1%).

Despite the low direct purchases, indirectly industry L seem to be well connected in the production network via industries K, F, and M-N. Interestingly, transactions of highest orders also play a role here, as industries K and F also rely significantly⁴⁴ on inputs from industry M-N.

These indirect linkage effects clearly show up in the shock approximations, as industry L presents a rather slow convergence compared to other industries (Figures 2.10 and 2.11). It figures within the third and the sixth lowest ratios depending on the counterfactual and order of approximation. Interestingly, its first order approximation is not as low as that of industry C19 which reflects the highest degree of relevance of its own factors (Figure 2.12b).



Figure 2.12: Industry L's linkage effects

⁴⁴Figures 2.C.44 and 2.C.26 in the Appendix.





(b) Approximations HS CF shock

Figure 2.13: Industry L's approximations for the shocks

C19: "Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products"

Similarly to L, industry C19 "Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products" is heavily capital-intensive (third largest capital share at 70%, Figure 2.2) and significantly underestimated by the no-IO model in both counterfactuals (Figure 2.9). Unlike industry L, C19 presents the highest use of intermediate inputs at 91% (Figure 2.2), most of it from industry A-B "Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing & Mining and quarrying" with a share of 63% (Figure 2.14a).

These two facts combined make industry C19 the only one presenting another industry almost as relevant as itself in its Leontief-inverse transposed row (Figure 2.3b) and, more curiously, not having its own linkage weight higher than all others (Figure 2.14b).⁴⁵ Unsurprisingly, even the direct input-output effects are quite relevant for this industry, reflected in the lowest ratio of the zeroth order of approximation and largest gap to the first order approximation among all industries (Figures 2.10a and 2.11a).

But once again, there are more than one tier of transactions at play, as industry A-B is not only relevant as a supplier to C19 but also to industry D-E "Electricity, Gas and Water Supply" (Figure 2.C.24a), another significant supplier to C19. All in all, industry C19 seems to be well connected in the production network, presenting relatively low ratios throughout all initial orders (Figures 2.10 and 2.11).

⁴⁵Note that the linkage weights combine the rows of the Leontief-inverse transposed with each industry's total factor share $(1 - \gamma_i)$, the latter being a very low value for industry C19 given its very high total input use.



Figure 2.14: Industry C19's linkage effects



Figure 2.15: Industry C19's approximations for the shocks

J61: "Telecommunications"

This is a case of an industry presenting significantly different transmissions for the low-skilled compared to the high-skilled labour shocks. J61: "Telecommunications" illustrates that even though the linkage weights are unique for each industry, independently of the shock, the factor shares of the supplying industries compared to one's own are what give the colours of the final results.

Industry J61 is the second most underestimated by the no-IO model in the LS CF, partially reflecting the much larger than its own low-skill intensity of its input purchases (Figure 2.9). It has an average overall input share at 51% (Figure 2.2), relatively well spread among several industries. Having the second smallest low-skilled labour share (14%), nearly all industries J61 buys from transmit the shock in a way not captured by the no-IO model. This explains the rather slow rate of convergence for the LS CF shock, in particular the low ratio for the zeroth order approximation.

Regarding the HS CF, the picture is quite different. Having a high-skilled labour

share just slightly above the national average, its input purchases are intensive in the use of that factor nearly as much as itself. This explains why the no-IO model only mildly overestimates the output decrease of this industry in the HS CF. Moreover, most of its direct input purchases comes from high-skill intensive industries, which explains its relatively larger ratios of approximation from the first order upwards.



Figure 2.16: Industry J61's linkage effects



Figure 2.17: Industry J61's approximations for the shocks

4.4 Robustness check

In the counterfactual exercises performed, I implicitly assumed that the labour supply had no effect on the parameters. Of course, this is an extreme simplification when, in reality, it is reasonable to expect that the industries may adjust their production technology to the relatively higher supply and lower prices of factors and goods. Dustmann and Glitz (2015) explicitly investigate the response of industries to the relative abundance of a given skill group and find that most of the adjustments occur in the form of changes in the production technology, namely the relative skill intensities. Motivated by this finding, I investigate the other extreme assumption: to suppose that all the observed changes in the parameters from 2003 to 2014 were a result of the A8 immigration. One of the advantages of working with a numerical implementation in MATLAB is to be able to alter some constituents of the economy when performing counterfactuals. I present here the results of an alternative counterfactual where the UK's economy in 2014 has not only the labour supply —as in the main counterfactual exercises— but also all the technology parameters of 2003.⁴⁶ The idea is that, in reversal, removing the stock of A8 workers would also bring back the production patterns used before the EU enlargement.



Figure 2.18: Nominal shares of factors and total usage of intermediate inputs (2003)

A visual comparison of parameters can be done by contrasting Figure 2.18 with Figure 2.2, which display the values regarding 2014. It shows some but not much change over this span of 10 years. This is also true for the IO matrices, plotted in Figure 2.19 for both comparison years.

Regarding the output changes across the industries, the results are only moderately affected. The overall underestimation (slope) is now smaller, at 32% compared to 42%, while the intercept takes the value of -0.42 in contrast to -0.56 (Figure 2.20 and Table 2.3).

⁴⁶Due to a data limitation, the values of the skill shares of the industries, which comes from KLEMS, correspond to year 2008, the earliest available.



Figure 2.19: IO Matrix (2003 vs 2014)



Figure 2.20: Output changes with parameters from 2014 (top) vs 2003 (bottom)

	ES	No-IO ES
e_shares	-2.11***	-2.77***
	(0.12)	(0.09)
_cons	-0.42***	-0.01
	(0.09)	(0.07)
N	29	29
adj. R^2	0.97	0.97

Table 2.3: Fit lines for output changes on factor shares PARAMETERS 2003

Standard errors in parentheses. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001

Note: Stata's weighting option *pweights* denotes the inverse of the probability of each observation.

5 Conclusions

In this chapter, I developed a theoretical framework to study the role of input-output linkages in the transmission of a skill supply shock. I showed that ignoring these interconnections can lead to misestimations of about half of the impact of the shock on specific industries.

I made three main contributions. First, I constructed a rich yet tractable inputoutput model with two levels of skills, for which I derived closed-form solutions for all endogenous variables. Then, I brought the model to the data, applying it to the A8 expansion to the UK, which brought low-skilled and high-skilled workers representing about one quarter of the country's immigrant labour force. Finally, a comprehensive set of analytical results were produced to fully understand the transmission of a supply shock through the production network.

Remarkably, I demonstrate that, unlike in its twin model without input-output, in the main model the effect of an increase in labour supply on the output of an industry is not solely dependant on its share of labour use. There is a transfer of output gains from more intensive to less intensive industries reflecting their input use. The fact that more (less) intensive industries tend to purchase intermediate goods from less (more) intensive industries gives the right intuition for the relay of the skill shocks along the intensity spectrum. However, it considers only the direct purchases among producers represented by the input shares and thus disregards the whole upstream chain of transactions.

To fully capture the misestimations resulting from disregarding input-output connections it is crucial to study also the indirect or higher orders of interactions. I established that the elements defined here as the linkage weights calibrate the importance of each supplying industry while summarising all the upstream transactions relevant to each producing industry. In fact, they are the true way in which each industry receives the isolated impact of all other industries and, in that way, how the shock spread out throughout the production network. Moreover, a decomposition of the Leontief-inverse transposed into infinite terms of a summation paved the way for a thorough characterisation of the higher order of input transactions affecting each industry.

The extensive analytical framework allowed for an elucidative understanding of the impact of the A8 immigration on the UK industries. In the case of high-skilled workers, the most affected industry is not 'IT and other information services' as predicted by the no-IO model, but 'Education' while for low-skill immigration the largest impact was felt by 'Accommodation and Food Service Activities' and not 'Wholesale and

retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles'. In both cases, the misestimated industries are well connected within the production network which worked to mitigate the impact on their output.

5.1 Limitations

Naturally, this chapter has a few limitations. Most of them resulting from modelling choices that offer the benefit of parsimony at the expense of completeness.

First, regarding the characteristics of the immigrant versus the native worker, to presume that they are homogeneous in every economically relevant dimension is to blatantly ignore the whole literature on immigration. This is certainly a limitation of the model regarding any application on immigration issues but does not compromise the study of other skill supply or labour shocks.

Secondly, the adoption of a Cobb-Douglas production function implies a unitary elasticity of substitution between each pairwise combination of factors and intermediate inputs. Although including two levels of skills separately is better than adding them together —which would imply perfect substitutability, i.e. infinite elasticity—, the labour literature is unanimous in estimating the elasticity of substitution between skilled (college-educated) and unskilled workers in the range of 1.2 to 1.4 (Acemoglu and Autor, 2011). Likewise, the studies consistently suggest the existence of complementarity (elasticity of substitution smaller than one) between capital and skilledlabour (Krusell, Ohanian, Ríos-Rull, and Violante, 2000; Lewis, 2011). Knowingly this does not speak to the literature on skill-biased technical change, polarization or automation.⁴⁷ Clearly, if a set of skills, or labour in general, becomes dearer it would be more likely substituted by another factor or even a good. It is not trivial to predict how much these simplifications affect the analysis, but an extension of this chapter adopting a constant elasticity of substitution (CES) specification would certainly be a fruitful road of research. The downside would be the abandonment of closed-form solutions to the sole reliance on first-order approximations.

Furthermore, the focus of this paper on industry output quantities (q_i) can be considered less relevant from the producer's point of view than the industry output val-

⁴⁷See Goldin and Katz (2007), Autor, Katz, and Kearney (2006), Acemoglu and Autor (2011) and Acemoglu and Restrepo (2020).

ues (p_iq_i) . Indeed, a labour shock will affect both the equilibrium physical quantity and the price of a good in the model. However, given the Cobb-Douglas structure for industry demands, my model contains the well-known result that the industry-level sales are simply denoted by their Domar weights in equilibrium, i.e. $p_iq_i = \mu_iY$. This means that the change in sales at the industry level following a change in labour supply is the same for all industries since they are all equivalent to the change in the GDP. Besides, there is a very interesting IO structure that I am able to focus on, namely the Leontief-inverse transposed, which gives me clean results on how changes in q(i) depend on the IO structure. Hence, focusing on industry sales, rather than physical quantity, is not interesting in this chapter. However, one might rightly be concerned that industry sales, or even employment, might be more important in reality. Doing so requires altering the structure of the model so that the novel IO effects that I identify for physical quantities can spill over to other variables. This is an interesting avenue for potential future work.

Additionally, a related limitation of the model lies in having the technology parameters exogenously given. This simplification is at odds with the profusion of studies documenting that the technical progress in the past few decades has been interacting with the relative supply of skills Beaudry, Doms, and Lewis (2006); Voigtländer (2014) indicating that there is a within-industry adjustment mechanism to skill imbalances as well as the between-industry one studied here (Lewis, 2013; Dustmann and Glitz, 2015). Moreover, the model does not include international trade, which also plays a role in the technological choices of the industries. Partial equilibrium models, such as Caselli and Coleman (2006), suggest alternative formulae to endogenise the technology parameters at the expense of making wages exogenous variables. This chapter, on the other hand, considers both labour demand per industry and aggregate wages as endogenous while making use of the exact values for factors and input shares provided by the dataset in each year of analysis. Insofar as questions remain regarding the validity of the results, robustness check exercises testing alternative parameters can be performed. In the case of this chapter's application, the robustness test showed very little influence of the change of the parameters on the results in the period studied.

Finally, other simplifications, such as assuming perfect competition —and there-

fore same equilibrium factor prices across industries— and closing the international dimension of the economy, may also compromise the analysis and results it produced. To address the former would require a departure from this family of neoclassical input-output models, which is not currently desired given that there is still much to be explored within this framework. The latter limitation, however, is being overcome in my next chapter, where I extend the main model to incorporate international trade.

Bibliography

- ACEMOGLU, DARON, AND DAVID AUTOR (2011): "Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings," in *Handbook of Labor Economics*, ed. by O. Ashenfelter, and D. Card, vol. 4, chap. 12, pp. 1043–1171. Elsevier.
- ACEMOGLU, DARON, VASCO M. CARVALHO, ASUMAN OZDAGLAR, AND ALIREZA TAHBAZ-SALEHI (2012): "The Network Origins of Aggregate Fluctuations," *Econometrica*, 80(5), 1977–2016.
- ACEMOGLU, DARON, AND PASCUAL RESTREPO (2020): "Robots and Jobs: Evidence from US Labor Markets," *Journal of Political Economy*, 128(6), 2188–2244.
- ALTONJI, JOSEPH G, AND DAVID CARD (1991): "The effects of immigration on the labor market outcomes of less-skilled natives," in *Immigration, trade, and the labor market*, pp. 201–234. University of Chicago Press.
- AUTOR, DAVID H., LAWRENCE F. KATZ, AND MELISSA S. KEARNEY (2006): "The Polarization of the U.S. Labor Market," *American Economic Review*, 96(2), 189–194.
- BAQAEE, DAVID REZZA (2015): "Labor Intensity in an Interconnected Economy," in *Essays in Macroeconomics*, pp. 3–56. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University, Graduate School of Arts & Sciences.
- BAQAEE, DAVID REZZA, AND EMMANUEL FARHI (2019): "The Macroeconomic Impact of Microeconomic Shocks: Beyond Hulten's Theorem," *Econometrica*, 87(4), 1155– 1203.
- BEAUDRY, PAUL, MARK DOMS, AND ETHAN G. LEWIS (2006): "Endogenous Skill Bias in Technology Adoption: City-Level Evidence from the IT Revolution," NBER Working Papers 12521, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- BORJAS, GEORGE J., RICHARD B. FREEMAN, AND LAWRENCE F. KATZ (1992): "On the Labor Market Effects of Immigration and Trade," in *Immigration and the Work Force: Economic Consequences for the United States and Source Areas*, ed. by George J.
 Borjas, and Richard B. Freeman. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- BRATSBERG, BERNT, ANDREAS MOXNES, ODDBJØRN RAAUM, AND KAREN HELENE ULLTVEIT-MOE (2019): "Opening the Floodgates: Industry and Occupation Adjust-

ments to Labor Immigration," CEPR Discussion Papers 13670, Centre for Economic Policy and Reseach.

- CALIENDO, LORENZO, MAXIMILIANO DVORKIN, AND FERNANDO PARRO (2019): "Trade and Labor Market Dynamics: General Equilibrium Analysis of the China Trade Shock," *Econometrica*, 87(3), 741–835.
- CALIENDO, LORENZO, LUCA DAVID OPROMOLLA, FERNANDO PARRO, AND ALESSANDRO SFORZA (2017): "Goods and Factor Market Integration: A Quantitative Assessment of the EU Enlargement," NBER Working Papers 23695, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- CARD, DAVID (1990): "The Impact of the Mariel Boatlift on the Miami Labor Market," *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 43(2), 245–257.
- CARD, DAVID, AND ETHAN G. LEWIS (2005): "The Diffusion of Mexican Immigrants During the 1990s: Explanations and Impacts," NBER Working Papers 11552, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- CARDOSO, MIGUEL (2020): "The welfare impact of migration with endogenous cross-border movement: an application to the European Union," *Economic Modelling*, 93, 205–216.
- CARVALHO, VASCO M., AND ALIREZA TAHBAZ-SALEHI (2019): "Production Networks: A Primer," *Annual Review of Economics*, 11(1), 635–663.
- CASELLI, FRANCESCO, AND WILBUR JOHN COLEMAN (2006): "The world technology frontier," *American Economic Review*, 96(3), 499–522.
- CHIPMAN, JOHN S. (1950): "The Multi-Sector Multiplier," *Econometrica*, 18(4), 355–374.
- DHINGRA, SWATI, HANWEI HUANG, GIANMARCO OTTAVIANO, JOÃO PAULO PESSOA, THOMAS SAMPSON, AND JOHN VAN REENEN (2017): "The costs and benefits of leaving the EU: Trade effects," *Economic Policy*, 32(92), 651–705.
- DOMAR, EVSEY D. (1961): "On the Measurement of Technological Change," *The Economic Journal*, 71(284), 709–729.

- DUPOR, BILL (1999): "Aggregation and irrelevance in multi-sector models," *Journal* of Monetary Economics.
- DUSTMANN, CHRISTIAN, AND ALBRECHT GLITZ (2015): "How Do Industries and Firms Respond to Changes in Local Labor Supply?," *Journal of Labor Economics*, 33(3), 711–750.
- FADINGER, HARALD, CHRISTIAN GHIGLINO, AND MARIYA TETERYATNIKOVA (2016): "Income Differences and Input-Output Structure," CEPR Discussion Papers 11547, Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- GABAIX, XAVIER (2011): "The Granular Origins of Aggregate Fluctuations," *Econometrica*, 79(3), 733–772.
- GOLDIN, CLAUDIA, AND LAWRENCE F. KATZ (2007): "The Race between Education and Technology: The Evolution of U.S. Educational Wage Differentials, 1890 to 2005," NBER Working Papers 12984, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- HECKMAN, JAMES J., LANCE LOCHNER, AND CHRISTOPHER TABER (1998): "Explaining Rising Wage Inequality: Explorations with a Dynamic General Equilibrium Model of Labor Earnings with Heterogeneous Agents," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 1(1), 1–58.
- HORVATH, MICHAEL (1998): "Cyclicality and sectoral linkages: Aggregate fluctuations from independent sectoral shocks," *Review of Economic Dynamics*.

—— (2000): "Sectoral shocks and aggregate fluctuations," *Journal of Monetary Economics*.

- HULTEN, CHARLES R. (1978): "Growth Accounting with Intermediate Inputs," *Review* of *Economic Studies*, 45(3), 511–518.
- HUMPHREY, THOMAS M (1996): "The Early History of the Box Diagram," Discussion Paper 1, Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond.
- JÄGER, KIRSTEN (2017): "EU KLEMS Growth and Productivity Accounts 2017 release," Description of Methodology and General Notes.
- JONES, CHARLES I. (2013): "Misallocation, Economic Growth, and Input-Output Economics," in *Advances in Economics and Econometrics: Tenth World Congress*, ed. by

Daron Acemoglu, Manuel Arellano, and Eddie Dekel, vol. 2 of *Econometric Society Monographs*, pp. 419–456. Cambridge University Press.

- JONES, RONALD W. (1965): "The Structure of Simple General Equilibrium Models," *Journal of Political Economy*, 73(6), 557–572.
- KATZ, LAWRENCE F., AND KEVIN M. MURPHY (1992): "Changes in Relative Wages, 1963-1987: Supply and Demand Factors," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107(1), 35–78.
- KEMP, MURRAY C. (1969): *The Pure Theory of International Trade and Investment*. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- KRUSELL, PER, LEE E OHANIAN, JOSÉ VÍCTOR RÍOS-RULL, AND GIOVANNI L VIOLANTE (2000): "Capital-skill complementarity and inequality: A macroeconomic analysis," *Econometrica*, 68(5), 1029–1053.
- LEONTIEF, WASSILY W. (1941): *The Structure of American Economy, 1919-1939: An Empirical Application of Equilibrium Analysis.* Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.

------ (1986): Input-output Economics, OUP E-Books. Oxford University Press.

- LEWIS, ETHAN G. (2003): "Local, open economies within the U.S.: how do industries respond to immigration?," Working Papers 04-1, Federal Reserve Bank of Philadel-phia.
- *—* (2011): "Immigration, skill mix, and capital skill complementarity," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 126, 1029–1069.
- (2013): "Immigration and Production Technology," Annual Review of Economics, 5, 165–191.
- LONG, JOHN B., JR., AND CHARLES I. PLOSSER (1983): "Real Business Cycles," *Journal* of *Political Economy*, 91, 39–69.
- MITARITONNA, CRISTINA, GIANLUCA OREFICE, AND GIOVANNI PERI (2017): "Immigrants and firms' outcomes: Evidence from France," *European Economic Review*, 96, 62–82.

- NORTON, ROGER D., AND PASQUALE L. SCANDIZZO (1981): "Market equilibrium computations in activity analysis models," *Operations Research*, 29(2), 243–262.
- OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS, SOCIAL SURVEY DIVISION (2019): "Annual Population Survey, January - December, 2014," [Data collected on 28-October-2019]. 10th Edition. UK Data Service. SN: 7684.
- OLNEY, WILLIAM W. (2013): "Immigration and firm expansion*," *Journal of Regional Science*, 53(1), 142–157.
- OTTAVIANO, GIANMARCO, AND GIOVANNI PERI (2013): "New Frontiers Of Immigration Research: Cities And Firms," *Journal of Regional Science*, 53(1), 1–7.
- RYBCZYNSKI, TADEUSZ M. (1955): "Factor Endowment and Relative Commodity Prices," *Economica: New Series*, 22(88), 336–341.
- SCHWEINBERGER, ALBERT G. (1975): "The Heckscher-Ohlin Model and Traded Intermediate Products," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 42(2), 269–278.
- STOLPER, WOLFGANG F., AND PAUL A. SAMUELSON (1941): "Protection and Real Wages," *Review of Economic Studies*, 9(1), 58–73.
- TIMMER, MARCEL P., ERIK DIETZENBACHER, BART LOS, ROBERT STEHRER, AND GAAITZEN J. DE VRIES (2015): "An Illustrated User Guide to the World Input–Output Database: the Case of Global Automotive Production," *Review of International Economics*, 23(3), 575–605.
- UZAWA, HIROFUMI (1961): "On a Two-Sector Model of Economic Growth," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 29(1), 40.
- —— (1963): "On a Two-Sector Model of Economic Growth II," *Review of Economic Studies*, 30(2), 105–118.
- VAN REENEN, JOHN (2016): "Brexit's Long-Run Effects on the U.K. Economy," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Fall, 367–383.
- VOIGTLÄNDER, NICO (2014): "Skill bias magnified: Intersectoral linkages and whitecollar labor demand in U.S. manufacturing," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 96(3), 495–513.

VOM LEHN, CHRISTIAN, AND THOMAS WINBERRY (2019): "The Investment Network, Sectoral Comovement, and the Changing U.S. Business Cycle," *SSRN Electronic Journal.*

2.A Model's derivations

2.A.1 Irrelevance of intermediate inputs in aggregate terms

Ignoring measurement errors, nominal value-added GDP (total income) should equal final nominal demand (expenditure), i.e. $GDP = w_K K + w_L L + w_H H = C$.

Value added GDP:

$$w_K K + w_L L + w_H H = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i q_i - \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji}$$
(2.34)

Expenditure GDP:

$$Y = C = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i y_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i q_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_i d_{ij}$$
(2.35)

Since $C = w_K K + w_L L + w_H H$, it must be true that:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \\ \text{total usage of inputs by } i \\ \text{summing across destinations } i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \\ j=1 \\ \text{summing across origins } i}}^{n} p_i d_{ij}$$
(2.36)

Equivalently, the total amount of intermediate inputs used equals the quantity produced:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \\ \text{summing across origins } j \\ \text{summing across destinations } i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \\ \text{summing across destinations } j \\ \text{summing across origins } i}} (2.37)$$

QED.

2.A.2 Proofs

Proof of Proposition 2.1. Real GDP ⁴⁸

In logs, the FOCs for the factors and inputs in each industry given by Equations (2.9),

⁴⁸Derivations adapted from Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016).

(2.10), (2.11) and (2.12) read:

$$\log k_{i} = \log \alpha_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log p_{i} + \log q_{i} - \log w_{K}$$
(2.38)

$$\log l_i = \log \delta_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i) + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log w_L$$
(2.39)

$$\log h_i = \log(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i) + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log w_H$$
(2.40)

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log p_j \tag{2.41}$$

Substituting them into Equation (2.1) in logs gives:

$$\begin{aligned} \log q_{i} &= \log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log k_{i} + \delta_{i} \log l_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log h_{i}\right] + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log d_{ji} \end{aligned} \\ &= \log A_{i} + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})\alpha_{i} \left[\log \alpha_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log p_{i} + \log q_{i} - \log w_{K}\right] + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i} \left[\log \delta_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log p_{i} + \log q_{i} - \log w_{L}\right] + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log p_{i} + \log q_{i} - \log w_{H}\right] + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} (\log \gamma_{ji} + \log p_{i} + \log q_{i} - \log p_{j}) + \end{aligned} \\ 0 &= \log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i} \left[\log \delta_{i} - \log w_{L}\right] + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i} \left[\log \delta_{i} - \log w_{L}\right] + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) - \log w_{H}\right] + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} (\log \gamma_{ji} - \log p_{j}) + \end{aligned} \\ 0 &= \log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} - (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i} \log w_{L} + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) - (1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log w_{H} + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.42)$$

Solving for $\delta_i \log w_L$:

$$\delta_{i} \log w_{L} = \alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i})$$
$$-\alpha_{i} \log w_{K} - (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log w_{H}$$
$$+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_{i}} \left[\log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \right]$$
(2.43)

Substituting for w_K and w_H using (2.19) and (2.21) in logs:

$$\begin{split} \delta_{i} \log w_{L} &= \alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) \\ &- \alpha_{i} (\log \alpha + \log C - \log K) \\ &- (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) (\log (1 - \alpha - \delta) + \log C - \log H) \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_{i}} \left[\log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \right] \\ &= \alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) \\ &- \alpha_{i} \log \alpha - \alpha_{i} \log C + \alpha_{i} \log K \\ &- (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha - \delta) - (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log C + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log H \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_{i}} \left[\log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \right] \\ &= \alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) \\ &- \alpha_{i} \log \alpha - (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha - \delta) \\ &+ \alpha_{i} \log K + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log H - (1 - \delta_{i}) \log C \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_{i}} \left[\log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \right] \end{split}$$

$$(2.44)$$

Now, use $C = w_L L / \delta$ [Equation (2.20)]:

$$\delta_{i} \log w_{L} = \alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i})$$
$$-\alpha_{i} \log \alpha - (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha - \delta)$$
$$+\alpha_{i} \log K + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log H - (1 - \delta_{i}) \log w_{L} - (1 - \delta_{i}) \log L + (1 - \delta_{i}) \log \delta$$
$$+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_{i}} \left[\log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \right]$$
(2.45)

To get:

$$\log w_{L} = \alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i})$$

$$-\alpha_{i} \log \alpha - (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha - \delta) + (1 - \delta_{i}) \log \delta$$

$$+\alpha_{i} \log K + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log H - (1 - \delta_{i}) \log L$$

$$+\frac{1}{1 - \gamma_{i}} \left[\log A_{i} + \log p_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} \right]$$
(2.46)

Now, consider the vector $\mu' Z$ where μ is the (nX1) vector of multipliers and Z is a diagonal matrix with $Z_{ii} = 1 - \gamma_i$ such that $\mu' Z = \beta' [I - \Gamma']^{-1} \cdot Z$. Take the *i*th element of this matrix and multiply by the equation above.

$$\mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i})\log w_{L} = \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i}\log\alpha_{i}+\delta_{i}\log\delta_{i}+(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\log(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\right] +\mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\log(1-\gamma_{i})-\alpha_{i}\log\alpha\right] +\mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[(1-\delta_{i})\log\delta-(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\log(1-\alpha-\delta)\right] +\mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i}\log K+(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\log H-(1-\delta_{i})\log L\right] +\mu_{i}\log A_{i}+\mu_{i}\log p_{i}+\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log\gamma_{ji}-\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log p_{j} (2.47)$$

Summing over all industries *i*:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \log w_{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\log(1-\gamma_{i}) - \alpha_{i} \log \alpha\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[(1-\delta_{i}) \log \delta - (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log(1-\alpha-\delta)\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log K - (1-\delta_{i}) \log L + (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log H\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j}$$
(2.48)

Manipulating the two terms of the last row and then (2nd to 3rd line) using (2.23):

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log p_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \gamma_{ji} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log p_{j} (\mu_{j} - \beta_{j}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log p_{i} (\mu_{i} - \beta_{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log p_{i}$$
(2.49)

It must be true that:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \log w_{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\log(1-\gamma_{i}) - \alpha_{i} \log \alpha\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[(1-\delta_{i}) \log \delta - (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log(1-\alpha-\delta)\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log K - (1-\delta_{i}) \log L + (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log H\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log p_{i}$$
(2.50)

Finally, I use the FOC of maximisation problem of the final good aggregator, i.e.:

$$\frac{\partial Y}{\partial y_i} = \frac{p_i}{P} = \beta_i \frac{Y}{y_i} \Rightarrow y_i = \beta_i \frac{PY}{p_i}$$
(2.51)
Using P = 1, substitute into the final product aggregator:

$$Y = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\beta_i \frac{Y}{p_i}\right)^{\beta_i} = Y \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\beta_i}{p_i}\right)^{\beta_i}$$
(2.52)

Which implies that:

$$1 = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\beta_i}{p_i}\right)^{\beta_i} = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i^{\beta_i}}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} p_i^{\beta_i}} \Leftrightarrow \prod_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i^{\beta_i} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} p_i^{\beta_i}$$
(2.53)

In logs:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i \log \beta_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i \log p_i$$
(2.54)

Therefore:

$$+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i}) \log(1-\alpha_{i}-\delta_{i})\right]}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i})} \\ + \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}\right] \\ + \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}) \log(1-\gamma_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i}\right]$$

Now, substitute $p_j d_{ji} = \gamma_{ji} p_i q_i$ and $p_i y_i = \beta_i Y$ into the market clearing condition for good j in nominal terms. Then expand Y using $\beta_i Y = \beta_i(C)$:

$$p_{j}y_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{j}d_{ji} = p_{j}q_{j}$$

$$\beta_{j}Y + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji}p_{i}q_{i} = p_{j}q_{j}$$

$$\beta_{j}(C) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji}p_{i}q_{i} = p_{j}q_{j}$$
(2.57)

Denote $p_j = p_j q_j$. Then, in matrix form: $C\beta + \Gamma P = P$. Hence,

$$\boldsymbol{P} = [\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{\Gamma}]^{-1}C\boldsymbol{\beta} = C\boldsymbol{\mu}$$

Where $\boldsymbol{\mu} = [\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{\Gamma}]^{-1}\boldsymbol{\beta}$ is fully determined by parameters. Therefore $\boldsymbol{b}_i = p_i q_i = C\mu_i$. Moreover, Equation (2.2) in nominal and aggregate terms $\sum_{i=1}^n p_i q_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij} p_j q_j + \sum_{i=1}^n p_i y_i$ implies:

$$Y = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} y_{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} q_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ij} p_{j} q_{j}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} q_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} q_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_{ij}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} q_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} q_{j} \gamma_{j}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} q_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_{i} p_{i} q_{i}$$
(2.58)

Combining the formulas for the GDP *Y* from the expenditure and production sides:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i q_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_i p_i q_i = C$$

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i q_i}{Y} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_i p_i q_i}{Y} = \frac{C}{Y}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_i \mu_i = \frac{C}{Y}$$
(2.59)

Which allows us to conclude that:

$$\frac{C}{Y} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i) = 1$$
(2.60)

By construction, the summation of the Domar shares discounting intermediate input shares equals one. Using Equations (2.20) and (2.60), I get the solution for lowskilled wages:

$$\log w_{L} = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) - (1 - \delta) (\log L - \log \delta) + (1 - \alpha - \delta) (\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log (1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i}$$
(2.61)

Finally, substituting Equation (2.61) into Equation (2.20) I get Equation (2.24). QED.

Proof of Proposition 2.2. Industry output

From the first order conditions of firm i's profit maximisation and using Equation (2.22)

in logs, I get the solutions for factor usage:

$$\log k_{i} = \log \alpha_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y - \log w_{K}$$
(2.62)

$$\log l_i = \log \delta_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_L$$
(2.63)

$$\log h_i = \log(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_H$$
(2.64)

Now, consider (2.1) in logs:

$$\log q_i = \log A_i + (1 - \gamma_i) \left[\alpha_i \log k_i + \delta_i \log l_i + (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) \log h_i \right] + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log d_{ji}$$
(2.65)

Simplifying the terms within square brackets using Equations (2.62), (2.63) and (2.64):

$$\alpha_{i} \log k_{i} + \delta_{i} \log l_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log h_{i} = \\ = \alpha_{i} \left[\log \alpha_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y - \log w_{K} \right] \\ + \delta_{i} \left[\log \delta_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y - \log w_{L} \right] \\ + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y - \log w_{H} \right] = \\ = \alpha_{i} \left[\log \alpha_{i} - \log w_{K} \right] + \delta_{i} \left[\log \delta_{i} - \log w_{L} \right] + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) - \log w_{H} \right] \\ + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y \\ (2.66) \\ \log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y + \alpha_{i} (\log \alpha_{i} - \log w_{K}) \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\delta_{i} (\log \delta_{i} - \log w_{L}) + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) (\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) - \log w_{H}) \right] \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log d_{ji}$$

$$(2.67)$$

Recalling that d_{ji} refers to the demand of input j (origin) by industry i (destination). From firm's i FOCs:

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log(p_i q_i) - \log p_j$$

$$= \log \gamma_{ji} + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log p_j$$
(2.68)

Using (2.22) in logs, $\log p_j = \log \mu_j + \log Y - \log q_j$, I can express $\log d_{ji}$ in terms of $\log q_j$:

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log \mu_i - \log \mu_j + \log q_j \tag{2.69}$$

Substituting Equation (2.69) into (2.67):

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y + \alpha_{i} (\log \alpha_{i} - \log w_{K}) \right] + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\delta_{i} (\log \delta_{i} - \log w_{L}) + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) (\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) - \log w_{H}) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \gamma_{i} \log \mu_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j}$$
(2.70)

Combining like terms:

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log Y + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \alpha_{i} (\log \alpha_{i} - \log w_{K}) + (1 - \gamma_{i}) [\delta_{i} (\log \delta_{i} - \log w_{L}) + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) (\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) - \log w_{H})] + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j} (2.71)$$

Substituting for the equilibrium values of Y, w_K , w_K and w_H :

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i}$$

$$+ (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})\right]$$

$$+ (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log Y$$

$$- (1 - \gamma_{i}) \alpha_{i} \log w_{K}$$

$$- (1 - \gamma_{i}) \delta_{i} \log w_{L}$$

$$- (1 - \gamma_{i}) (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log w_{H}$$

$$+ (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j}$$

$$(2.72)$$

I get:

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i} \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \alpha_{i} \left[(\log K - \log \alpha) \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \delta_{i} \left[(\log L - \log \delta) \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i}) (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \left[(\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j}$$
(2.73)

Simplifying, I get Equation (2.25). QED.

Proof of Corollary 2.1. Vector of industry output

Expressing Equation (2.25) in matrix form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \log q_1 \\ \log q_2 \\ \vdots \\ \log q_n \end{bmatrix} = V + \begin{bmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \log q_1 \\ \log q_2 \\ \vdots \\ \log q_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.74)

One can easily solve for the vector of the log of industry output to get Equation (2.26). QED.

Proof of Corollary 2.2. Output effect

It is easy to see that deriving Equation (2.26) with respect to L, H and E leads to Equations (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}), respectively. QED.

Proof of Corollary 2.3. Output effect no-IO model

Letting all γ_{ji} equal zero in Equations (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}), I get respectively Equations (no-IO_{LS}), (no-IO_{HS}) and (no-IO_{ES}). QED.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. Linkage weights

The elements of Equations (IO_{LS}), (IO_{HS}) and (IO_{ES}) composed of input shares γ_{ji} comprises of the Leontief-inverse transposed $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ and the vector $\mathbf{1} - \gamma$ as given below:

$$\begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.75)

To demonstrate that each scalar product equals one, notice that postmultiplying the Leontief-inverse transposed (not inverted) by a vector of ones leads to the vector of total factor shares, i.e.:

$$\begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.76)

This is true because each $\gamma_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji}$ stands for exactly the sum of the row *i* of $\Gamma' = [\gamma_{ij}]$. Now, premultiplying matrix $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ on both sides leads to:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\1\\1\\\vdots\\1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1}\\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2}\\\vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1-\gamma_1)\\(1-\gamma_2)\\\vdots\\(1-\gamma_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.77)

QED.

2.A.3 General equilibrium solutions

For completeness and easiness of consultation, I present all model's solutions.

Equilibrium *Y*

$$\log Y = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + \delta (\log L - \log \delta) + (1 - \alpha - \delta) (\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i) [\alpha_i \log \alpha_i + \delta_i \log \delta_i + (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) \log (1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i) \log (1 - \gamma_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \log A_i + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i \log \beta_i$$
((2.24))

Equilibrium w_K

$$\log w_{K} = (\alpha - 1)(\log K - \log \alpha) + \delta(\log L - \log \delta) + (1 - \alpha - \delta)(\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i}$$
(2.78)

Equilibrium w_L

$$\log w_{L} = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) - (1 - \delta) (\log L - \log \delta) + (1 - \alpha - \delta) (\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log (1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i}$$
((2.61))

Equilibrium w_H

$$\log w_{H} = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + \delta (\log L - \log \delta) + [(1 - \alpha - \delta) - 1] (\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + \delta_{i} \log \delta_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log (1 - \gamma_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i}$$
(2.79)

Factors usage

$$\log k_{i} = \log \alpha_{i} + \log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y - \log w_{K}$$
 ((2.62))

$$\log l_i = \log \delta_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_L$$
 ((2.63))

$$\log h_i = \log(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_H$$
 ((2.64))

Demand for intermediate inputs

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log \mu_i - \log \mu_j + \log q_j$$
 ((2.69))

Industry output

$$\log q_i = (1 - \gamma_i)\alpha_i(\log K - \log \alpha + \log \alpha_i) + (1 - \gamma_i)\delta_i(\log L - \log \delta + \log \delta_i) + (1 - \gamma_i)(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i)(\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta))$$
((2.25))
$$+ (1 - \gamma_i)(\log(1 - \alpha_i - \delta_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i)) + \log A_i + \log \mu_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_j + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$$

Prices of goods/inputs

$$\log p_{i} = -(1 - \gamma_{i})\alpha_{i}(\log K - \log \alpha + \log \alpha_{i}) + (1 - \gamma_{i})\alpha(\log K - \log \alpha) -(1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i}(\log L - \log \delta + \log \delta_{i}) + (1 - \gamma_{i})\delta(\log L - \log \delta) -(1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})(\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta) + \log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})) +(1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha - \delta)(\log H - \log (1 - \alpha - \delta)) +(1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i})\alpha_{i}\log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i})\delta_{i}\log \delta_{i} +(1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i})\log(1 - \alpha_{i} - \delta_{i}) -(1 - \gamma_{i})\log(1 - \gamma_{i}) + (1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i})\log(1 - \gamma_{i}) -\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log \gamma_{ji} + (1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log \gamma_{ji} -\log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i})\sum_{i=1}^{n}\beta_{i}\log \beta_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log p_{j} (2.80)$$

Let $\beta_i = \log p_i$ and W such that each i^{th} row of vector consists of all the constant terms of (2.80) (those prior to $\sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log p_j$). Solving for β ::

$$\beta = \left[I - \Gamma'\right]^{-1} W \tag{2.81}$$

2.A.4 Comparative Statics

Effect of change in *H* on Real GDP

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = (1 - \alpha - \delta) \tag{2.82}$$

Effect of a change in *H* on wages

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_K}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = (1 - \alpha - \delta) \tag{2.83}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_L}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = (1 - \alpha - \delta) \tag{2.84}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_H}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = (-\alpha - \delta) \tag{2.85}$$

Factors usage

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log k_i}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log l_i}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = 0 \tag{2.86}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log h_i}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = 1 \tag{2.87}$$

Inputs usage and industries' final goods

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log d_{ij}}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log y_i}{\mathrm{d}\log H} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_i}{\mathrm{d}\log H}$$
(2.88)

Effect of change in H **on** $\log q_i$

Taking the derivatives of the solution in matrix form, as given by (2.26) $q = [I - \Gamma']^{-1} V$:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)(1 - \alpha_1 - \delta_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2)(1 - \alpha_2 - \delta_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)(1 - \alpha_n - \delta_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.89)

Goods' prices

Taking the derivatives of the solution in matrix form, as given by (2.81) $\beta = [I - \Gamma']^{-1} W$:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_1}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_2}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_n}{\mathrm{d}\log H} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)(1 - \alpha - \delta) - (1 - \gamma_1)(1 - \alpha_1 - \delta_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2)(1 - \alpha - \delta) - (1 - \gamma_2)(1 - \alpha_2 - \delta_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)(1 - \alpha - \delta) - (1 - \gamma_n)(1 - \alpha_n - \delta_n) \\ (2.90) \end{bmatrix}$$

The Cobb-Douglas produces "offsetting" impacts on quantities and prices, in the sense that the total impact nominal quantity $p_i q_i$ must be equal to $(1 - \alpha - \delta)$.

2.A.5 Parameters in the model without linkages

Ignoring intermediate inputs means leaving out a large fraction of the data for industry output. By forcing total production to equal final good ($q_i = y_i$), the no-IO model imposes that $\beta_i = \mu_i$, since:

$$\beta_i = \frac{p_i y_i}{Y} = \frac{p_i q_i}{Y} = \mu_i \tag{2.91}$$

The differences between the parameters estimated under the auxiliary (no-IO) and the main (IO) model are plotted in Figure 2.A.1. As expected, the parameters in the no-IO model (yellow bars) are much smaller than the μ_i (dark gray) in the IO model. Industry K, for instance, which has the fourth largest sales share in the main model (which considers all the data) ends up with a mediocre estimative under the no-IO model.



Figure 2.A.1: Comparison of the parameters estimated by the IO and no-IO models

2.B Quantitative Analysis

2.B.1 Dataset

EU KLEMS

The EU KLEMS Growth and Productivity Accounts (Jäger, 2017) provides measures capital (K), labour (L), energy (E), materials (M) and service (S) use of 34 industries (ISIC Rev. 4 industry classification). Release 2017 (revised in July 2018) covers the EU-28 countries, several EU aggregates, and the United States over the period of 1995 to 2015. I extracted the "Basic File" —which contains the main stock and flow variables— and the "Labour Input File" —with the data disaggregated by skill level—for the UK.

The variables extracted from the "Basic File" were:

• VA: Gross value added at current basic prices (in millions of national currency)

- *QI*: Gross value added, volume (2010 prices)
- *EMP*: Number of persons engaged (thousands)
- *LAB*: Labour compensation (in millions of national currency)
- CAP: Capital compensation (in millions of national currency)
- *K_GFCF*: Nominal capital stock (in millions of national currency)

The values in pounds were converted to dollars using exchange rate provided by WIOD. The good prices were constructed from the ratio of nominal over real value added (PRI = VA/QI).

From the "Labour Input File", I constructed the shares of employment type in each industry total employment using the higher education threshold as follows:

- L_shares: Intermediate & No formal qualifications
- *H_shares*: University graduates (ISCED_5 + 6)

Likewise, the aggregate shares of labour compensation were obtained in order to calculate market wages:

- LAB_L_shares: percentage of labour compensation paid to low-skill workers
- LAB_H_shares: percentage of labour compensation paid to high-skill workers

Observed factor prices were then extracted under the assumption of competitive markets as:

- $w_L = (LAB \cdot LAB_L_shares) / (\sum_i L_shares_i \cdot EMP_i)$: low-skill wages
- $w_H = (LAB \cdot LAB_H_shares) / (\sum_i H_shares_i \cdot EMP_i)$: high-skill wages
- $w_K = CAP/K_GFCF$: rental on capital

WIOD

The World Input-Output Dataset (Timmer, Dietzenbacher, Los, Stehrer, and de Vries, 2015), Release 2016 covers 43 countries and a model for the rest of the world for the period 2000-2014. Data for 56 sectors are classified according to the International Standard Industrial Classification revision 4 (ISIC Rev. 4). I extracted the National IO tables (NIOT) only for the UK. The input-output values II_{ji} are denoted in millions of US dollars, are represent the nominal sales from industry j to industry i.

In order, the following variables were derived from the dataset, for each industry *i*:

- Total sum of intermediate inputs used: $II_i^{in} = \sum_{j=1}^N II_{ji}$
- Value added: $va_i = w_K \cdot k_i + w_L \cdot l_i + w_H \cdot h_i$

- Gross output of each industry *i* equals: $p_i q_i = v a_i + II_i^{in}$
- Total sum of intermediate inputs produced: $II_i^{out} = \sum_{j=1}^N II_{ij}$
- Final sales: $p_i y_i = p_i q_i II_i^{out}$

Industries in the dataset

Given the competitive markets assumption and the order of the construction of variable as above, some industries end up with negative values of final sales y_i . To overcome this issues, those industries are merged with nearby industries. The process resulted in the following 29 industries:

- 1. A-B Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing & Mining and quarrying
- 2. C10-C12 Manufacture of food products, beverages and tobacco products
- 3. C13-C15 Manufacture of textiles, wearing apparel and leather products
- 4. C16-C18 Manufacture of wood and of products of wood and cork, except furniture; manufacture of articles of straw and plaiting materials & Manufacture of paper and paper products & Printing and reproduction of recorded media
- 5. C19 Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products
- 6. C20-C23 Chemicals and chemical products & Rubber and plastics products, and other non-metallic mineral products
- 7. C24-C25 Basic metals and fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment
- 8. C26-C27 Electrical and optical equipment
- 9. C28 Machinery and equipment n.e.c.
- 10. C29-C30 Transport equipment
- 11. C31-C33 Other manufacturing; repair and installation of machinery and equipment
- 12. D-E ELECTRICITY, GAS AND WATER SUPPLY
- 13. F CONSTRUCTION
- 14. G45 Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles
- 15. G46 Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
- 16. G47 Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
- 17. H49-H53 Transport and storage & Postal and courier activities
- 18. I ACCOMMODATION AND FOOD SERVICE ACTIVITIES

- 19. J58-J60 Publishing, audiovisual and broadcasting activities
- 20. J61 Telecommunications
- 21. J62-J63 IT and other information services
- 22. K FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE ACTIVITIES
- 23. L REAL ESTATE ACTIVITIES
- 24. M-N PROFESSIONAL, SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL, ADMINISTRATIVE AND SUP-PORT SERVICE ACTIVITIES
- 25. O Public administration and defence; compulsory social security
- 26. P Education
- 27. Q Health and social work
- 28. R-S ARTS, ENTERTAINMENT, RECREATION AND OTHER SERVICE ACTIVITIES
- 29. T Activities of households as employers; undifferentiated goods- and servicesproducing activities of households for own use

APS

The Annual Population Survey (APS) household dataset⁴⁹ for the year 2014 was retrieved from UK Data Service. I used the ILODEFR variable to select only the individuals "In Employment".

Regarding the skills, the HIQUL11D values (1) Degree or equivalent; and (2) Higher education are equivalent to NVQ level 4 and above, which on its turn correspond to ISCED 5+, i.e. the high-skill category in EU KLEMS. For immigration, the value (3) of NATOX7_EUL_Sub "European Union EU8" was used to qualify individuals declaring their nationality as of one of the A8 countries. Finally, the data was adjusted for sampling weights using the variable PWTA17.

In numbers, the stock of workers in 2014 was of 30.5 million. Low- and high-skilled workers totalled 17.9 and 12.5 million, respectively. Within this universe, the stock of A8 workers was of 840.2 thousand, composed of 562.7 thousand low-skilled and 277.5 thousand high-skilled workers.

⁴⁹Office for National Statistics, Social Survey Division (2019).

2.B.2 Computation of the counterfactuals

The definition and calculation of the variable of interest q_i , the gross output of industry, differ between the two models.

IO model

In the IO model, from the expenditure point of view, letting $v_i = w_K k_i + w_L l_i + w_H h_i$ represent the value-added of industry *i*, nominal sales equates total costs:

$$p_i q_i = v_i + \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji}$$
 (expenditure)

no-IO model

In the no-IO model, the output of an industry i is all used for used final consumption, y_i , which also equates to the industry's value-added. In nominal terms:

$$p_i q_i = p_i y_i = v_i$$
 (production=expenditure)

Effect of shocks

Using 2014 as the base year,⁵⁰ the formula for calculating the effect of the labour supply shocks is identical in the two models. In other words, the impact of the changes in the input-output structure over time $(\gamma_i)^{51}$ does not play a role here.

$$\frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2014}} - 1 = \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2014}} \frac{p_{i,2014}}{p_{i,2014CF}} \frac{(1 - \gamma_{i,2014})}{(1 - \gamma_{i,2014CF})} - 1$$

$$= \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2014}} \frac{p_{i,2014}}{p_{i,2014CF}} - 1$$
(IO)

The last simplification derive from the fact that a labour supply shock does not affect the parameters in this (Cobb-Douglas) model. Clearly, this is the same as the

⁵⁰Even though the EU expansion that incorporated the A8 countries took place in 2004, I choose not to use 2003 as the base year as it would yield different formulas. See Appendix **??** for details.

⁵¹In reality, γ_i is one dimension smaller than the whole IO matrix, reflecting only the total share of intermediate input usage of each industry.

formula for the real industrial output change in the no-IO model:

$$\frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2014}} - 1 = \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2014}} \frac{p_{i,2014}}{p_{i,2014CF}} - 1$$
(noIO)

Even though the calculated value-added is the same in both models, the observed and counterfactual values for output and prices differ between the two models (Figure 2.B.1).



Figure 2.B.1: Counterfactual effects on output, value-added and prices

2.B.3 Base year 2003 versus 2014

Comparison of data calculations using two different base years: 2003 and 2014. Using 2003 as the base year, yields the following ratios for the growth rates in each model:

$$\frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2003}} = \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2003}} \frac{p_{i,2003}}{p_{i,2014CF}} \frac{(1 - \gamma_{i,2003})}{(1 - \gamma_{i,2014})}$$
(IO)

Which has the no-IO counterpart:

$$\frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2003}} = \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2003}} \frac{p_{i,2003}}{p_{i,2014CF}}$$
(noIO)

Changes in gross output in the IO model reflect not only the changes in the value added (factor quantities and prices) good prices over the period (as in the no-IO model), but also the changes in the II purchases (γ_i) from 2003 to 2014.

Impact

The impact of the supply shock is calculated as the difference between the real output growth in the counterfactual scenario minus the observed growth in each model:

$$Impact_{i} = \frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2003}} - \frac{q_{i,2014}}{q_{i,2003}}$$
(IO)
$$= \frac{(1 - \gamma_{i,2003})}{(1 - \gamma_{i,2014})} \left[\frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2003}} \frac{p_{i,2003}}{p_{i,2014CF}} - \frac{v_{i,2014}}{v_{i,2003}} \frac{p_{i,2003}}{p_{i,2014}} \right]$$
$$Impact_{i} = \frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2003}} - \frac{q_{i,2014}}{q_{i,2003}}$$
$$(noIO)$$
$$= \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2003}} \frac{p_{i,2014}}{p_{i,2014CF}} - \frac{v_{i,2014}}{v_{i,2003}} \frac{p_{i,2014}}{p_{i,2014}}$$

While using 2014 as the base year, the impact is simply the effect of on real output:

$$Impact_{i} = \frac{q_{i,2014CF}}{q_{i,2014}} - \frac{q_{i,2014}}{q_{i,2014}}$$

$$= \frac{v_{i,2014CF}}{v_{i,2014}} \frac{p_{i,2014}}{p_{i,2014CF}} - 1$$
(IO=noIO)

Ratio

I plot below the ratios of the impact calculated with the no-IO model over the one with the IO model using each base year. Recall that in the formulae above, only the calculated value-added v_i is the same across models.





Figure 2.B.2: 2003: Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)

Figure 2.B.3: 2014: Ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)



Figure 2.B.4: Intermediate input usage by industry 2003 and 2014 (γ_i)



Figure 2.B.5: Intermediate input growth by industry: 2014 over 2003

2.B.4 Non-linear solutions versus first order approximations

The results using the non-linear solutions, as given by the constructed counterfactual data, and those predicted by the model's first order approximatios are virtually identical. The figures below portray the estimations presented by this chapter done using the former (labelled 'Data') and the latter (labelled 'Model').



(a) CF LS (ranked by low-skilled shares)







(a) CF LS (ranked by low-skilled shares) (l

(b) CF HS (ranked by high-skilled shares)

Figure 2.B.7: Model: ratio of immigration effects (no-IO / IO)





Figure 2.B.8: LS CF: output changes versus low-skill shares



Note: vertical line represents national average.





Note: vertical reference lines correspond to the national share of low-skill (left) and high-skilled (right).

Figure 2.B.10: Model: No-IO model's misestimation of impact of A8 immigration



Note: vertical reference lines correspond to the national share of low-skill (left) and high-skilled (right).

Figure 2.B.11: Data: No-IO model's misestimation of impact of A8 immigration

2.C Supplementary Results

2.C.1 Most and least affected

Output changes reported below after each industry code refer to the IO model and the no-IO model, outside and inside the parenthesis, respectively.

LS CF

Industries most affected by the shock:

- 1. T -1.94 (-1.94)
- 2. I -1.80 (-2.08)
- 3. G47 -1.71 (-1.97)

Industries least affected by the shock:

- 1. L -0.37 (-0.14)
- 2. J61 -0.78 (-0.44)
- 3. D-E -0.81 (-0.52)

Industries most overestimated:

- 1. G46 -1.55 (-1.99)
- 2. G45 -1.69 (-2.08)
- 3. C31-C33 -1.59 (-1.86)

Industries most underestimated:

- 1. L -0.37 (-0.14)
- 2. J61 -0.78 (-0.44)
- 3. C19 -1.09 (-0.66)

Industries least misestimated:

- 1. T -1.94 (-1.94)
- 2. M-N -1.16 (-1.16)
- 3. C29-C30 -1.36 (-1.33)

HS CF

Industries most affected by the shock:

- 1. P -1.23 (-1.30)
- 2. J62-J63 -1.20 (-1.46)
- 3. Q -0.92 (-1.01)

Industries least affected by the shock:

- 1. L -0.21 (-0.07)
- 2. D-E -0.38 (-0.19)
- 3. F -0.44 (-0.29)

Industries most overestimated:

- 1. J62-J63 -1.20 (-1.46)
- 2. K -0.81 (-0.91)
- 3. J58-J60 -0.91 (-1.02)

Industries most underestimated:

- 1. L-0.21 (-0.07)
- 2. C19 -0.49 (-0.21)
- 3. D-E -0.38 (-0.19)

Industries least misestimated:

- 1. T -0.86 (-0.86)
- 2. R-S -0.81 (-0.82)
- 3. C13-C15 -0.62 (-0.61)

ES CF

Industries most affected by the shock:

- 1. T -2.79 (-2.79)
- 2. Q -2.30 (-2.42)
- 3. I -2.29 (-2.50)

Industries least affected by the shock:

- 1. L-0.58 (-0.22)
- 2. D-E -1.18 (-0.71)
- 3. J61 -1.51 (-1.19)

Industries most overestimated:

- 1. G46 -2.09 (-2.46)
- 2. G45 -2.27 (-2.57)
- 3. C13-C15 -2.22 (-2.47)

Industries most underestimated:

- 1. L-0.58 (-0.22)
- 2. C19 -1.57 (-0.87)
- 3. D-E -1.18 (-0.71)

Industries least misestimated:

- 1. T -2.79 (-2.79)
- 2. K -1.87 (-1.87)
- 3. O -1.82 (-1.82)



Figure 2.C.1: ESCF: IO and no-IO output changes (left) and ratios (right)

2.C.2 Specific industries

For completeness, I present here the plots for input use, row of the Leontief-inverse transposed, linkage weights and the shocks approximations for all industries.



A-B: "Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing & Mining and quarrying"





Figure 2.C.3: Industry A-B's approximations for the shocks



C10-C12: "Manufacture of food products, beverages and tobacco products"





Figure 2.C.5: Industry C10-C12's approximations for the shocks



C13-C15: "Manufacture of textiles, wearing apparel and leather products"





Figure 2.C.7: Industry C13-C15's approximations for the shocks

C16-C18: "Manufacture of wood and of products of wood and cork, except furniture; manufacture of articles of straw and plaiting materials & Manufacture of paper and paper products & Printing and reproduction of recorded media"









Figure 2.C.9: Industry C16-C18's approximations for the shocks





Figure 2.C.10: Industry C19's linkage effects



Figure 2.C.11: Industry C19's approximations for the shocks

C20-C23: "Chemicals and chemical products & Rubber and plastics products, and other non-metallic mineral products"



Figure 2.C.12: Industry C20-C23's linkage effects



Figure 2.C.13: Industry C20-C23's approximations for the shocks





Figure 2.C.14: Industry C24-C25's linkage effects



Figure 2.C.15: Industry C24-C25's approximations for the shocks





Figure 2.C.16: Industry C26-C27's linkage effects



Figure 2.C.17: Industry C26-C27's approximations for the shocks

C28: "Machinery and equipment n.e.c."







Figure 2.C.19: Industry C28's approximations for the shocks

C29-C30: "Transport equipment"







Figure 2.C.21: Industry C29-C30's approximations for the shocks

C31-C33: "Other manufacturing; repair and installation of machinery and equipment"



Figure 2.C.22: Industry C31-C33's linkage effects



Figure 2.C.23: Industry C31-C33's approximations for the shocks

D-E: "Electricity, Gas and Water Supply"







Figure 2.C.25: Industry D-E's approximations for the shocks

F: "Construction"







Figure 2.C.27: Industry F's approximations for the shocks


G45: "Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles"







Figure 2.C.29: Industry G45's approximations for the shocks



G46: "Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles"





Figure 2.C.31: Industry G46's approximations for the shocks



G47: "Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles"





Figure 2.C.33: Industry G47's approximations for the shocks



H49-H53: "Transport and storage & Postal and courier activities"





Figure 2.C.35: Industry H49-H53's approximations for the shocks









Figure 2.C.37: Industry I's approximations for the shocks









Figure 2.C.39: Industry J58-J60's approximations for the shocks

J61: "Telecommunications"







Figure 2.C.41: Industry J61's approximations for the shocks





Figure 2.C.42: Industry J62-J63's linkage effects



Figure 2.C.43: Industry J62-J63's approximations for the shocks









Figure 2.C.45: Industry K's approximations for the shocks

L: "Real estate activities"







Figure 2.C.47: Industry L's approximations for the shocks

M-N: "Professional, scientific, technical, administrative and support service activities"







Figure 2.C.49: Industry M-N's approximations for the shocks



O: "Public administration and defence; compulsory social security"





Figure 2.C.51: Industry O's approximations for the shocks

P: "Education"







Figure 2.C.53: Industry P's approximations for the shocks

Q: "Health and social work"







Figure 2.C.55: Industry Q's approximations for the shocks









Figure 2.C.57: Industry R-S's approximations for the shocks









Figure 2.C.59: Industry T's approximations for the shocks

Chapter 3

Production network structures and micro effects of macro shocks

1 Introduction

The series of operations and transactions involved in the production of a good is vast, encompassing a network of domestic and foreign industries. Hardly any industry nowadays creates a product completely in-house and yet, input-output models are still neither mainstream nor fully explored in economics.

In fact, not only local and worldwide industrial interconnections are relevant to the economies, but they also vary considerably from country to country. Figure 3.1 presents the production networks of Ireland and South Korea. The sizes of the nodes are proportional to the import share in the total costs of each industry. The thickness of the edges between each pair of nodes depicts the share of the input transactions in the total costs of the buying industry.¹

The node sizes make it clear at a glance that Irish goods depend heavily on foreign suppliers whilst the Korean economy is mostly self-reliant. The edges and their thickness, on the other hand, depict how the industries are highly interconnected in Korea and much less so in Ireland. In summary, the industries in these economies differ both in input and import use. While the European country relies heavily on foreign instead of domestic intermediate goods, the opposite is true in the Asian counterpart.

¹Details on the data in Section 3.B.4. For each industry *i*, the diameter of the nodes is proportional to the total import shares σ_i while the thickness of the edges is given by the input shares γ_{ji} of good *j*.



(a) Ireland

(b) Korea

Source: WIOD and author's calculations. Graphs plotted with the software package Gephi. Industry labels are described in Table 3.B.4.

Note: The diameters of the nodes represent the share of imports on the total costs of each industry. The thickness of the edges expresses the share of the input transactions between each pair of industries on the buying industry's total sales. Input shares smaller than 0.01 are discarded for readability of the graphs. The orientation of each input-output transaction between a pair of industries is in the clockwise direction. The location of the nodes indicates greater transactions among neighbours; industries placed in the central nodes are those interacting with a larger number of industries.

Figure 3.1: Production networks of Ireland and Korea in 2014

1.1 Contributions

Though ours is not the first paper showing that certain shocks spread through the network of input-output linkages [...], we still consider our paper as part of the early phase of this emerging literature documenting the empirical power of network-based propagation of shocks.

—Acemoglu, Akcigit, and Kerr (2016, p. 323).

In this chapter, I take Ireland and South Korea to identify the role of input linkages on the industry output effects of a labour supply and an import price shock. I show that the differences between the countries in terms of both input and import use play a key role in the transmission of the shocks across the industries and on their final effect. My *first* contribution is to develop a mathematical framework to support the analysis. It is based on a neoclassical input-output model with international trade, which I extend to incorporate industry-specific factor intensities. Models are primarily useful to depict and analyse specific transmission mechanisms represented by relationships between variables; but even more powerfully they can provide an apparatus for controlled experiments.

After producing the general equilibrium solutions, I separately compute the output effect of a one-percent increase in the labour supply and in the price of an imported good. I also produce the predictions of auxiliary models without trade, without inputoutput linkages and without either trade or domestic linkages to perform comparisons with the full model. The theoretical toolkit is completed with an in-depth investigation of the first- and higher-order shock transmissions via input-output linkages and with the incorporation of measures of centrality and connectivity from network theory.

In the case of the labour shock, the effect on industry output in the full model comprises of five elements: (i) input-output linkages, represented by the *Leontief-inverse transposed* matrix presented in Definition 3.5; (ii) industry-specific intermediate input shares; (iii) industry-specific import shares; (iv) industry-specific labour shares; and (v) the aggregate labour share, reflecting the impact on GDP. In the case of the import price shock, the effect on industry output in the full model comprises of four elements: (i) the Leontief-inverse transposed; (ii) industry-specific import shares of the affected good; (iii) industry-specific total import shares; and (iv) the aggregate share of the imports of the affected good on consumption, which reflects the impact on GDP.

The Leontief-inverse transposed modulates the industry-specific shocks, giving more (less) weight to the industries j on which i relies more (less). In contrast with a model without input-output linkages, a labour-intensive (capital-intensive) industry will normally present a smaller (larger) output change since it trades with capital-intensive (labour-intensive) industries. The Leontief-inverse transposed plays a role in three aspects studied in this chapter: (i) the labour intensity of domestic intermediate input basket; (ii) the ratio of convergence of approximations of the shock effects; and (iii) the upstream centrality of the industries.

My *second* contribution is to bring the analytical tools to the World Input-Output Dataset (WIOD). I conduct a thorough study of the countries in the sample using both the model's framework and network measures in order to select a pair with very distinct profiles. I also present an extensive comparison of the countries selected with focus on the variables that may affect the counterfactual results.

I implement the full model in MATLAB, where I also perform the data calibration for all models. This allows for a straightforward computation of the counterfactual values for the endogenous variables, in particular for the output of the industries. Moreover, working on MATLAB provides the means to compute and visualise intricate calculations essential for the empirical part of this chapter. In particular, I effortlessly adapt a centrality measure from network theory to gauge the importance of each imported intermediate good to domestic industries.

My *third* and final contribution is to produce an empirical investigation of the role of direct and indirect input-output linkages and international trade in determining the industry output changes resulting from the counterfactual shocks. I show that the structure of the production network significantly affects the cross-industry effects.

In the analysis of the labour shock, I find that labour-intensive industries present diverging results in each country. In Ireland, much of the difference between the predictions of the models derive from trade while, in Korea, they come from inputoutput linkages.² I show that this happens because this group relies more on imports in the European country than their counterpart in the Asian economy.³

Particularly in Korea, labour-intensive industries, which are in general more reliant on inputs (greater upstream centralities), buy significantly from capital-intensive industries, which tend to be more relevant as suppliers (greater downstream centralities) in the production network.⁴ Yet more interestingly in Korea, the approximations of the output impacts for capital-intensive industries present a slower rate of convergence in comparison to the labour-intensive industries,⁵ even though they are less upstream connected than their peers. This occur because the shock approxima-

²As Figure 3.9b shows, Auxiliary NT's predictions are very close to Auxiliary 0's in Ireland while the full model's and Auxiliary NT's prediction are both far from Auxiliary 0's in Korea.

³See Figure 3.4d for the industry import shares in each country.

⁴See Figures 3.6 and 3.B.11 for the upstream and downstream Katz-Bonacich centrality, respectively, and Figure 3.10 for the labour intensity of the industry input baskets.

⁵See Figure 3.11 for the means of the ratios of the approximations of the impacts over the whole output change across industries per factor-intensity group.

tions refer specifically to the transactions of inputs according to their labour-intensity while the centrality measures are neutral in relation to the goods being transacted.

For the import price shock, I develop a measure of centrality for imported inputs and choose the good of industry A-B (mainly agricultural production and raw material activities) for the counterfactual exercise to get sizeable results in both countries.⁶ Remarkably, good A-B is imported in significant amounts by only a few industries,⁷ and yet it scores high in the centrality measures because these industries are relevant as suppliers of the production network. As a result, I find that many industries which do not import any quantity of good A-B end up with significant output changes due to their upstream input-output linkages. Indeed, their output impacts are the most underestimated by a model without this feature, even more so in Korea where the industries are largely connected.⁸ The decomposition of shock transmission into the various steps of the supply chain draws an exceptional picture for Korea, with the initial effect (which corresponds to the model ignoring input-output linkages) having very little explanatory power for almost every industry.⁹ In Ireland, however, the auxiliary model without domestic linkages does not perform as poorly; since the industries are not much connected domestically, most of the output effect comes from their isolated import use.

The differences between Ireland and Korea provide an exemplar case-study for tariff wars.¹⁰ Assuming that rising an import duty is equivalent to increasing the price of the respective good and that government revenues are wasted, the findings of this chapter indicate that the consequences to the economy of such policy depend largely on its production network. In countries with disconnected industries, the negative effect is restricted to those that import the most whilst the fallout is widespread in highly interconnected economies. Therefore, models that incorporate domestic and international linkages along the supply chain like the one in this chapter are crucial in the assessment of trade policies aiming at changing tariffs.

⁶Section 3.B.6 discuss the selection of the import good.

⁷Notice the small number of colourful squares in the row number 1, corresponding to import good A-B, in Figure 3.5c and 3.5d.

⁸See Figure 3.14 for the ratios of the predictions of Auxiliary NIO over the full model's.

⁹See Figure 3.16 for the zeroth to the third order of approximation of the import price shock compared to the total industry output effect.

¹⁰I mean this from an empirical point of view only. Evidently, the model would have to be extended to incorporate strategic behaviour in a dynamic setting.

1.2 Literature

Production has become fragmented and dispersed across the globe, with intermediate goods¹¹ representing between 50 and 70 per cent of the world's imports (Mandras and Salotti, 2020). Nevertheless, Dhyne, Kikkawa, Mogstad, and Tintelnot (2021) and Bernard, Bradford Jensen, Redding, and Schott (2007) document that few firms trade directly, but are rather affected by international shocks via their domestic production networks.

There has been a surge of interest during the last decade in applying network concepts from the theory of graphs, mathematical sociology, and statistical physics to input-output analysis.¹² Most of this work focus on shock propagation (Contreras and Fagiolo, 2014; Acemoglu, Akcigit, and Kerr, 2016; Vandenbussche, Connell, and Simons, 2019) and industry systemic importance (Acemoglu, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi, 2015; Aldasoro and Angeloni, 2015) having aggregate effects at its core.

Arguably, the frisson on the field was sparked by Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012), who adapt the multi-sector¹³ model of Long and Plosser (1983) and combine it with network theory to study the relevance of input-output structure on the propagation of idiosyncratic productivity shocks to the economy. Carvalho (2010) provides a comprehensive review of this literature. In contrast to their work, my research question goes in the opposite direction, asking how aggregate shocks affect individual micro entities when taking their interconnections into account. The reverse perspective naturally leads to differences in the findings. They, as well as Jones (2013), find that the sparseness of the production network does not affect their results regarding aggregate volatility and the economic multiplier, respectively. I, on the other hand, show that the input-output structure significantly influences the cross-industry effects resulting from aggregate shocks.

Within this literature, Baqaee (2015) is the first to point out that shocks travel either upstream or downstream throughout the network depending on their origin. Nevertheless, the presence of cycles or loops in the network —in which an initially purchasing industry eventually appear as a buyer within a single chain of transactions—

¹¹The term 'goods' in this chapter refer to both physical goods and services.

¹²Important textbooks on social and economic networks have also been recently developed (Goyal, 2007; Vega-Redondo, 2007; Jackson, 2008).

¹³The terms 'industry' and 'sector' are often used interchangeably in input-output analysis and in macroeconomics. I opt for the former simply because this is the term used by the WIOD.

makes the distinction line blurry. Acemoglu, Akcigit, and Kerr (2016) better put it when they say that some [supply-side] shocks travel 'more powerfully' downstream than upstream, and vice-versa for other [demand-side] shocks. This understanding is at the core of the analytical results of this chapter.

I add to this literature in three ways. Firstly, I explicitly incorporate trade into the model in the form of imported intermediate inputs used by domestic producing industries. Secondly, I assess the effects of economic shocks not studied before, namely labour supply and the price of an import good. Lastly, I investigate how the structure of the production network affects the results.

The network-based approach to the analysis of input-output linkages includes several descriptive studies, assessing network measures of industries and countries (Blöchl, Theis, Vega-Redondo, and Fisher, 2011; McNerney, Fath, and Silverberg, 2013; Cerina, Zhu, Chessa, and Riccaboni, 2015). Attempts to identify and measure interindustry connections date as far back as the 1950s. Chipman (1950) first computes the output multiplier to measure how an autonomous disturbance in expenditure would affect each sector in particular and the economy in general. Rasmussen (1957) and Hirschman (1958) independently develop the first measures of backward and forward linkages. The network measures I use in this chapter are adapted from Carvalho (2014).

Studying the distributions of industry measures, Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016) and Bartelme and Gorodnichenko (2015) associate productivity and economic development with the sparsity of a country's input-output matrix. Luu, Fagiolo, Roventini, and Sgrignoli (2017) assess the inter-country strength of connectivity within the European Union (EU) by measuring the average number of links (connectivity) and of the weights of those links (intensity) between each pair of countries but do not study the intra-country connectivity. Applications abound on assessing the centrality of countries and industries within the global value networks (Koopman, Powers, Wang, and Wei, 2010; Cingolani, Panzarasa, and Tajoli, 2017; Mundt, 2021). Contreras and Fagiolo (2014) present the density measures for the EU countries using the Eurostat data. This chapter's contribution is to report the sparsity or connectivity of the production networks of the 43 countries in the WIOD sample.

With respect to the labour supply shock, recent literature investigates the effects

of the COVID-19 pandemic using multi-sector models with linkages. Maria Del Rio-Chanona, Mealy, Pichler, Lafond, and Doyne Farmer (2020) develop a short-run inputoutput model with linkages between and within industries and occupations to predict the impact of the social distancing on economic units. They ascertain that in countries controlling the spread of the outbreak, social distancing would cause a labour loss of one order of magnitude larger than that caused by mortality and morbidity. Examining these last sources of labour loss, McKibbin and Fernando (2020) employs a global general equilibrium model with six sectors with linkages within and across countries to assess the impact of the population loss from COVID-19 on the GDP of the countries, but they do not disentangle the labour shock from other simultaneous shocks. Closely related to this chapter's work is Pichler and Farmer (2021), who consider higher-order effects of supply and demand shocks explicitly. However, to the best of my knowledge, no study has contributed to the analysis of the transmission of the labour shock specifically within the network as I do in this chapter.

In regard to the import price shock, very few studies analyse the effects on the economy using a multi-industry model with linkages. Maisonnave, Pycroft, Saveyn, and Ciscar (2012) study the impacts of oil price rises with a rich computable general equilibrium (CGE) model, but only report the results on aggregate variables. Zhang, Yang, Zhang, and Shackman (2017) present the effects of natural gas price hikes on the output of Chinese industries while Aydin and Acar (2011) produce a similar analysis for Turkey. I contribute to this literature by pinning down the mechanisms through which industries are affected by an import price shock, as these go beyond industryspecific characteristics and relates to the structure of a country's production network. Caraiani (2019) performs analogous investigation, but uses time-varying Bayesian VAR to track the effects of oil shocks on the GDP of OECD economies.

Insofar as an import price shock can be read as a tariff rise, our analysis can be related to the trade literature assessing the impacts of Brexit. Using a multi-country multi-sector network model, Vandenbussche, Connell, and Simons (2019) finds that the indirect effects account for more than 70% of the total effect of the trade shock for some sectors in the EU countries. Using centrality measures, Giammetti, Russo, and Gallegati (2020) identify the most systematically important industries within the European production network. They find that the UK as a whole to be the most affected by the tariff changes, but individually some EU sectors would suffer the most. My approach differs in considering a general equilibrium model and focusing on the propagation mechanism of the trade shock via the production network and imports.

1.3 Outline

The structure of this chapter is as follows. Section 2 presents the theoretical framework, which includes the full input-output model with trade, the predictions of the auxiliary models for the industry output changes, and key definitions and results supporting the analysis. Section 3 provides an overview of the production networks of the countries in the WIOD sample, outlines the data calibration and the implementation of the models in MATLAB, and describes the main parameters of Ireland and South Korea. Section 4 turns to the application, where I demonstrate how inputoutput linkages and trade patterns affect industries, making use of the comprehensive framework developed. Section 5 concludes. Algebraic derivations and proofs, data and computation details, and supplementary figures are available in the Appendices 3.A, 3.B and 3.C, respectively.

2 Theoretical analysis

2.1 An input-output model with trade

I develop here a general equilibrium small-open-economy model with input-output linkages and trade. It is an extension of the input-output model presented in Chapter 2 regarding the inclusion of the international dimension. But it is also a simplification with respect to the skill levels, as the WIOD do not have this breakdown and I had to accommodate for this data limitation. Additionally, compared to Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016), the model presented here includes industry-level factor intensities.

Each industry is taken as a single representative firm producing a homogeneous good. There are n industries in the economy. The output q_i of each industry i is given

by the following constant returns to scale (CRS) Cobb-Douglas technology:¹⁴

$$q_{i} = A_{i} \left(k_{i}^{\alpha_{i}} e_{i}^{1-\alpha_{i}} \right)^{1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} d_{ji}^{\gamma_{ji}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} f_{ji}^{\sigma_{ji}}$$
(3.1)

Where the endogenous variables, besides q_i , are:

- k: capital
- e: labour employed
- d_{ji} : output of domestic industry j used in the production of i
- f_{ji} : quantity of imported good j used by industry i

I call capital and labour 'factors'. Intermediate inputs d_{ji} are also called 'materials' in related literature. Imports f_{ji} do not discriminate the country of origin.¹⁵

Regarding the technology parameters:

- *A_i*: industry total factor productivity
- α_i : factor income share of capital
- $1 \alpha_i$: factor income share of labour
- γ_{ji} : share of good j in the production technology of firms in industry i
- $\gamma_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji}$, i.e. the total input share of industry *i*
- σ_{ji} : share of import good j in the production technology of firms in industry i
- $\sigma_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji}$, i.e. the total import share of industry *i*

Given the Cobb-Douglas technology in Equation (3.1) and competitive factor markets, the input shares γ_{ji} correspond to the entries of the input-output matrix Γ , measuring the value of spending on input j per dollar of production of good i. The import shares σ_{ji} constitute the equivalent Σ matrix.

Output of industry *i* is used for final consumption, y_i , or as intermediate good, such that the market clearing condition for each good *i* holds, i.e.:

$$q_i = y_i + \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij}$$
(3.2)

¹⁴If one were to follow strictly the premises of Leontief's input-output model, the Cobb-Douglas would have to present decreasing returns to scale. This is a consequence of the technical coefficients being fixed, i.e. input substitution not being possible when using the social accounting matrices. See Chapter 8 of ten Raa (2006) and references thereof for more details.

¹⁵To translate it into this chapter's notations, let *g* represent each of *m* countries. For each buying industry *i* and imported good *j*, it is true that $f_{ji} = \sum_{g=1}^{m} f_{ji}^{g}$.

The consumer side is synthesised by a final good aggregation. This can be interpreted as an entity which combines all the y_i left-overs from the industries and transforms them into the aggregate GDP. Consumer preferences are represented by good-specific final demand parameters $\beta_i \ge 0$, $\forall i$, where $\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i = 1$.

$$Y = \prod_{i=1}^{n} y_i^{\beta_i} \tag{3.3}$$

Real GDP (*Y*) equals nominal GDP (*PY*) since the price deflator is chosen as the numeraire and its value is normalised to one (P = 1). Production side equals expenditure side GDP, so that final output is equivalent to household's consumption and export, the latter two only considered in aggregate terms:

$$Y = C + X \tag{3.4}$$

Exports are assumed to balance out imports in a steady state equilibrium fashion.¹⁶ Letting \bar{p}_j represent the exogenous world price of good j, the balanced trade reads:

$$X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \bar{p}_j f_{ji}$$
(3.5)

Households supply the primary factors of production inelastically, receiving competitive market wages w_E and rental on capital w_K . Thus, households' income comprises of the aggregate value-added and is fully used to finance consumption:

$$C = w_K K + w_E E \tag{3.6}$$

Finally, factor markets are also assumed to clear, i.e. the sum of each factor employed in every industry equals the exogenous aggregate levels of physical capital *K* and labour *E*:

$$K = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i$$
 (3.7) $E = \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i$ (3.8)

¹⁶Even in the short run, the balanced trade assumption is not so far-fetched. In the cross section of the 43 countries covered by the WIOD, exports and imports are not so far from each other in magnitude, as plotted in Figure 3.B.1 in Appendix.

2.2 General equilibrium

The competitive general equilibrium of this economy is trivially given by the profit maximisation of industries and final good aggregator taking prices as given. The formal definition of the equilibrium allocation follows:

Definition 3.1 (Equilibrium) A competitive equilibrium consists of quantities regarding aggregate output Y, consumption C and exports X, the industry output $\{q_i\}$, intermediate input choices $\{d_{ji}\}$, import choices $\{f_{ji}\}$, final good demands $\{y_i\}$ and industry demand for factors $\{k_i\}$ and $\{e_i\}$, as well as prices of factors w_K and w_E and goods $\{p_i\}$ for every industry i, j in the economy such that:

1. Industry Problem: Given good prices $\{p_i\}$ and factor prices w_K , w_L and w_H the representative firm of each industry chooses factors, inputs and output to maximise its profit subject to the technology, such that:

$$\max_{\{q_i,k_i,l_i,h_i,d_{ji}\}} p_i q_i - w_K k_i - w_L l_i - w_H h_i - \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji}$$

s.t. Equation (3.1).

2. Final Good Problem: Given $\{p_i\}$ and P, the final good aggregator (entity) maximises profit subject to the available technology, such that:

$$\max_{\{y_i,Y\}} PY - \sum_{i=1}^n p_i y_i$$

s.t. Equation (3.3).

- 3. setting the final good price as the numeraire, i.e. P = 1, prices clear the markets for all goods and factors, such that:
 - industry goods: Equation (3.2)
 - final good: Equation (3.4)
 - capital: Equation (3.7)
 - *labour: Equation* (3.8)

First order conditions

The Cobb-Douglas combined with efficient markets yields the well-known first order conditions (FOCs) for the equilibrium in each industry *i* which states that the value

of the each factor and input is a constant function of the value of the output. In terms of the nominal shares of capital (3.9) and labour (3.10), the intermediate input shares (3.11) and the imports share (3.12) in the total costs (sales) of an industry, respectively, these conditions read:

$$\frac{w_K k_i}{p_i q_i} = \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \tag{3.9}$$

$$\frac{w_E e_i}{p_i q_i} = (1 - \alpha_i)(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)$$
(3.10)

$$\frac{p_j d_{ji}}{p_i q_i} = \gamma_{ji} \tag{3.11}$$

$$\frac{\bar{p}_j f_{ji}}{p_i q_i} = \sigma_{ji} \tag{3.12}$$

Finally, the necessary equilibrium condition for the final good maximisation renders β_i as each industry's nominal sales share on GDP:

$$\frac{p_i y_i}{Y} = \beta_i \tag{3.13}$$

2.3 Special notes

Industry and aggregate factor shares

The nominal factor shares as given by Equations (3.9) and (3.10) appear often in the subsequent analysis of this chapter. For this reason, it is worth understanding their meaning precisely.

Consider each industry *i* value added, i.e. its total payment to factors, as given by:

$$va_i = w_K k_i + w_E e_i \tag{3.14}$$

Then, in equilibrium, having total costs equating total sales, every industry in the IO model must satisfy:

$$p_i q_i = v a_i + \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji}$$
 (3.15)

In possession of these references, I define the 'broad' as given by Equations (3.9) and (3.10) and the 'narrow' factor shares as below. The main difference between them is that while the former considers an industry's total costs, i.e. including the costs of the

intermediate inputs, the latter are solely in terms of the total costs of factors.

Definition 3.2 (Broad factor shares) *The broad nominal shares for capital and labour for each industry i are respectively given by the equations below:*

$$\alpha_i(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) = \frac{w_K k_i}{p_i q_i} \tag{3.9}$$

$$(1 - \alpha_i)(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) = \frac{w_E e_i}{p_i q_i}$$
(3.10)

Definition 3.3 (Narrow factor shares) *The narrow nominal shares for capital and labour for each industry i are respectively given by the equations below:*

$$\alpha_i = \frac{w_K k_i}{v_i} \tag{3.16}$$

$$(1 - \alpha_i) = \frac{w_E e_i}{v_i} \tag{3.17}$$

Finally, to simplify the derivations and the analysis, I define α as the aggregate capital share in value added [Equation (3.6)], such that:

Definition 3.4 (Aggregate factor shares) *The aggregate nominal shares for capital and labour for each industry i are respectively given by the equations below:*

$$\alpha = \frac{w_K K}{C} \tag{3.18}$$

$$(1-\alpha) = \frac{w_E E}{C} \tag{3.19}$$

Input-output matrix

The input-output matrix represented by Γ mimics the array of domestic interindustry production and consumption of intermediate goods available in the data. The *i*th column of matrix Γ consists of industry *i*'s input shares for all goods *j* used in its production. By contrast, the elements of the *j*th row of matrix Γ are the shares of

inputs of industry *j* in the production technology of all other industries *i*.

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma} = [\gamma_{ji}] = \left[\begin{array}{cccc} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{12} & \dots & \gamma_{1n} \\ \gamma_{21} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{n1} & \gamma_{n2} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{array}\right]$$
input supply input use

The chosen layout in form of 'origin-destination' is the standard one in input-output economics applying Leontief's activity analysis framework.¹⁷ It is also more coherent with network theory, as shown in Section 2.6. However, readers of the macro literature incorporating intermediate goods in general equilibrium models may find it confusing since these models tend to reverse this order.¹⁸

Imports matrix

Matrix Σ contains the nominal shares σ_{ij} of the imported good *i* in the production technology of domestic industry *j*. The rows represent each rest-of-the-world (ROW) exporting industry while the columns represent the country-at-hand importing industries. In that way, once more I use the origin-destination order for the row-column indices of the matrix.

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma} = [\sigma_{ji}] = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{11} & \sigma_{12} & \dots & \sigma_{1n} \\ \sigma_{21} & \sigma_{22} & \dots & \sigma_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \sigma_{n1} & \sigma_{n2} & \dots & \sigma_{nn} \end{bmatrix}$$
foreign supply import use

The key difference between matrices Σ and Γ is that while the latter has the same group of industries on both dimensions, the former has the columns representing the

¹⁷The input-output matrix is called the matrix of technical coefficients in this literature.

¹⁸See, for instance, the recent literature on production networks sparked by Carvalho (2010) and Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012) and surveyed by Carvalho and Tahbaz-Salehi (2019).

domestic (importing) and the rows the foreign (exporting) industries. Therefore, the import matrix is not a proper input-output matrix and cannot be considered in the network analysis presented in Section 2.6.

Sales shares

An important parameter which aids significantly in the derivations and analysis is not present in the main formulae of the model. It is industry *i*'s sales share on GDP, or Domar (Domar, 1961) weight, defined as *i*'s nominal sales p_iq_i over aggregate output.

$$\mu_i = \frac{p_i q_i}{Y} \tag{3.20}$$

Using the market clearing condition of Equation (3.2) in nominal terms and substituting in for Equations (3.20), (3.11) and (3.13) leads to an expression of μ_i solely in terms of parameters, i.e. $\mu_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij} \mu_j + \beta_i$. Which in matrix form translates to:¹⁹

$$\mu = \left[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}\right]^{-1} \beta \tag{3.21}$$

Matrix $[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}]^{-1}$ is known as the *Leontief inverse*.²⁰ The main difference between the input-output matrix $\mathbf{\Gamma}$ and the Leontief inverse is that the former only considers the direct or first-order connections between each pair of industries while the latter takes into account all direct and indirect linkages.

Moreover, the 'origin-destination' orientation of the Γ matrix as presented in Section 2.3 results in the Leontief inverse capturing the transactions along the *down-stream* chains, i.e. from the seller's perspective, on the rows and the *upstream* chains, i.e. from the buyer's perspective, on the columns.²¹ Anticipating some of the discus-

¹⁹In full:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mu_1 \\ \mu_2 \\ \vdots \\ \mu_n \end{bmatrix} = \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{12} & \dots & \gamma_{1n} \\ \gamma_{21} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{n1} & \gamma_{n2} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{bmatrix}}_{\text{Summing over destinations}} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \mu_1 \\ \mu_2 \\ \vdots \\ \mu_n \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \beta_2 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_n \end{bmatrix}$$

²⁰Notice that having the input-output matrix with the input use along the rows and input supply along the columns, as in the literature on production networks surveyed by Carvalho and Tahbaz-Salehi (2019), would lead to the Leontief inverse being written as $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$, where Γ' is the transpose of Γ . ²¹A simple way of demonstrating this property, done by Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016),

²¹A simple way of demonstrating this property, done by Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016), is to represent the Leontief-inverse as the sum of an infinite geometric series then post-multiply it by a vector of ones. Truncating the series at its first-order term leads to the vector of (weighted) out-degrees

sion presented in Section 2.6, the size of each industry *i* vis-à-vis the GDP given by μ_i is a downward centrality measure, reflecting the weight of its intermediate inputs on all other industries' final good sales.

2.4 Analytical results and tools

Equilibrium solutions

Despite the richness of the model, closed-form solutions are derivable for all endogenous variables. I present in the main text only the solution for the gross output of the industries, which is the most relevant for the subsequent analysis. All the remaining solutions and derivations are available in Appendix 3.A.

Proposition 3.1 (Industry output) The output of each industry i in equilibrium reads:

$$\log q_{i} = \log K \left[\sigma_{i}\alpha + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\alpha_{i}\right] \\ + \log E \left[\sigma_{i}(1 - \alpha) + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i})\right] \\ + \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i} - (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log \left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i}\mu_{i}\right) \\ -\sigma_{i} \left[\alpha \log \alpha + (1 - \alpha) \log \left(1 - \alpha\right)\right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\alpha_{i}(\log \alpha_{i} - \log \alpha) \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i})(\log(1 - \alpha_{i}) - \log(1 - \alpha)) \\ +\sigma_{i}\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\left[\alpha_{i}\log\alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i})\log(1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\right]}{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \\ +\sigma_{i}\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log\gamma_{ji}\right] \\ +\sigma_{i}\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\log\beta_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\sigma_{ji}\log\overline{p}_{j}\right] \\ +(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log\gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^{n}\sigma_{ji}\log\sigma_{ji} \\ -\sum_{j=1}^{n}\sigma_{ji}\log\overline{p}_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log\mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log q_{j}$$
(3.22)

Analogously to the equilibrium industry output in a model without trade, as the one developed in Chapter 2, the appearance of the term $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$ on the right-hand side of this equation reveals how each industry's output is recursively related to all other's and makes explicit the model's supply-side characteristic. In this framework,

$$\begin{bmatrix} I - \Gamma \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \mathbf{1} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Gamma^k \right) \mathbf{1} = \left(I + \Gamma + \Gamma^2 + \dots \right) \mathbf{1} \\ \approx \begin{bmatrix} I + \Gamma \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} = \mathbf{1} + \gamma^{\text{out}}$$

 $[\]gamma^{out}$, which is a measure of downstream influence (further presented in Section 2.6):

The approximation is rather coarse and does not hold numerically, but it is helpful in the visualisation of the direction of the effects captured by the typical Leontief inverse premultiplying a vector.

goods are produced not responding to the demand but to the availability of resources: other industry's output j matters to the extend that it is used as input by industry i.

Corollary 3.1 (Vector of industry output) The complete solution for the industry output can only be obtained in matrix form. Let $q_i = \log q_i$ and the *i*th row of vector **V** be composed of all the constant terms of (3.22) —those prior to $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$ —such that vector q reads:

$$\mathbf{q} = \left[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}'\right]^{-1} \mathbf{V} \tag{3.23}$$

Matrix $[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1}$ in Equation (3.23) summarises all the industries' interactions and is key in the study of the transmission of exogenous shocks. It is essential to the toolkit developed in this chapter and is discussed in the Section 2.4. The vector \mathbf{V} contains all the exogenous variables and parameters other than the input shares.

Leontief-inverse transposed

As discussed in Chapter 2, matrix $[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1}$ in Equation (3.23) is identical to the Leontief inverse, except for having the input-output matrix transposed. But this change is not trivial, as it makes its rows capturing the input use instead of the input sales of each industry. In other words, having the input-output transpose matrix Γ' captures the *upstream* or buyers' chains on the rows. Algebraically, the Leontief-inverse transposed is trivially the transpose of the Leontief-inverse, i.e. $[I - \Gamma^T]^{-1} = [[I - \Gamma]^{-1}]^T$. For this reason, I define matrix $[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1}$ the Leontief-inverse transposed.

Definition 3.5 (Leontief-inverse transposed) $Matrix [\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1}$ is defined as the Leontiefinverse transposed. Each element v_{ij} of it represents the overall relevance of the input of industry *j* in the production technology of industry *i*.

In the Leontief-inverse transposed, the elements portray how much each industry relies on every other industry's inputs, while each element of the original Leontief inverse represents how important each industry is as a supplier to every other industry. In that way, v_{ij} captures all the direct and indirect transactions of each input j over the supply chain of each good i.

Output effect of a labour supply shock

The full model's prediction for the effects on the output of an industry are given by the first derivative of its equilibrium solution with respect to the shocked variable. It follows from Corollary 3.1 that this differentiation is rather straightforward.

Corollary 3.2 (Output effect of a labour shock) The vector of the effect of a labour supply shock on the real output of the industries in the full model is given by the product of the Leontief-inverse transposed and a 'shock vector'.²²

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1 - \sigma_1)(1 - \alpha_1) + \sigma_1(1 - \alpha) \\ (1 - \gamma_2 - \sigma_2)(1 - \alpha_2) + \sigma_2(1 - \alpha) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n - \sigma_n)(1 - \alpha_n) + \sigma_n(1 - \alpha) \end{bmatrix}$$
(full_ES)
input-output linkages industry-specific impacts

The input-output linkages —in the form of the Leontief-inverse transposed — modulates how the industry-specific effects of every industry j affects each industry i. Each row of the shock vector represents industry j's isolated labour shock impact. It consists of its 'broad' labour share $(1 - \gamma_j - \sigma_j)(1 - \alpha_j)$ plus its total import share σ_j times the labour shock impact on GDP —the aggregate labour share $(1 - \alpha)$.²³ Both terms highlight the supply-side nature of the model, in which output directly depends on the quantity of factor and inputs available in the economy.

Rearranging terms to get $(1 - \gamma_j)(1 - \alpha_j) + \sigma_j[(1 - \alpha) - (1 - \alpha_j)]$ shows how the shock averages out across industries. The first term combined with the Leontief-inverse transposed results in the *linkage weights* defined in Chapter 2. These elements modulate the industry-specific shocks, giving more or less weight to the industries j on which i relies. Moreover, they explain how the output effect in each industry can be

²²This result and the one in Corollary 3.5 are closely related to Equation (6) of Acemoglu, Akcigit, and Kerr (2016). Here too, the shocks are 'supply-side' and in a model with Cobb-Douglas production functions they present only downstream effects, i.e. they pass on from a supplier to its consuming industry and so on. For this reason, the Leontief inverse premultiplying the 'shock vector' presents a 'upstream orientation'. In other words, to capture how downstream effects eventually impact each industry one need an upstream measure that would capture how much each industry rely on the inputs of all others. This observation is analogue to Equation (13) of Acemoglu, Akcigit, and Kerr (2016).

²³Algebraically, d_{ji} can be expressed in terms of q_j , but f_{ji} remains as a function of Y (see respectively Equations (3.48) and Equation (3.49) in the Appendix). This happens because of the exogeneity of international prices, which makes f_{ji} vary with GDP Y while p_iq_i and p_jd_{ji} varies with Y (see Equations (3.61) and (3.54) in the Appendix).

seen and a weighted average of all the labour shares of the supplier industries. Finally, the second term depicts the rebalancing of the aggregate impact transmitted via σ_j to labour-intensive $[(1 - \alpha) < (1 - \alpha_j)]$ and to capital-intensive $[(1 - \alpha) > (1 - \alpha_j)]$ industries.

In contrast, a model without either input-output linkages or imported inputs — which I call here Auxiliary 0 or Aux0 for short— predicts that each industry output would increase the equivalent of its share of labour.

Corollary 3.3 (Output effect Aux0 model) In the Auxiliary 0 model, the effect of a labour supply shock on the real output of the industries is proportional to their affected 'narrow' labour shares, such that:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_i}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (1 - \alpha_i) \tag{Aux0}_{ES}$$

Finally, an input-output model ignoring international trade like the one on Chapter 2 —which I call here Auxiliary NT or AuxNT for short— would predict that the effect of the labour shock on the output of the industries is a combination of the input shares γ_i and the labour shares $(1 - \alpha_i)$ as given below.

Corollary 3.4 (Output effect AuxNT model) In the Auxiliary NT model, the vector of the effect of labour supply shock on the real output of the industries is given by the product of the Leontief-inverse transposed and a 'shock vector' comprised of the 'broad' labour shares of each industry *i*, such that:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d \log q_1}{d \log E} \\ \frac{d \log q_2}{d \log E} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{d \log q_n}{d \log E} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1)(1 - \alpha_1) \\ (1 - \gamma_2)(1 - \alpha_2) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n)(1 - \alpha_n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(AuxNT_{ES})

Output effect of an import price shock

The effect of a rise in the price of an import good z on the real output of the industries is a combination of the Leontief-inverse transposed and a shock vector comprised of aggregate and industry-specific effects.
Corollary 3.5 (Output effect of an import price shock) The vector of the effect of an import price \bar{p}_z shock on the real output of the industries q_i in the full model are given by the product of the Leontief-inverse transposed and a 'shock vector'.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} -\sigma_{z1} - \sigma_1 \frac{M_z}{C} \\ -\sigma_{z2} - \sigma_2 \frac{M_z}{C} \\ \vdots \\ -\sigma_{zn} - \sigma_n \frac{M_z}{C} \end{bmatrix}$$
(full_{pz})

input-output linkages industry-specific impacts

The first term of the shock vector σ_{zi} is simply the direct effect of the price increase, given by its respective intensity in each industry. The second term $-\sigma_i \frac{M_z}{C}$, however, reflects the aggregate impact on industry *i* of an increase in the price of the imported input *z*. The smaller aggregate level of imports affects every industry to the extent of their respective total share of imports σ_i . The model being strictly supply-side, where the reduced availability of inputs lowers every industry output even though good prices fall more than industry output.²⁴

In contrast, a trade model without input-output linkages —which I call here Auxiliary NIO or AuxNIO for short— predicts that each industry would be affected by the correspondent line of the 'shock vector':

Corollary 3.6 (Output effect AuxNIO model) In the Auxiliary NIO model, the effect of an import price shock on the real output of the industries is solely given by their direct and aggregate impact:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d \log q_1}{d \log \bar{p}_z} \\ \frac{d \log q_2}{d \log \bar{p}_z} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{d \log q_n}{d \log \bar{p}_z} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\sigma_{z1} - \sigma_1 \frac{M_z}{C} \\ -\sigma_{z2} - \sigma_2 \frac{M_z}{C} \\ \vdots \\ -\sigma_{zn} - \sigma_n \frac{M_z}{C} \end{bmatrix}$$
(AuxNIO_{pz})

Unlike in the industry output effect of labour shock, the vector of industry-specific impacts deriving from the import price shock has no terms deriving from domestic input use γ_{ji} . Therefore, the vector of industry output effect in the model without input-output linkages are identical to the shock vector resulting from the full model.

²⁴Equation (3.68) in the Appendix shows how the production of intermediate good of industry j falls as much as its output q_j while Equation (3.70) shows that the price of each good.

2.5 Investigating the transmission via input-output linkages

The main takeaway of the theoretical analysis presented so far is that in the full model the effect of a labour or import price shock on the output of an industry comprises of the Leontief-inverse transposed post-multiplying a 'shock' vector of the isolated impact on each industry. Since the latter applies equally to every industry, what really determines the varying impact across industries in the full model is the former.

Matrix $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ not only contains the direct purchases from each industry to its supplier but also encloses all chains of transactions among the industries. I investigate how the first layers of the Leontief inverse relates to an industry's output impact by means of studying its domestic intermediate goods usage in Section 2.5. I then calculate and explore truncations of the shocks' approximation in Section 2.5 to capture the importance of higher order of interactions in the transmission across industries.

First-order linkage effects: direct input purchases

As discussed in Chapter 2, a model ignoring intraindustry connections tend to underestimate the output impact of a labour shock to more labour intense industries and overestimates it for less intense ones. I examine the intuitive idea that the averaging out of the impacts across industries may result from their direct transactions by constructing the weighted average of the factor intensity of the intermediate input basket of the industries.²⁵

The intermediate input bundle of an industry is composed by goods with different factor intensity. I calculate the *network-adjusted*²⁶ of the the weighted average of the labour content of the input basket of a buying industry *i* by taking each producer *j*'s labour intensity $(1 - \alpha_j)$ and weighting it by the relative amount of good *j* used by *i* $(p_j d_{ji} / \sum_j p_j d_{ji} = \gamma_{ji} / \gamma_i)$.

Definition 3.6 (Network-adjusted labour content) The network-adjusted labour in-

²⁵In case one wonders, Corollary 3.2 posits that the labour-intensity of imports is not relevant for the impact of a labour supply shock on output because only the total shares σ_i matters for the effect on output given by Equation (full_{ES}).

²⁶The term is borrowed from Baqaee (2015). Notice, however, that his measure considers all the levels of interactions while I am focusing here on the direct supplier-buyer transactions. The higher-orders are considered in this chapter by Equations (full_{ES}) and (full_{pz}), and in Section 2.5.

tensity of the input purchases of industry i is defined as:

$$LC_{i} = \sum_{j} (1 - \alpha_{j}) \left(\frac{\gamma_{ji}}{\gamma_{i}}\right)$$
(LC)

Likewise, I assess how much each industry i indirectly relies on a given import good z by computing the average import shares of every supplier industry j weighted by the intermediate input shares of buying industry i. In that way, I account of the relative importance of imported input z to all the direct suppliers of industry i.

Definition 3.7 (Import content) *The network-adjusted intensity of imports of good z in the input purchases of industry i is defined as:*

$$IC_{zi} = \sum_{j} \sigma_{zj} \left(\frac{\gamma_{ji}}{\gamma_i}\right) \tag{IC}$$

I show the results of this analysis in the empirical part. The labour content of the input basket of the industries is presented and discussed in Section 4.1, while the respective analysis for the import good is done in Section 4.2.

Higher-order linkage effects: shocks' approximations

As developed in Chapter 2, the power series approximation of the Leontief-inverse transposed is used to investigate the relevance of the different orders of transactions in explaining the total effect of the shocks.²⁷ Equation (3.24) depicts this relationship:

$$\left[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}'\right]^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} {\mathbf{\Gamma}'}^k = \mathbf{I} + {\mathbf{\Gamma}'} + {\mathbf{\Gamma}'}^2 + {\mathbf{\Gamma}'}^3 + \dots$$
(3.24)

Each order of approximation can be interpreted as the transactions occurring at the correspondent number of steps in the chain, i.e. from no intermediate input purchases (zeroth order), passing by direct transactions with input suppliers (first order), to those links more indirectly relating a pair of industries (higher orders). For instance, the second order of approximation includes all cases in which an industry g sells to j which then sell to an industry i.

²⁷For more details about the power series approximation of the Leontief inverse, see Section 2.4 of Miller and Blair (2009).

To facilitate the analysis, I calculate the approximations for the total impact of the shocks on industry output. The terms associated with I stand for the 'initial' effects, matrix Γ' encompasses the 'direct' effects while the remaining terms of higher power are associated with the 'indirect' effects.²⁸

The computations for the labour shock and the import price shock only differ by the 'shock' vector, i.e. the term post-multiplying the Leontief-inverse transposed in Equations (full_{*ES*}) and (full_{*pz*}), respectively. The equations below illustrate the first three orders of approximation for the import price shock:

• Zeroth-order approximation

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d \log q_1}{d \log pz} \\ \frac{d \log q_2}{d \log pz} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{d \log q_n}{d \log pz} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\sigma_1 \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z1} \\ -\sigma_2 \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z2} \\ \vdots \\ -\sigma_n \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{zn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(Appx₀)

• First-order approximation

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log pz} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log pz} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log pz} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I + \Gamma' \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} -\sigma_1 \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z1} \\ -\sigma_2 \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z2} \\ \vdots \\ -\sigma_n \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{zn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(Appx₁)

• Second-order approximation

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d \log q_1}{d \log pz} \\ \frac{d \log q_2}{d \log pz} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{d \log q_n}{d \log pz} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I + \Gamma' + \Gamma'^2 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} -\sigma_1 \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z1} \\ -\sigma_2 \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z2} \\ \vdots \\ -\sigma_n \frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{zn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(Appx₂)

The zeroth order of approximation can be interpreted as an analogue to the impact predicted by the model without input-output linkages.²⁹ The first-order approximation includes the direct transactions only, from an industry to its suppliers. Each

²⁸Terminology follows Miller and Blair (2009), Section 6.2.

²⁹In the case of the labour shock, it differs by the total share of factors $(1 - \gamma_i)$ multiplying each industry's labour share in the 'shock' vector.

subsequent order includes a set of transactions one step farther than the preceding. Moreover, since the approximations are for the actual impact on output, the results will vary even though the matrices are the same in both cases.

In Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of the empirical analysis, I recast matrix $[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1}$ into the sum of powers of matrix $\mathbf{\Gamma}'$ times the respective shock vectors to investigate the relative importance to an industry of its indirect input transactions. The results confirm that industries' higher-order connections matter in explaining the input-output linkages, especially for industries which has little first-order transactions.

2.6 Networks: centrality and connectivity

I resort to concepts of network theory to compare the production structure of different countries and assess the relevance of each imported intermediate good. Before introducing the notions I use in this chapter, it is worth setting up the environment in which those apply.

In particular, the input-output matrix Γ is interpreted as the adjacent matrix of a directed weighted network, whose nodes are the *n* industries and the edges are directed from seller *i* to buyer *j* and weighted by their nominal shares on the buyer's total sales³⁰ γ_{ij} . Notice that this representation does not apply to the foreign matrix Σ , as the nodes would overlay domestic and foreign industries rendering the direction of the edges meaningless.

Centrality measures of domestic industries

Industries are connected to others along *upstream* chains of input use and also via the *downstream* chains of input sales. The connections with suppliers are usually called *backward linkages* while those with clients are classified as *upward linkages* in input-output economics. Measures that quantify these 'economic connectivity' of the industries are used to assess their relative importance in the production network. Industries with larger upward linkages are said to be more 'beneficial' while those with larger downward linkages are more 'essential' to the economy.³¹

The simplest form of measuring the strength of backward linkages is the total input

³⁰Under perfect competition and Pareto-efficiency, total costs equal total sales.

³¹See Section 12.2 of Miller and Blair (2009)'s textbook for a full characterization of these measures.

share γ_i of industry *i* featuring in Equation (3.1). In network analysis, this measure is called "weighted in-degrees". Being the sum of elements in the *i*th column of matrix Γ , it considers only the direct connections. Moreover, since each γ_i includes industry *i*'s own consumption γ_{ii} —and these values tend to be significant in the dataset studied in this chapter—, this is not as much a measure of upstream connectivity as it is a measure of overall reliance on intermediate inputs. The same is true for the "weighted out-degrees", which is defined as the sum of intermediate inputs sold by industry *i*, i.e. $\gamma_i^{out} = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij}$. This measure corresponds to the relative importance of industry *i*'s output as an intermediate input in the production network. It is equal to the sum of elements in the *j*th row of matrix Γ .

To capture the indirect or higher order connections within the production network, a centrality measure has to incorporate the Leontief-inverse matrix. The vector μ given by Equation (3.21) portrays the terms known as the 'input-output multipliers' of each industry. It traces the output response of all industries to an shock in a particular industry.³² Under certain assumptions, the input-output multipliers can be related to the Bonacich centrality measure (Bonacich, 1987).³³

I take a slightly different approach to accommodate with the model's settings. The Katz–Bonacich centrality measure use as a reference rod for the industries comprises of an infinite power sum of the adjacent matrix g matrix (with origin in rows and destinations in columns), where an exponent l (also call length) corresponds to the l-order connection between nodes. It follows closely the network literature (Bloch, Jackson, and Tebaldi, 2016) and requires no assumptions.³⁴ This centrality measure is essentially "downstream" since it is based on the notion of that the "prestige" or "influence" of node is rendered as the number of walks emanating from it to its neigh-

³²It is easy to see that having the real variables instead of the shares in Equation (3.21) leads to the solution for industry output in input-output activity analysis: $\mathbf{q} = [\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}]^{-1}\mathbf{y}$. It depicts how much each industry has to produce to generate a given vector of domestic final demand and exports. Thus, the Leontief inverse encompasses the full range of intermediate inputs embodied in the production of a final good.

³³This analogy is first presented by Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012). In the paper, the output function attributes a weight α to the unique factor of production —labour— leaving $(1-\alpha)$ as the total share of intermediate inputs in the economy. Additionally, the final goods sales shares β_i are assumed identical —equal to 1/n— across sectors, and the input-output matrix is transposed (row destinations, columns origins). Carvalho (2014) has other notations, but makes essentially the same assumptions as Acemoglu, Carvalho, Ozdaglar, and Tahbaz-Salehi (2012) and calls the measure "Katz–Bonacich eigenvector centrality", even though these measures are not interchangeable. Given their assumptions, the resulting expression for the sales or "influence" vector looks different, but it is essentially the same as in Baqaee and Farhi (2019) and in Equation (3.21).

³⁴In particular, there is no need for a discounting factor since the elements of the Γ matrix are significantly below one, so that the decay of the geometric series is very fast.

bours. The expression for the standard Katz–Bonacich centrality measure without discounting reads:

$$\mathbf{c}^{KB}(\mathbf{\Gamma}) = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{\Gamma}^{l} \mathbf{1} = [\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}]^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma} \mathbf{1}$$
(3.25)

Where 1 is the vector of ones. By using this concept one can easily transpose matrix Γ and get an upstream centrality measure, gauging which industries are more reliant on domestic intermediate inputs.

Definition 3.8 (Upstream Katz-Bonacich) *The upstream version of the Katz–Bonacich centrality measure of industry i is defined as:*

$$\mathbf{c}^{KBU}(\mathbf{\Gamma}') = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{\Gamma}'^{l} \mathbf{1} = \left[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}'\right]^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma}' \mathbf{1}$$
(KBU)

Notice that $\Gamma 1$ stands for the first term of the infinite sum and corresponds to the vector of the weighted out-degrees in the downstream version and to the vector of weighted in-degrees in the upstream one. Mathematically, the vector resulting of the downstream version with Γ has the summation of the input shares over destinations, i.e. $\sum_i \gamma_{ji}$ whilst the one of the upstream version with Γ' has the summation over origins, i.e. $\sum_i \gamma_{ji}$.

Centrality measures for imported goods

Summing the shares for each import j over all buying industries i, I get σ_j^{out} , a foreign equivalent to the outdegree centrality γ_j^{out} for domestic goods. It measures the overall relevance of each imported good for domestic industries, regardless of their size and position in the production network.

Definition 3.9 (Import outdegrees) The outdegree centrality measure of an imported good j reads:

$$\sigma_j^{out} = \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \tag{3.26}$$

Alternatively, the importance of each imported good can be determined by how central the industries which rely the most on it are. To construct this measure, I postmultiply the import shares given in matrix Σ by the downstream Katz-Bonacich centrality vector $\mathbf{c}^{KB}(\Gamma)$, as given by Equation 3.25. **Definition 3.10** (Imports centrality) The centrality measure of imported goods reads.³⁵

$$\mathbf{c}^M = \mathbf{\Sigma} \cdot \mathbf{c}^{KB}(\mathbf{\Gamma}) \tag{3.27}$$

The downstream centrality measures how much each industry is important as a domestic seller of intermediate goods. By using this measure in this calculation I am harnessing the industries which transmit the import price shock the most through the production chain.³⁶

Connectivity

Three measures of connectivity are chosen to evaluate the countries' production networks. These are used in Section 3.1 to assist in selecting the pair of economies the most and the least interconnected in the dataset.

The leading measure is *density*, as it captures the fraction of existing connections to all $n \times n$ possible connections. Weights are ignored and the threshold of $\gamma_{ij} > 0.01$ is chosen to stablish a connection, following Carvalho (2014).³⁷

The *distance* or characteristic path length conveys the average smallest path between any two nodes.³⁸ A path is defined as the collection of edges from one node to another, where intermediate nodes appear only once. Departing from Carvalho (2014), the calculation of the characteristic path length here includes the edge weights.³⁹ The weighted measures of distance and diameter consider the length of two nodes as inversely related to their weights γ_{ij} . In other words, two industries that have a high volume of transactions are considered as closer than other pair whose volume is small. The distance matrix can be computed using the reciprocal or the negative logarithm function; I choose the latter for readability of the plots.

³⁵In full:

$$\begin{bmatrix} c_1^M \\ c_2^M \\ \vdots \\ c_n^M \end{bmatrix} = \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{11} & \sigma_{12} & \dots & \sigma_{1n} \\ \sigma_{21} & \sigma_{22} & \dots & \sigma_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \sigma_{n1} & \sigma_{n2} & \dots & \sigma_{nn} \end{bmatrix}}_{\text{Summing over destinations}} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} c_1^{KB} \\ c_2^{KB} \\ \vdots \\ c_n^{KB} \end{bmatrix}$$

³⁶If I used the upstream centrality, I would be assessing how relevant each imported good weighting the importing industries by their direct and indirect importance as buyers of domestic input.

³⁷The MATLAB coding was adapted from his, which is available at Carvalho (2019).

³⁸Related to the distance, the *diameter* measure is a somewhat less comprehensive, as it singles out the largest smallest path connecting each pair of nodes. For completeness, I present the cross-countries values for this measure in Figure

³⁹Theory and MATLAB functions from Sporns and Rubinov (2020).

3 Quantitative analysis

This section presents the main points regarding the methods supporting the empirical analysis. I start by presenting a cross-country assessment of the connectivity of production networks of WIOD in Section 3.1, which lays the ground for selecting Ireland and Korea as the pair with contrasting characteristics. Then, in Section 3.2, I highlight the fundamental steps in the data calibration and implementation of the models. Finally, in Section 3.3, I build up the profile of Ireland and Korea for the key parameters affecting the analysis and the production structure of their industries.

3.1 Cross-country production structures

I use the WIOD to survey the countries in terms of their production networks —in Section 3.1— and aggregate domestic input production and imported intermediate good use —in Section 3.1. The parameters, i.e. the nominal shares, are calculated with the values as available in the data. The WIOD and variables used are described in Appendix 3.B.⁴⁰

To allow for a thorough understanding of the role of input-output linkages and imported input reliance in the shocks' transmission, the countries selected for the empirical analysis must have contrasting production networks. Ideally, to explore the full extent of the developed framework, the contrast would include differences in their use of imports.

Connectivity of production networks across countries

Using the domestic input-output matrix computed directly from the WIOD raw values to build the production networks of the countries —as described in Section 2.6— I calculate the measures of connectivity presented in Section 2.6.

As Figure 3.2 shows, these measures vary considerably for the countries of the WIOD sample. I highlight in the plots the economies which figure among the ten most (in light grey) and least interconnected (in dark grey) according to the rankings of both connectivity measures.⁴¹ Only six countries appear in the top-10 least connected,

⁴⁰Table 3.B.1 in the Appendix lists the countries acronyms and respective names.

⁴¹Table 3.B.3 ranks the ten most and least connected economies according to the density and distance

namely: Luxembourg, Ireland, Lithuania, Malta, Cyprus and Mexico. Coincidently, another six countries figure in the top-10 most connected, namely: Italy, South Korea, China, United States, Australia and Japan.



(a) Density: the number of non-zero ($\gamma_{ij} > 1\%$) connections over 56×56



(b) Distance: the average shortest path length in the network

The bars highlighted correspond to the countries figuring in the top-10 rankings of both density and distance. The measures are described in Section 2.6. The input-output matrix used to calculate these measures is constructed using the nominal values of domestic input use and gross output of each of the 56 industries of the 43 countries of the WIOD sample.

Figure 3.2: Network connectivity of the WIOD countries

Aggregate input and import shares

The aggregate domestic intermediate goods production varies roughly from 40% to 60% of the gross output for the WIOD countries. Interestingly, even though the decay

measures.

of the values plotted in Figure 3.3a has a shape similar to those of Figure 3.2, the position taken by the countries highlighted is remarkably dissimilar. One could expect that countries with more connected production networks would also present larger shares of intermediate inputs in gross output, but this is not the case.



(a) Intermediate input shares: domestic inputs over gross output



(b) Import shares: imported inputs over gross output

The aggregate shares of input use and intermediate imports are calculated using the nominal values as available in WIOD. Network connectivity derives from Table 3.B.3.

Figure 3.3: Input and import shares of WIOD countries versus network connectivity

The input shares surpass 60% in Luxembourg and Malta, for instance, even though these countries figure among those with the most sparse networks. The US is another extreme example, with an aggregate input share just above 40% and having one of the most connected domestic production networks. These findings reinforce the importance of using network measures to assess the relevance of input-output linkages in the propagation of shocks.

The relevance of aggregate imports in gross output, on the other hand, is more asymmetrical and rather correlated to network connectivity. As Figure 3.3b shows, the shares vary from below 5% to above 40% across countries.⁴² Moreover, economies more reliant on imports seem to be those presenting more sparse domestic networks, in general, while the opposite is true for those with the smallest aggregate import shares.

Among the countries highlighted in Figure 3.2, Ireland and Korea stand out as interesting study cases since they not only have dissimilar network connectivity but also fairly contrasting total imports use (of 32% and 13%, respectively). Notwithstanding, the pair present reasonably large input shares, indicating that they possess considerable domestic input production.⁴³

3.2 Calibration and implementation of the models

The data calibration is performed in MATLAB where the models are implemented.⁴⁴ All share parameters of the full model are computed following the formulae presented in Section 2. The industry productivity parameters A_i are calculated as the level required to match the output computed by the model to the data values in each industry.

For Auxiliary 0, I assume that all the input shares γ_{ji} and import shares σ_{ji} equal zero. This assumption is harmless to the analysis since I only study the industry output effect as given by Equation (Aux0_{ES}) and re-estimating the Aux0 would produce the same values of α_i . The reason for that is that the computation of the value added is unchanged across all the models used in this chapter. As Definition 3.3 for the narrow factor shares states, this is all that counts in the computation of these parameters. Auxiliary NT distinguishes itself from the full model by taking the import shares σ_{ji}

⁴²Appendix 3.B.2 includes the comparison of all countries': imports and exports; value-added; intermediate output production; gross output; input and factor usage; and import usage.

⁴³Additionally, both economies can be considered "small" in international terms. As Figure 3.B.10 in the Appendix shows, Korean gross output (nominal US dollars 2014) accounts for only 2.5% of the total world value, while Ireland is even smaller, with a gross output of 0.4% of the total. Australia could also be a good candidate exemplar of a connected economy relying little on imports. However, for reasons discussed in Appendix 3.B.4, the setting of the model require the merging of industries, depending on the country's data. Korea and Ireland happen to impose the smallest industry loss while keeping the merging within the same broad groups of the ISIC, Rev. 4 classification.

⁴⁴Appendix 3.B.4 presents the details on how the variables of the dataset are constructed.

as null while the Auxiliary NIO model sets the input shares γ_{ji} to zero. In the empirical analysis of Section 4, I choose for simplicity and consistency to use the remaining parameters as estimated under the premisses of the full model. This means that the values for γ_{ji} in Auxiliary NT and those for σ_{ji} in Auxiliary NIO are underestimated.

If I were to do a calibration exercise for the auxiliary models, I would have to reestimate the parameters from scratch. This would produce smaller industry output for the auxiliary models.⁴⁵ This would occur because in the computation of the input γ_{ji} [Equation (3.11)] and import shares σ_{ji} [Equation (3.12)], I would consider smaller denominators. The greater the omitted variable corresponding to the nullified share, the larger would be the re-estimated parameter and, therefore, the greater the underestimation produced by assuming it to be equal to that produced by the full model.

3.3 In-depth analysis: Ireland and Korea

Main parameters and input-output matrices

On average, South Korean industries are more labour-intensive than the Irish (Figure 3.4a), even though the number of capital-intensive industries is greater in Korea than in Ireland. In terms of representativity in final sales (Figure 3.4b), the European country has fewer industries with Domar shares above 5% than the Asian country.

The higher connectivity of the South Korean industry network is summarised by the higher values of total (domestic) intermediate usage, given by the γ_i shares (Figure 3.4c). Regarding the imports of inputs, labour-intensive industries present the highest σ_i shares in Ireland while the reverse is true in South Korea (Figure 3.4d).

⁴⁵In the steps described in Appendix 3.B.4, the formulae for the industry gross output of the auxiliary models would be replaced by: (i) $p_i^g q_i^g = VA_i^g + II_i^{in,g}$ for AuxNT; and (ii) $p_i^g q_i^g = VA_i^g + M_i^g$ for AuxNIO.



Note: vertical lines show national labour-intensity averages. Labour shares refer to the narrow factor shares α_i given by Equation (3.17). The sales shares μ_i are defined by Equation (3.20). Input shares γ_i and import shares σ_i are given by Equations (3.11) and (3.12), respectively. Values calculated using calibrated data as described in Section 3.2 and Appendix 3.B.4.



Figures 3.5a and 3.5b plot the domestic input-output structure of the pair of countries while Figures 3.5c and 3.5d show their matrix of imported inputs use. Noticeably, South Korea presents a much more connected production network than Ireland, which relies much more on imported inputs than Korea.



Note: the matrices are defined in Sections 2.3 and 2.3, respectively. The values are calculated using calibrated data. Plots 3.5a and 3.5b register that Korea has a much denser production network while plots 3.5c and 3.5d confirm that Ireland relies much more on imported inputs.

Figure 3.5: Domestic input-output linkages (matrix Γ) and industry reliance on imported inputs (matrix Σ) for Ireland and Korea

Centrality measures for domestic industries

The upstream Katz-Bonacich centrality measure (Definition 3.8) can be seen as an alternative way of assessing which industries would be the most impacted by the shocks studied in this chapter. This occurs because both solutions for the industry output changes following the labour shock (Corollary 3.2) and the import price shock (Corollary 3.5) have a form similar to the measure: the Leontief-inverse transposed premultiplying a vector.

Figure 3.6 plots the upstream centrality of the industries grouped by factor intensity. Notice that the values across countries are comparable since they are made up of the input shares, which have the same scale for any country. The higher connectivity of the Korean production network translates into higher centrality measures in general when compared to Ireland. Except for a few outliers, there is little difference between the capital- and labour-intensive groups in Ireland, while capital-intensive industries seem to be slightly more dependant on the domestic industry network than the labour-intensive ones.⁴⁶



Note: the measures are calculated using calibrated data and the formula in Equation (KBU).

Figure 3.6: Domestic network: upstream centralities

Centrality measures for imported goods

An encompassing way of studying the importance of an imported good to an economy is via the centrality measures presented in Section 2.6. Figure 3.7 plots the outdegree centrality measure σ_j^{out} for all imported goods in both countries.⁴⁷ Industry A-B is the single outlier in Korea, while also ranking high (third place) in Ireland.

Figure 3.8 plots the import goods ranked by their downstream importance to the production network.⁴⁸ Once more, industry A-B leads the ranking in Korea whilst occupies the forth place in Ireland.

⁴⁶For completeness, the downstream Katz–Bonacich centralities are plotted in Figure 3.B.11 in the Appendix, as it is part of the centrality measure for imported goods (Definition 3.10). The plot shows a similar pattern to Figure 3.6. The outliers in Korea, however, are not the same as those given by the upstream measures, reinforcing that the most dependable industry to the network tends to be other than the most reliant on the other industries. In particular, capital-intensive industries are much more relevant as suppliers (average downstream centrality of 1.41 versus 0.78) while labour-intensive industries rely slightly more on domestic inputs (average upstream centrality of 0.98 versus 0.90).

⁴⁷The domestic outdegree centrality γ_j^{out} is plotted in Figure 3.B.12 of the Appendix for completeness. ⁴⁸Figure 3.B.13 plots values of the version using the upstream Katz-Bonacich measure for completeness.



Note: the measures are calculated using calibrated data and the formula in Equation (3.26).



Figure 3.7: Outdegree centralities of imported goods

Note: the measures are calculated using calibrated data and the formula in Equation (3.27).

Figure 3.8: Downstream centralities of imported goods

In summary, the distribution of the values is not continuous in both countries, with five goods having a much higher relevance compared to all others. Imported intermediate inputs from the group of industries A-B is the only one appearing in the top-5 of both countries and, for this reason, it is the one selected to receive the one-percent positive shock in the counterfactual exercise.⁴⁹ In what follows z = 1 representing the group of industries A-B as presented in Table 3.B.4.

⁴⁹Appendix 3.B.6 provides a broader assessment of how the imported good A-B was selected.

4 Empirical analysis

4.1 Counterfactual #1: a labour shock

As developed in Chapter 2, the labour shares are not a sufficient statistic to predict the industry output changes following a labour supply shock. The use of inputs, which I now extend to imported goods, must be considered. Figure 3.9 plots the models' predictions versus the labour shares. In both countries, the expected pattern of angular scattering is seen: in the full model, more (less) labour-intensive industries grow less (more) than predicted by Aux0 and AuxNT. The more the features not present in the alternative models matter, the flatter is the fit line of the full model.

Given that the Irish production network is more sparse than the Korean, one would expect that ignoring linkages would matter less for the European than for the Asian country. But this is not the case; the full model's fit line for Ireland is not significantly steeper than the one for Korea (Figure 3.9a). However, the results change remarkably when ignoring trade. The fit line of AuxNT is quite close to the 45-degree line in Ireland (Figure 3.9b), indicating that ignoring domestic linkages would not matter much there since most of the dispersion revealed by the full model is caused by trade.

In Korea, on the other hand, there is a sharp difference in the patterns seen for capital-intensive vis-à-vis labour-intensive industries. While for the latter, the models with and without trade produce very similar results, for the former they are visibly different. This disparity comes from the distinct import patterns (Figure 3.4d), with labour-intensive industries relying very little on imports while capital-intensive industries industries present large import shares. Therefore, ignoring trade is innocuous regard-ing labour-intensive Korean industries while it matters for capital-intensive ones.

In summary, trade is important in general for Irish industries but only in part for Korean capital-intensive industries. For most labour-intensive industries in Korea, the non-trade model predicts an impact similar to the full model's since they import little. Additionally, removing only the trade component from the full model practically removes all the overestimation for this group, while it makes little difference for the remaining. This finding stresses that domestic input-output linkages are highly relevant for Korean labour-intensive industries.⁵⁰

⁵⁰Appendix 3.C.1 presents the ratios of the models' predictions.



(a) Full model versus Auxiliary 0



(b) Full model versus Auxiliary 0 and NT

Note: vertical lines show national averages. Figure 3.9a plots each industry's output change versus their labour shares, with the 45-degree line representing the auxiliary model without neither input-output nor trade linkages (Aux0). Figure 3.9b reproduces the previous plotting and adds the industry output growth predicted by the no-trade auxiliary model (grey dots). It allows for a distinction between the role of trade (gap between the grey dots and the blue dots) and the role of domestic linkages (distance between the 45-degree line and the gray dots) on the impact of the shock across industries.

Figure 3.9: Comparison of the labour shock effect across models

First-order linkage effects: direct input purchases

Figure 3.10 plots the labour intensity of the inputs basket of each industry, as given by Equation (LC), over their own labour intensities. The 45-degree line depicts the locus corresponding to industries having an input basket on average of the same labour intensity as their own.



Note: the labour content of each industry input basket is calculated via Equation (LC). Horizontal and vertical lines show national labour-intensity averages.

Figure 3.10: Labour intensity of domestic intermediate input purchases

In both countries, capital-intensive industries tend to domestically buy more from industries relatively more intense in labour (above the 45-degree line) and vice-versa for labour-intensive industries (below the 45-degree line). Moreover, some group of industries purchase patterns are reinforcing this redistribution process. If industries always bought relatively more from their peers, they would fall exclusively on quadrants I and III of the plots, which is not the case. In Ireland, most capital-intensive industries buy relatively more from labour-intensive industries, thus falling on quadrant II. In Korea, many labour-intensive industries buy relatively more from capitalintensive industries on quadrant IV. This finding helps to explain the relay of the impacts from more to less labour-intensive industries, albeit it only considers first-order interconnections.

Higher-order linkage effects: shock approximations

The ratios of the output impact of the labour shock over each order of approximation give the percentage explained by each truncation. Together, they indicate how fast the series of approximations converges to the full model's predictions.

Figure 3.11 depicts the means of these ratios within the factor-intensity groups. It shows that, in general, the capital-intensive industries present a slower rate of convergence, indicating that their upstream connectivity is particularly relevant along the chains of labour-intensive inputs. This finding is especially interesting in Korea, where capital-intensive industries are relatively less upstream connected (Figure 3.6) and do not purchase directly much from labour-intensive industries (Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.11: Means of the ratios of each order of approximation over full shock

Figure 3.12 plots the shocks' approximations from the zeroth to the third order for all industries. The bars are superimposed, each colour representing the portion of the total effect (in grey) explained by the corresponding approximation. In particular, the values of the zeroth order (in blue) convey how relevant is the shock vector. The little significance of input-output linkages in Ireland translates to a high performance of the shock vector, whereas in Korea it alone does not explain much. Overall, the rate of convergence in Korea is much slower, meaning that the indirect transactions are quite relevant within the production network.



Note: each fraction of the bars represents an order of the approximation of the whole shock described in Section 2.5. The zeroth order is equivalent to ignoring the several stages of production as enclosed by the Leontief-inverse transposed. The total effect represents the predictions of the full model as given by Equation $full_{ES}$. In this way, the extent of the bars beyond the zeroth order depicts how much the higher-order transactions affect the impact of the labour supply shock on each industry.

Figure 3.12: Decomposition of the labour shock for Ireland and Korea

4.2 Counterfactual #2: an import price shock

In contrast with a trade model without input-output linkages, the industry output impact of the import price shock is not restricted to those directly importing the good. In fact, the domestic network boosts the output changes the most for the industries which rely less on the affected good.



Note: the blue dots depict the impact on the output of the industries predicted by the full model while the grey dots respresent the predictions of the Auxiliary NIO model. The 45-degree is a reference for the effect on output coming from the term $-\sigma_{zi}$ in Equation (full_{pz}).

Figure 3.13: Comparison of the import price shock effect across models

In comparison to the reference line⁵¹ of Figure 3.13, the model without input-output linkages produces more negative results since each industry is not only affected by the increase in its own import costs but also by the total imports and subsequent GDP drop [Equation (full_{*pz*})]. But since the transmission of the aggregate shock is minor, the fit line is found not far from the 45-degree one. In Ireland, in particular, Auxiliary NIO's fit line appears as a downward shit, reflecting that the overall higher values of total import shares are widespread in those industries.

Moreover, the differences between the full model and AuxNIO demonstrate that ignoring domestic linkages would result in large underestimations of the output changes

⁵¹Appendix 3.C.2 describes why import shares of good A-B are the appropriate measures to contrast with the industry output changes.

for the vast majority of Korean but also for several Irish industries. Naturally, the full model predicts an even larger industry output fall, as each industry is also affected by the negative impact undergone by other industries. Even those which do not import directly any quantity of good A-B may get significantly affected by the shock via input-output linkages.



Note: the ratios depict how much excluding domestic linkages results in an underestimation of the industry output changes. In a sparse domestic network like the Irish, the ratios are closer to one than in the case of the Korean well-connected network.

Figure 3.14: Ratio of output changes of Auxiliary NIO over Full model

The ratios of the predictions of AuxNIO over those of the full model, plotted in Figure 3.14, portray how much ignoring domestic linkages would affect the calculated import price shock effect. The reference line at the value of one represents no underestimation of the AuxNIO model for the industry output change. The plots reinforce that the industries having the lowest import shares of good A-B are largely underestimated by the model without linkages.

But although these underestimations are minor, ranging from 0.2 to 1 of the predictions produced by the full model in Ireland, the errors are much larger in Korea, with the majority of the ratios lying between 0 and 0.2. These differences between the two countries clearly reflect their unequal production network, with the larger underestimations being produced for the most connected economy.

First-order linkage effects: direct input purchases

I evaluate here whether the direct input purchases of the industries can explain the relay of the shock across industries. Figure 3.15 plots the A-B content in the imported input purchases each industry, as described by Equation (IC).

The plot shows that the weighted average of A-B import shares is higher than one industry's own for the industries which import very little of that good. In particular, the most underestimated industries in Korea with zero import shares of good A-B have a relatively large content of that good in their input baskets. In Ireland, however, this measure does not fully explain the difference between the models since the most underestimated impacts are not among the highest values. On the other hand, as expected, the least underestimated industries which are also the biggest importers of good A-B naturally have little A-B import content on their inputs basket compared to their own AB import shares.



Note: the import content of each industry input basket is calculated via Equation (IC).

Figure 3.15: Intensity of A-B imports on domestic input basket

Higher-order linkage effects: shocks' approximations

To assess whether other levels of interconnections explain the gaps left by the direct transactions, I explore the decomposition of the effects of the import price shock, as presented in Section 2.5.

Figure 3.16 plots the whole shock overlaid by the third to zeroth order of approximation. It is clear that in the case of the less connected Ireland, the shock vector alone explains most of the output effect of the import price shock, with the second and higher orders being almost irrelevant. In Korea, the well-connected production network translates into greater significance of the first to third orders, while still leaving some of the shock effects to be explained by the higher ranks of interactions.⁵²

More remarkably, the zeroth-order approximation represents on average 67% of the whole shock in Ireland and astonishing 19% in Korea. The boosting of the industry effect of the import price shock caused by input-output linkages leaves no doubt that such feature in a model studying trade shocks. This is particularly true in economies with dense production networks, like Korea.⁵³

⁵²Regarding the industries, in particular, Figure 3.16 shows that the most underestimated industries, H52 (No 30) in Ireland and L68 (No 38) in Korea, are those for which the impact is the least explained by the shock vector alone (zeroth order). In the case of the former, it remains high in the raking (third place) of the least explained even by the third order. The latter gets most of the difference explained by the first-order approximation, when it jumps from the first to the 32nd place in the ranking. On the other hand, heavy A-B importers industries, for instance, C24 (No 12) in Ireland and C19 (No 7) in Korea, are not much upstream connected, repeatedly being the most explained industries (48th in the rankings) in all approximations. Moreover, as Figure 3.B.11 shows, although industry C24 is very little downstream connected in Ireland, other heavy A-B importers are, namely industries D35 and C25. In Korea, the two biggest A-B importers, i.e. industries C19 and D35, present high downstream centrality measures.

⁵³With respect to the scales of the plots of Figure 3.16, one may worry that the impact of the shock is overall much larger for Korean industries and that this may be connected to the fact that, as Figure 3.8 shows, the Katz-Bonacich centrality of import good A-B is much bigger for that country (2.8) than for Ireland (0.3). It could be the case that the results are being biased by this discrepancy so, alternatively, I choose good C10-C12 for a test. Although it is much less significant, it has closer values in the pair of countries: 0.08 and 0.07, respectively. The results of the approximations plotted in Figure 3.C.3 in the Appendix are very close to those obtained when rising the price of good A-B. I conclude therefore that the choice of the shocked imported good does not affect the analysis.



Note: each fraction of the bars represents an order of the approximation of the whole shock as described in Section 2.5. The zeroth order is equivalent to the output changes predicted by the model ignoring domestic input-output linkages while the total effect represents the predictions of the full model. In this way, the extent of the bars beyond the zeroth order depicts how much the production network boosts the effect of the shock for each industry.

Figure 3.16: Decomposition of the A-B import price shock for Ireland and Korea

5 Conclusions

Aggregate labour and trade shocks can have varying effects across industries depending on the structure of the production network. In this chapter, I have developed a simple input-output model with an international dimension with focus on the analysis of the propagation of macro shocks.

I have provided the means to analyse and empirically determine that input-output linkages and industry trade patterns matter in the study of economic shocks. In the model, trade buffers the labour shock and boosts the import price shock. The countries selected to illustrate the counterfactuals were Ireland and South Korea; the former has a relatively disconnected production network and relies heavily on imported inputs while the latter presents a dense network and much fewer imported inputs.

I have shown that the indirect flows of transactions may be relevant up to the third degree, which represents chains of interactions or paths having two intermediaries between a pair of consumer/supplier industries. Higher-order effects are the most significant for the industries more upstream-connected into the network, i.e. which relies the most on domestic inputs summing up across all stages of production.

Moreover, I have demonstrated that the relevance of indirect transactions varies across shocks reflecting the fact that the magnitude of the initial or isolated effect on each industry is a key part of the shock transmission to other industries. The rational is that what matters to the final output change of an industry is not only how much it relies on inputs overall but also how much the industries it directly and indirectly depends upon are initially affected by the shock.

Korea, having a densely connected production network with industries that import little inputs, is where the shocks are the most persistent, with much still to be explained after the third order of interactions. Besides, the isolated shock felt by each industry represents only about half of the full output change resulting from the labour supply shock. The results for the import price shock counterfactual are even more telling. Since only a couple of industries rely directly on the shocked good, the isolated effect is less than 20% for most industries,⁵⁴ with the whole industry output change resulting from domestic input transactions.

⁵⁴Recall that the isolated effect of the import price shock given by the shock vector also includes the output change resulting from the GDP fall.

The results are strikingly different for Ireland. The sparse production network and heavily importing industries create a scenario where about 80% of the labour shock and 70% of the import price shock is fully explained by the isolated effects on the industries. Furthermore, the inclusion of the direct transactions makes up about 90% of the total industry output change, leaving little to be explained by the higher-order interactions.

Finally, contrasting the results of Ireland and Korea establishes the relevance of knowing the structures of the production network of the economies when studying the micro effects of macro shocks. In the case of the labour shock, ignoring the several stages of production leads to misestimations of the output changes 1.51 times larger in Korea than in Ireland on average. Regarding the import price shock, this ratio is even larger, of 3.52 times.⁵⁵

5.1 Limitations and extensions

The use of the WIOD or any input-output data has the natural limitation of working with technical coefficients that are fixed by construction.⁵⁶ Clearly, Leontief production functions are in general unrealistic so that the adoption of Cobb-Douglas specifications became common practice in neoclassical input-output models. This functional form appeared as a suitable choice for its well-known equilibrium solutions which establishes that payments to inputs and factors are fixed shares of total sales therefore invariant to shocks' realisations. This allows for the direct use of the technical coefficients as given by the input-output matrix while still leaving room for some substitution between the resources used in the production.

Nevertheless, adopting a Cobb-Douglas technology imposes a unitary elasticity of substitution across inputs and factors. This property clashes with the empirical literature indicating varying degrees of complementarity and substitutability between labour, capital, domestic and imported intermediate goods.⁵⁷ Moreover, the use of

⁵⁵I refer here to the ratios of the average proportion of the whole shock explained by the zeroth-order approximatation of the labour supply shock — of 0.79% in Ireland and 0.53% in Korea— and of the import price shock —of 67% in Ireland and 19% in Korea.

⁵⁶See Section 2.2.2 of Miller and Blair (2009) for more details.

⁵⁷Duffy, Papageorgiou, and Perez-Sebastian (2004) produce a comprehensive estimation of capitallabour elasticities for a large set of countries over more than two decades. The empirical literature on input substitution is usually restricted to particular commodities —for example, energy (Koetse, de Groot, and Florax, 2008) and information technology (Dewan and Min, 1997)— or particular sectors —for instance, microfinance institutions (Hartarska, Shen, and Mersland, 2013; Stiroh, 1999).

the Cobb-Douglas is not without consequences for the results regarding the propagation patterns via input-output linkages. As discussed by Carvalho and Tahbaz-Salehi (2019), this specification leads to the analytical solutions accounting solely for the shock transmission through the production network while richer structures accounting for substitutabilities and complementarities include the effects via the reallocation of resources

For these reasons, the use of the constant elasticity of substitution (CES) production functions has been proposed as an alternative to the Cobb-Douglas (Carvalho, Nirei, Saito, and Tahbaz-Salehi, 2016; Baqaee and Farhi, 2018). The estimation of the elasticities of substitutions across inputs and between those and factors of production, however, is not trivial even for closed-economy models. As discussed in Baqaee and Farhi (2018), the identification strategies require relative strong assumptions and the availability of data conveying industry-level exogenous shocks.

On a higher level, a limitation of the international dimension of the model developed in this chapter is the omission of industry exports. It does not compromise the results presented here since the shocks studied apply directly to the industries and, given the Cobb-Douglas specification, travel only upstream towards other domestic industries, whose output changes are the aim of the analysis. The study of demand-side shocks or the adoption of CES production functions would require a multi-country multi-sector network model, in the fashion of Vandenbussche, Connell, and Simons (2019) except that considering a general equilibrium closure. The implementation of a global input-output model would also allow for the study of shock propagations via geographic linkages, which are also attracting attention recently. Acemoglu, Akcigit, and Kerr (2016) find that input-output as well as geographic networks play a role in the amplification of micro-shocks and see the investigation of these linkages in the propagation of macro-shocks as an understudied area. Overall, the integration of domestic linkages, networks, and trade remains an interesting and underexplored field to which this chapter provides a useful contribution.

Bibliography

- ACEMOGLU, DARON, UFUK AKCIGIT, AND WILLIAM KERR (2016): "Networks and the Macroeconomy: An Empirical Exploration," *NBER Macroeconomics Annual*, 30(1), 273–335.
- ACEMOGLU, DARON, VASCO M. CARVALHO, ASUMAN OZDAGLAR, AND ALIREZA TAHBAZ-SALEHI (2012): "The Network Origins of Aggregate Fluctuations," *Econometrica*, 80(5), 1977–2016.
- ACEMOGLU, DARON, ASUMAN OZDAGLAR, AND ALIREZA TAHBAZ-SALEHI (2015): "Networks, Shocks, and Systemic Risk," NBER Working Papers 20931, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- ALDASORO, IÑAKI, AND IGNAZIO ANGELONI (2015): "Input–output-based measures of systemic importance," *Quantitative Finance*, 15(4), 589–606.
- AYDIN, LEVENT, AND MUSTAFA ACAR (2011): "Economic impact of oil price shocks on the Turkish economy in the coming decades: A dynamic CGE analysis," *Energy Policy*, 39(3), 1722–1731.
- BAQAEE, DAVID REZZA (2015): "Labor Intensity in an Interconnected Economy," in *Essays in Macroeconomics*, pp. 3–56. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University, Graduate School of Arts & Sciences.
- BAQAEE, DAVID REZZA, AND EMMANUEL FARHI (2018): "Macroeconomics with Heterogeneous Agents and Input-Output Networks," NBER Working Papers 24684, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- ——— (2019): "The Macroeconomic Impact of Microeconomic Shocks: Beyond Hulten's Theorem," *Econometrica*, 87(4), 1155–1203.
- BARTELME, DOMINICK, AND YURIY GORODNICHENKO (2015): "Linkages and Economic Development," NBER Working Papers 21251, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- BERNARD, ANDREW B, J. BRADFORD JENSEN, STEPHEN J REDDING, AND PETER K SCHOTT (2007): "Firms in international trade," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 21(3), 105–130.

- BLOCH, FRANCIS, MATTHEW O. JACKSON, AND PIETRO TEBALDI (2016): "Centrality Measures in Networks," *SSRN Electronic Journal*.
- BLÖCHL, FLORIAN, FABIAN J. THEIS, FERNANDO VEGA-REDONDO, AND ERIC O.N. FISHER (2011): "Vertex centralities in input-output networks reveal the structure of modern economies," *Physical Review E - Statistical, Nonlinear, and Soft Matter Physics*, 83(4), 046127.
- BONACICH, PHILLIP (1987): "Power and Centrality: A Family of Measures," *American Journal of Sociology*, 92(5), 1170–1182.
- CARAIANI, PETRE (2019): "Oil shocks and production network structure: Evidence from the OECD," *Energy Economics*, 84, 104559.
- CARVALHO, VASCO M. (2010): "Aggregate fluctuations and the network structure of intersectoral trade," *Economics Working Papers*.
- (2014): "From Micro to Macro via Production Networks," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 28(4), 23–48.
- —— (2019): "Replication data for: From Micro to Macro via Production Networks," Nashville, TN: American Economic Association [publisher]. Ann Arbor, MI: Interuniversity Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor], Last modified: 2019-10-12, https://doi.org/10.3886/E113936V1.
- CARVALHO, VASCO M., MAKOTO NIREI, YUKIKO U. SAITO, AND ALIREZA TAHBAZ-SALEHI (2016): "Supply Chain Disruptions: Evidence from the Great East Japan Earthquake," Discussion papers ron287, Policy Research Institute, Ministry of Finance Japan.
- CARVALHO, VASCO M., AND ALIREZA TAHBAZ-SALEHI (2019): "Production Networks: A Primer," *Annual Review of Economics*, 11(1), 635–663.
- CERINA, FEDERICA, ZHEN ZHU, ALESSANDRO CHESSA, AND MASSIMO RICCABONI (2015): "World Input-Output Network," *PLOS ONE*, 10(7), e0134025.
- CHIPMAN, JOHN S. (1950): "The Multi-Sector Multiplier," *Econometrica*, 18(4), 355–374.

- CINGOLANI, ISABELLA, PIETRO PANZARASA, AND LUCIA TAJOLI (2017): "Countries' positions in the international global value networks: Centrality and economic performance," *Applied Network Science*, 2(1), 1–20.
- CONTRERAS, MARTHA G.ALATRISTE, AND GIORGIO FAGIOLO (2014): "Propagation of economic shocks in input-output networks: A cross-country analysis," *Physical Review E - Statistical, Nonlinear, and Soft Matter Physics*, 90(6).
- DEWAN, SANJEEV, AND CHUNG KI MIN (1997): "The substitution of information technology for other factors of production: A firm level analysis," *Management Science*, 43(12), 1660–1675.
- DHYNE, EMMANUEL, AYUMU KEN KIKKAWA, MAGNE MOGSTAD, AND FELIX TINTEL-NOT (2021): "Trade and Domestic Production Networks," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 88(2), 643–668.
- DOMAR, EVSEY D. (1961): "On the Measurement of Technological Change," *The Economic Journal*, 71(284), 709–729.
- DUFFY, JOHN, CHRIS PAPAGEORGIOU, AND FIDEL PEREZ-SEBASTIAN (2004): "Capitalskill complementarity? Evidence from a panel of countries," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 86(1), 327–344.
- FADINGER, HARALD, CHRISTIAN GHIGLINO, AND MARIYA TETERYATNIKOVA (2016): "Income Differences and Input-Output Structure," CEPR Discussion Papers 11547, Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- GIAMMETTI, RAFFAELE, ALBERTO RUSSO, AND MAURO GALLEGATI (2020): "Key sectors in input–output production networks: An application to Brexit," *The World Economy*, 43(4), 840–870.
- GOYAL, SANJEEV (2007): *Connections: An Introduction to the Economics of Networks*. Princeton University Press.
- HARTARSKA, VALENTINA, XUAN SHEN, AND ROY MERSLAND (2013): "Scale economies and input price elasticities in microfinance institutions," *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 37(1), 118–131.

- HIRSCHMAN, ALBERT O. (1958): *The Strategy of Economic Development*. Yale University Press.
- HULTEN, CHARLES R. (1978): "Growth Accounting with Intermediate Inputs," *Review* of Economic Studies, 45(3), 511–518.
- JACKSON, MATTHEW O. (2008): *Social and Economic Networks*. Princeton University Press.
- JONES, CHARLES I. (2013): "Misallocation, Economic Growth, and Input-Output Economics," in *Advances in Economics and Econometrics: Tenth World Congress*, ed. by Daron Acemoglu, Manuel Arellano, and Eddie Dekel, vol. 2 of *Econometric Society Monographs*, pp. 419–456. Cambridge University Press.
- KOETSE, MARK J., HENRI L.F. DE GROOT, AND RAYMOND J.G.M. FLORAX (2008): "Capital-energy substitution and shifts in factor demand: A meta-analysis," *Energy Economics*, 30(5), 2236–2251.
- KOOPMAN, ROBERT, WILLIAM POWERS, ZHI WANG, AND SHANG-JIN WEI (2010): "Give Credit Where Credit Is Due: Tracing Value Added in Global Production Chains," NBER Working Papers 16426, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- LONG, JOHN B., JR., AND CHARLES I. PLOSSER (1983): "Real Business Cycles," *Journal* of *Political Economy*, 91, 39–69.
- LUU, DUC THI, GIORGIO FAGIOLO, ANDREA ROVENTINI, AND PAOLO SGRIGNOLI (2017): "Uncovering the Network Complexity in Input-Output Linkages among Sectors in European Countries," *ISI Growth Working Paper*, 21(649186).
- MAISONNAVE, HÉLÈNE, JONATHAN PYCROFT, BERT SAVEYN, AND JUAN CARLOS CISCAR (2012): "Does climate policy make the EU economy more resilient to oil price rises? A CGE analysis," *Energy Policy*, 47, 172–179.
- MANDRAS, GIOVANNI, AND SIMONE SALOTTI (2020): "An Input–Output Analysis of Sectoral Specialization and Trade Integration of the Western Balkans Economies," *Economies*, 8(4), 93.
- MARIA DEL RIO-CHANONA, R, PENNY MEALY, ANTON PICHLER, FRANÇOIS LAFOND, AND J DOYNE FARMER (2020): "Supply and demand shocks in the COVID-19 pan-

demic: an industry and occupation perspective," *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 36.

- MCKIBBIN, WARWICK J., AND ROSHEN FERNANDO (2020): "The Global Macroeconomic Impacts of COVID-19: Seven Scenarios," Discussion paper, Centre for Applied Macroeconomic Analysis (CAMA).
- MCNERNEY, JAMES, BRIAN D. FATH, AND GERALD SILVERBERG (2013): "Network structure of inter-industry flows," *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 392(24), 6427–6441.
- MILLER, RONALD E., AND PETER D. BLAIR (2009): *Input-Output Analysis: Foundations and Extensions*. Cambridge University Press, 2nd edn.
- MUNDT, PHILIPP (2021): "The formation of input–output architecture: Evidence from the European Union," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 183, 89– 104.
- PICHLER, ANTON, AND DOYNE FARMER (2021): "Simultaneous supply and demand constraints in input-output networks: The case of Covid-19 in Germany, Italy, and Spain," Discussion paper, arXiv.
- RASMUSSEN, POUL NØRREGARD (1957): *Studies in Inter-Sectoral Relations*. North-Holland.
- SPORNS, OLAF, AND MIKAIL RUBINOV (2020): "List of measures Brain Connectivity Toolbox," https://sites.google.com/site/bctnet/measures/list, [Last Accessed: 19-April-2020].
- STIROH, KEVIN J. (1999): "Measuring input substitution in thrifts: Morishima, Allen-Uzawa, and cross-price elasticities," *Journal of Economics and Business*, 51(2), 145– 157.
- TEN RAA, THIJS (2006): *The Economics of Input-Output Analysis*. Cambridge University Press.
- TIMMER, MARCEL P., ERIK DIETZENBACHER, BART LOS, ROBERT STEHRER, AND GAAITZEN J. DE VRIES (2015): "An Illustrated User Guide to the World Input–Output

Database: the Case of Global Automotive Production," *Review of International Economics*, 23(3), 575–605.

- VANDENBUSSCHE, HYLKE, WILLIAM CONNELL, AND WOUTER SIMONS (2019): "Global Value Chains, Trade Shocks and Jobs: An Application to Brexit," CESifo Working Paper Series 7473, CESifo.
- VEGA-REDONDO, FERNANDO (2007): *Complex Social Networks*. Cambridge University Press.
- ZHANG, WEI, JUN YANG, ZONGYI ZHANG, AND JOSHUA D. SHACKMAN (2017): "Natural gas price effects in China based on the CGE model," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 147, 497–505.
3.A Model's derivations

I present here the detailed algebraic derivations of the model for completeness and verification.

3.A.1 Irrelevance of intermediate inputs in aggregate terms

Intermediate inputs are irrelevant in aggregate terms because they are only transfers between industries which are cancelled out in the total summation. Ignoring measurement errors, nominal value-added GDP (income) should equal final nominal demand (expenditure), i.e. $GDP = w_K K + w_E E = Y - X = C$.

Value added GDP:

$$w_K K + w_E E = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i q_i - \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n p_j d_{ji} - \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n \bar{p}_j f_{ji}$$
(3.28)

Expenditure GDP:

$$Y = C + X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i q_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_i d_{ij}$$
(3.29)

Since $C = w_K K + w_E E$ and $X = M = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n \bar{p}_j f_{ji}$, it must be true that:



Which is equivalent to total intermediate inputs used being equal to total intermediate inputs produced:



3.A.2 Proofs

Proof of Proposition 3.1. Industry output ⁵⁸

To compute the equilibrium solution for the industry output, I first have to derive the solution for the wages w_E and for the GDP *Y*. Starting with the logs of the FOCs for the factors and inputs in each industry, as given by Equations (3.9), (3.10), (3.11) and (3.12):

$$\log k_i = \log \alpha_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log w_K$$
(3.32)

$$\log e_i = \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log w_E$$
 (3.33)

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log p_j \tag{3.34}$$

$$\log f_{ji} = \log \sigma_{ji} + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log \bar{p}_j \tag{3.35}$$

Substitute them into Equation (3.1) in logs:

$$\begin{split} \log q_i &= \log A_i + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\alpha_i \log k_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log e_i \right] + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log d_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log f_{ji} \\ &= \log A_i + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i [\log \alpha_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log w_K] + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) [\log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log w_E] + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} (\log \gamma_{ji} + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log p_j) + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} (\log \sigma_{ji} + \log p_i + \log q_i - \log \bar{p}_j) \\ 0 &= \log A_i + \log p_i + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i [\log \alpha_i - \log w_K] + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) [\log(1 - \alpha_i) - \log w_E] + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} (\log \sigma_{ji} - \log \bar{p}_j) \\ 0 &= \log A_i + \log p_i + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i \log \alpha_i - (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i \log w_K + \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) - (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) \log w_E + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log p_j + \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_j \end{split}$$

⁵⁸Derivations adapted from Fadinger, Ghiglino, and Teteryatnikova (2016).

Solve for $(1 - \alpha_i) \log w_E$:

$$(1 - \alpha_i)\log w_E = \alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) - \alpha_i \log w_K + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\log A_i + \log p_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log p_j \right] + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_j \right]$$

Substitute for w_K using Equation (3.18) in logs:

$$(1 - \alpha_i)\log w_E = \alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) -\alpha_i \log \alpha - \alpha_i \log C + \alpha_i \log K + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\log A_i + \log p_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log p_j \right] + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_j \right]$$

Solving Equation (3.19) for *C* and taking logs gives $\log C = \log w_E + \log E - \log(1 - \alpha)$, which I sub in now to get:

$$(1 - \alpha_i)\log w_E = \alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) -\alpha_i \log \alpha - \alpha_i \log w_E - \alpha_i \log E + \alpha_i \log(1 - \alpha) + \alpha_i \log K + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\log A_i + \log p_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log p_j \right] + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_j \right]$$

Solving for $\log w_E$:

$$\log w_E = \alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)$$
$$-\alpha_i \log \alpha - \alpha_i \log E + \alpha_i \log(1 - \alpha) + \alpha_i \log K$$
$$+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\log A_i + \log p_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log p_j \right]$$
$$+ \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i} \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_j \right]$$

Now, consider the vector $\mu' \mathbf{Z}$ where μ is the (nX1) vector of multipliers and \mathbf{Z} is a diagonal matrix with $Z_{ii} = 1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i$ such that $\mu' \mathbf{Z} = \beta' [\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{Z}$. Take the *i*th

element of this matrix and multiply by the equation above.

$$\mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})\log w_{E} = \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})\left[\alpha_{i}\log\alpha_{i}+(1-\alpha_{i})\log(1-\alpha_{i})+\log(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})\right]$$
$$+\mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})\left[-\alpha_{i}\log\alpha-\alpha_{i}\log E+\alpha_{i}\log(1-\alpha)+\alpha_{i}\log K\right]$$
$$+\mu_{i}\left[\log A_{i}+\log p_{i}+\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log\gamma_{ji}-\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log p_{j}\right]$$
$$+\mu_{i}\log A_{i}+\mu_{i}\log p_{i}+\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log\gamma_{ji}-\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\gamma_{ji}\log p_{j}$$
$$+\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\sigma_{ji}\log\sigma_{ji}-\mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\sigma_{ji}\log\bar{p}_{j}$$

Summing over all industries *i*:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \log w_{E} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i})\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) - \alpha_{i} \log \alpha\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log(1 - \alpha)\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log K - \alpha_{i} \log E\right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j}$$
(3.36)

The only endogenous variables left now are the good prices. First, I combine the terms $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \log p_i$ and $-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_j$ using Equation (3.21) to get an expression in terms of p_i :

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log p_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log p_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \gamma_{ji} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log p_{j} (\mu_{j} - \beta_{j}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log p_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log p_{i} (\mu_{i} - \beta_{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log p_{i}$$

Then, I solve Equation (3.13) for y_i to get $y_i = \beta_i Y/p_i$ which I substitute into Equation (3.3) to get an expression of p_i in terms of β_i as follows:

$$Y = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\beta_{i} \frac{Y}{p_{i}}\right)^{\beta_{i}} =$$

$$= Y \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\beta_{i}}{p_{i}}\right)^{\beta_{i}} \Leftrightarrow$$

$$1 = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\beta_{i}}{p_{i}}\right)^{\beta_{i}} =$$

$$= \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}^{\beta_{i}}}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}^{\beta_{i}}} \Leftrightarrow$$

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}^{\beta_{i}} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}^{\beta_{i}}$$

In logs:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i \log p_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i \log \beta_i$$
(3.37)

Substituting back into Equation (3.36) and solving for $\log w_E$:

$$\log w_{E} = \left[\frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})\alpha_{i}}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})}\right]\log K - \log \alpha$$

$$+ \left[\frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})(-\alpha_{i})}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})}\right]\log E - \log (1-\alpha)$$

$$+ \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})[\alpha_{i}\log\alpha_{i}+(1-\alpha_{i})\log(1-\alpha_{i})+\log(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})}$$

$$+ \left[\frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})}\right]\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\log A_{i} + \sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji}\log \gamma_{ji}$$

$$+ \left[\frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})}\right]\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji}\log \sigma_{ji}$$

$$+ \left[\frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1-\gamma_{i}-\sigma_{i})}\right]\sum_{i} \beta_{i}\log\beta_{i} - \sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji}\log\overline{p}_{j}$$
(3.38)

The ratios in square brackets can be further simplified by studying the model's parameters. Starting from the resource constraint or GDP by production:

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{i} \sum_{j} p_{i}d_{ij} = \sum_{i} p_{i}y_{i}$$
 from Equation (3.2)

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij}p_{j}q_{j} = \sum_{i} p_{i}y_{i}$$
 sub in Equation (3.11)

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{j} p_{j}q_{j} \sum_{i} \gamma_{ij} = \sum_{i} p_{i}y_{i}$$
 manipulating the summation

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{j}p_{j}q_{j} = \sum_{i} p_{i}y_{i}$$
 since $\gamma_{j} = \sum_{i} \gamma_{ij}$

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{i} \gamma_{i}p_{i}q_{i} = \sum_{i} p_{i}y_{i}$$
 replacing the indices

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{i} \gamma_{i}p_{i}q_{i} = Y$$
 since $\sum_{i} p_{i}y_{i} = PY$ and $P = 1$

The formula for the GDP by production is identical to that in the model without trade developed in Chapter 2. Therefore, it is also true that:

$$\frac{\sum_{i} p_{i} q_{i}}{Y} - \frac{\sum_{i} \gamma_{i} p_{i} q_{i}}{Y} = \frac{Y}{Y}$$
dividing by Y
$$\sum_{i} \mu_{i} - \sum_{i} \gamma_{i} \mu_{i} = 1$$
sub in Equation (3.20)

In other words, the sum of the sales shares minus intermediate inputs equals one:

$$\sum_{i} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i) = 1 \tag{3.39}$$

Now expanding the GDP by expenditure:

$$Y = C + X$$
Equation (3.4)

$$Y = C + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \bar{p}_{j} f_{ji}$$
sub in Equation (3.5)

$$Y = C + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} p_{i} q_{i}$$
sub in Equation (3.12)

$$Y = C + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i} p_{i} q_{i}$$
since $\sigma_{i} = \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji}$

And combining the two derivations for the GDP:

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i} - \sum_{i} \gamma_{i}p_{i}q_{i} = C + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i}p_{i}q_{i}$$

$$\frac{\sum_{i} p_{i}q_{i}}{Y} - \frac{\sum_{i} \gamma_{i}p_{i}q_{i}}{Y} = \frac{C}{Y} + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i}p_{i}q_{i}}{Y} \qquad \text{dividing by } Y$$

$$\sum_{i} \mu_{i} - \sum_{i} \gamma_{i}\mu_{i} = \frac{C}{Y} + \sum_{i} \sigma_{i}\mu_{i} \qquad \text{sub in Equation (3.20)}$$

Which can be rewritten as:

$$\frac{C}{Y} = \sum_{i} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \tag{3.40}$$

Also, since $\sum_{i} \mu_i \sigma_i$ represents the total value of imports (or exports) over GDP, using Equation (3.39):

$$\sum_{i} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) = 1 - \sum_{i} \sigma_i \mu_i$$
(3.41)

To finally get the first two ratios of Equation (3.38), I take the following steps:

$$\frac{\alpha C}{K} = \frac{\alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) p_i q_i}{k_i}$$
equate Equations (3.18) and (3.9)

$$k_i \alpha C = \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) p_i q_i K$$
multiply both sides by k_i and K

$$\sum_i k_i \alpha C = \sum_i \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) p_i q_i K$$
sum over the n industries

$$K \alpha C = \sum_i \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) p_i q_i K$$
sub in Equation (3.7)

$$\alpha C = \sum_i \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) p_i q_i$$
divide both sides by K

$$\alpha = \sum_i \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \frac{p_i q_i}{C}$$
solve for α

$$\alpha = \sum_i \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \frac{p_i q_i}{Y C}$$
multiply RHS by $\frac{Y}{Y}$

$$\alpha = \sum_i \alpha_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \mu_i \frac{1}{\sum_i \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}$$
sub in Equations (3.20) and (3.40)

Which leads to the first two ratios of Equation (3.38):

$$\alpha = \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i}{\sum_{i} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}$$
(3.42)

Then, substituting Equation (3.42) into Equation (3.38), I find the solution for the wages:

$$\log w_{E} = \alpha \left[\log K - \log \alpha \right] + (-\alpha) \left[\log E - \log (1 - \alpha) \right] \\ + \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \right]}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \\ + \left[\frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \right] \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \\ + \left[\frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \right] \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \\ + \left[\frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \right] \sum_{i} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \overline{p}_{j}$$

$$(3.43)$$

And analogously for rental on capital:

$$\log w_{K} = (\alpha - 1)(\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha)(\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} + \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j} \right]$$
(3.44)

Which leads to the final step to derive the solution for the aggregate output:

$$Y = \left(\frac{C}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})}\right)$$
 solving Equation (3.40) for Y
$$= \left(\frac{C}{1 - \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \mu_{i}}\right)$$
 sub in Equation (3.41)
$$\log Y = \log C - \log \left(1 - \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \mu_{i}\right)$$
 taking logs
$$= \log w_{E} + \log E - \log(1 - \alpha) - \log \left(1 - \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \mu_{i}\right)$$
 sub in Equation (3.19)

Finally, subbing in Equation (3.43) into the expression above leads to the solution for the GDP:

$$\log Y = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) - \log (1 - \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \mu_{i}) + \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j} \right]$$
(3.45)

Now, consider the industry output as given by Equation (3.1) in logs:

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} \log k_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log e_{i} \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log d_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log f_{ji}$$
(3.46)

First, simplify the terms within the square brackets by subbing in Equations (3.32) and (3.33) as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_i \log k_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log e_i &= \\ &= \alpha_i \left[\log \alpha_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_K \right] \\ &+ (1 - \alpha_i) \left[\log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_E \right] \\ &= \alpha_i \left[\log \alpha_i - \log w_K \right] + (1 - \alpha_i) \left[\log(1 - \alpha_i) - \log w_E \right] \\ &+ \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y \end{aligned}$$

Then, substitute back into Equation (3.46):

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) + \log \mu_{i} + \log Y \right] + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \left[\alpha_{i} (\log \alpha_{i} - \log w_{K}) + (1 - \alpha_{i}) (\log(1 - \alpha_{i}) - \log w_{E}) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log d_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log f_{ji}$$
(3.47)

Now take firm's *i* FOC for inputs as given by Equation (3.34) and manipulate as follow to express $\log d_{ji}$ in terms of $\log q_j$:

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log(p_i q_i) - \log p_j \qquad \text{from Equation (3.34)}$$
$$= \log \gamma_{ji} + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log p_j \qquad \text{sub in Equation (3.20) in logs} \qquad (3.48)$$
$$= \log \gamma_{ji} + \log \mu_i - \log \mu_j + \log q_j \qquad \text{sub in Equation (3.20) in logs for good } j$$

And take firm's *i* FOC for imports as given by Equation (3.35) and manipulate as follow to express $\log f_{ji}$ in terms of $\log Y$:

$$\log f_{ji} = \log \sigma_{ji} + \log(p_i q_i) - \log \bar{p}_j \qquad \text{from Equation (3.35)}$$
$$= \log \sigma_{ji} + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log \bar{p}_j \qquad \text{sub in Equation (3.20) in logs} \qquad (3.49)$$

Sub in the expressions for $\log d_{ji}$ and $\log f_{ji}$ back into Equation (3.47):

$$\log q_i = \log A_i + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\alpha_i (\log \alpha_i - \log w_K) + (1 - \alpha_i) (\log(1 - \alpha_i) - \log w_E) \right] \\ + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \gamma_i \log \mu_i - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_j + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log q_j \\ + \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} + \sigma_i \log \mu_i + \sigma_i \log Y - \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_j$$

Combining like terms:

$$\log q_{i} = \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i} + (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log Y + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} (\log \alpha_{i} - \log w_{K}) + (1 - \alpha_{i}) (\log(1 - \alpha_{i}) - \log w_{E})] + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j}$$

Finally, sub in the equilibrium values of w_E , w_K and Y as respectively given by Equations (3.43), (3.44) and (3.45):

$$\begin{split} \log q_i &= \log A_i + \log \mu_i + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) \right] \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i) \log Y \\ &- (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i \log w_K \\ &- (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) \log w_E \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \overline{p}_j - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_j + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log q_j \\ &= \log A_i + \log \mu_i + + (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) \right] \\ &- (1 - \gamma_i) \log (1 - \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_i \mu_i) \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i) \left[\alpha(\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) \right] \\ &- (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i \left[(\alpha - 1) (\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) \right] \\ &- (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) \left[\alpha(\log K - \log \alpha) + (-\alpha) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log A_i + \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_j i \log \sigma_j} \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_j i \log \sigma_j} \\ &+ \sigma_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \\ &+ \sigma_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \overline{p}_j - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_j + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log q_j \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \log q_i &= \log A_i + \log \mu_i + \\ &(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) \right] \\ &- (1 - \gamma_i) \log(1 - \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_i \mu_i) \\ &+ \sigma_i \left[\alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha) (\log E - \log(1 - \alpha)) \right] \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i (\log K - \log \alpha) \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) (\log E - \log(1 - \alpha)) \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \left[\alpha_i \log \alpha_i + (1 - \alpha_i) \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log A_i + \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji}} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \beta_i - \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \left[\alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) \right] \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) \alpha_i (\log K - \log \alpha + \log \alpha_i) \\ &+ (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) (1 - \alpha_i) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha) + \log(1 - \alpha_i)) \right) \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log A_i + \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log A_i + \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log \beta_i - \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log \beta_i - \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \right] \\ &+ \sigma_i \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \log \beta_i - \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}} \right]$$

Combining the exogenous supply of factors leads to Equation (3.22). QED.

Proof of Corollary 3.1. Vector of industry output

Expressing Equation (3.22) in matrix form, with vector \mathbf{V} being composed of all the

constant terms prior to $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$:

$\log q_1$	= V +	γ_{11}	γ_{21}		γ_{n1}		$\log q_1$
$\log q_2$		γ_{12}	γ_{22}		γ_{n2}	_	$\log q_2$
:		:	÷	·	:	•	:
$\log q_n$		γ_{1n}	γ_{2n}		γ_{nn}		$\log q_n$

Solving for the vector of the log of industry output leads to Equation (3.23). QED.

Proof of Corollary 3.2. Output effect of a labour shock

Rewriting (3.22) considering only the variables affected makes it easy to see the relevant elements of vector V:

$$\log q_i = \log E \left[(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)(1 - \alpha_i) + \sigma_i(1 - \alpha) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$$

Deriving Equation (3.23) with respect to *E* leads to Equation (full_{*ES*}). QED.

Proof of Corollary 3.3. Output effect Aux0 model

Letting all γ_{ji} and σ_{ji} equal zero in Equation (full_{*ES*}) leads to Equation (Aux0_{*ES*}). QED.

Proof of Corollary 3.4. Output effect AuxNT model

Setting all σ_{ji} to zero in Equation (full_{ES}) leads to Equation (AuxNT_{ES}). QED.

Proof of Corollary 3.5. Output effect of an import price shock

Rewriting (3.22) considering only the variables affected makes it easy to see the relevant elements of vector V:

$$\log q_i = -\sigma_i \frac{\sum_i \mu_i \sigma_{zi}}{\sum_i \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)} \log \bar{p}_z - \sigma_{zi} \log \bar{p}_z + \sum_j \gamma_{ji} \log q_j$$

Since $\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) = C/Y$ [Equation (3.40)] and $\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sigma_{i} = M/Y$ represents the share of total imports over GDP [Equation (3.41)], by extension, $\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sigma_{zi}$ represents

the aggregate share of good z imports. Thus, $\frac{\sum_i \mu_i \sigma_{zi}}{\sum_i \mu_i (1-\gamma_i - \sigma_i)}$ stands for $\frac{M_z/Y}{C/Y} = M_z/C$, a constant share given by parameters.

Deriving Equation (3.23) with respect to p_z leads to Equation (full_{pz}). QED.

Proof of Corollary 3.6. Output effect AuxNIO model

Letting all γ_{ji} equal zero in Equation (full_{pz}) leads to Equation (AuxNIO_{pz}). QED.

3.A.3 General equilibrium solutions

Equilibrium Y

The equilibrium aggregate output is given by:

$$\log Y = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha) (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) - \log (1 - \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \mu_{i}) + \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j} \right]$$
(3.45)

The solution clearly shows how the exogenous factor supplies K and E relate to the GDP through their respective nominal shares. Notice, however, that the Hulten (1978)'s theorem does not hold for this model with the non-domestic dimension. In other words, the effect on aggregate output Y of a one-percent change to the productivity of industry i does not equal solely the the industrial multiplier μ_i but is magnified by $\sum_i \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)$, which is equivalent to the share of domestic consumption over GDP, i.e. excluding international trade.⁵⁹

⁵⁹Mathematically,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log A_i} = \frac{\mu_i}{\sum_i \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)} = \mu_i \frac{Y}{C}$$
(3.50)

Full derivation of Y including the share C/Y is available in Appendix 3.A.2.

Equilibrium w_K

$$\log w_{K} = (\alpha - 1)(\log K - \log \alpha) + (1 - \alpha)(\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) + \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})[\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log(1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji}\right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji}\right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \overline{p}_{j}\right]$$
(3.44)

Equilibrium w_E

$$\log w_{E} = \alpha (\log K - \log \alpha) + [(1 - \alpha) - 1] (\log E - \log (1 - \alpha)) + \frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] + \frac{1}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i} \mu_{i} \sum_{j} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j} \right]$$
(3.43)

Factors usage

From the first order conditions of firm *i*'s profit maximisation given by Equation (3.32):

$$\log k_i = \log \alpha_i + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_K$$
(3.51)

Likewise, from Equation (3.33):

$$\log e_i = \log(1 - \alpha_i) + \log(1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i) + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log w_E$$
(3.52)

Demand for intermediate inputs and imports

From the first order conditions of firm *i*'s profit maximisation given by Equation (3.34):

$$\log d_{ji} = \log \gamma_{ji} + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log p_j \tag{3.48}$$

Likewise, from Equation (3.35):

$$\log f_{ji} = \log \sigma_{ji} + \log \mu_i + \log Y - \log \bar{p}_j \tag{3.49}$$

Real output by industry

$$\log q_{i} = \log K \left[\sigma_{i} \alpha + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \alpha_{i} \right] \\ + \log E \left[\sigma_{i} (1 - \alpha) + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) (1 - \alpha_{i}) \right] \\ + \log A_{i} + \log \mu_{i} - (1 - \gamma_{i}) \log \left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i} \mu_{i} \right) \\ - \sigma_{i} \left[\alpha \log \alpha + (1 - \alpha) \log \left(1 - \alpha \right) \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \alpha_{i} (\log \alpha_{i} - \log \alpha) \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) (1 - \alpha_{i}) (\log (1 - \alpha_{i}) - \log (1 - \alpha)) \\ + \sigma_{i} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) [\alpha_{i} \log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i}) \log (1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \\ + \sigma_{i} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} \right] \\ + \sigma_{i} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] \\ + \sigma_{i} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \log \beta_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \right] \\ + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) \log (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \gamma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \sigma_{ji} \\ - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji} \log \bar{p}_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log \mu_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji} \log q_{j} \end{cases}$$
(3.22)

Prices of goods/inputs

$$\log p_{i} = -\log A_{i} + \log K(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})(\alpha - \alpha_{i}) + \log E(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})[(1 - \alpha) - (1 - \alpha_{i})] - \log \alpha(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})(\alpha - \alpha_{i}) - \log (1 - \alpha)(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})[(1 - \alpha) - (1 - \alpha_{i})] - (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\alpha_{i}\log \alpha_{i} - (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})(1 - \alpha_{i})\log(1 - \alpha_{i}) + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})[\alpha_{i}\log \alpha_{i} + (1 - \alpha_{i})\log(1 - \alpha_{i}) + \log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})]}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}\log A_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji}\log \gamma_{ji}\right] + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji}\log \sigma_{ji}\right] + (1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})\log(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji}\log \gamma_{ji} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji}\log \sigma_{ji} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ji}\log \bar{p}_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_{ji}\log p_{j}$$
(3.53)

3.A.4 General equilibrium effects of a change in E

Nominal and real aggregate output

From Equation (3.45), the effect on real output is given by aggregate labour income share:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (1 - \alpha) \tag{3.54}$$

Factor quantities and prices

Total differentiating Equation (3.51):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log k_i}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log E} - \frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_K}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (1-\alpha) - (1-\alpha) = 0$$
(3.55)

Likewise for Equation (3.52):

$$\frac{d\log e_i}{d\log E} = \frac{d\log Y}{d\log E} - \frac{d\log w_E}{d\log E} = (1-\alpha) - (-\alpha) = 1$$
(3.56)

From Equation (3.44)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_K}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (1-\alpha) \tag{3.57}$$

From Equation (3.43)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_E}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (-\alpha) \tag{3.58}$$

Total imports and exports

Since the ratio C/Y is given by parameters [Equation (3.40)], C grows by the same rate as Y, i.e. $(1 - \alpha)$. As Y = C + X, X also increases by $(1 - \alpha)$. Same follows for M since trade is balanced by assumption.

$$\frac{d\log X}{d\log E} = \frac{d\log M}{d\log E} = (1 - \alpha)$$
(3.59)

Intermediate inputs and imports

From (3.48):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log d_{ji}}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_j}{\mathrm{d}\log E}$$
(3.60)

From (3.49):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log(f_{ji})}{\mathrm{d}\log E} = (1-\alpha) \tag{3.61}$$

The first order conditions of firm *i*'s profit maximisation establishes that the value of each imported input $p_j f_{ji} = \sigma_{ji} p_i q_i$ will change as much as nominal output $p_i q_i$ since σ_{ji} is constant. Nominal output $p_i q_i$ varies symmetrically for every industry *i* by the same rate of *Y* [Equation (3.20)]. Since international prices \bar{p}_j are exogenous, therefore not affected by *E*, real imports f_{ji} varies with GDP.

Real industry output

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_1}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_2}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_n}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1 - \sigma_1)(1 - \alpha_1) + \sigma_1(1 - \alpha) \\ (1 - \gamma_2 - \sigma_2)(1 - \alpha_2) + \sigma_2(1 - \alpha) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n - \sigma_n)(1 - \alpha_n) + \sigma_n(1 - \alpha) \end{bmatrix}$$
(full_ES) industry-specific impacts

Goods prices

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_1}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_2}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_n}{\mathrm{d}\log E} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} (1 - \gamma_1 - \sigma_1) \left((1 - \alpha) - (1 - \alpha_1) \right) \\ (1 - \gamma_2 - \sigma_2) \left((1 - \alpha) - (1 - \alpha_2) \right) \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \gamma_n - \sigma_n) \left((1 - \alpha) - (1 - \alpha_n) \right) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(3.62)$$

3.A.5 General equilibrium effects of a change in \bar{p}_z

Nominal and real aggregate output

Rewriting equilibrium $\log Y$ given by Equation (3.45) with only the affected variables:

$$\log Y = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i (1 - \gamma_i - \sigma_i)} \left[-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i \sigma_{zi} \log \bar{p}_z \right]$$
(3.63)

Since $\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i}) = C/Y$ [Equation (3.40)] and $\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sigma_{i} = M/Y$ represents the share of total imports over GDP [Equation (3.41)], by extension, $\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sigma_{zi}$ represents the aggregate share of good z imports. Thus, $\frac{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}\sigma_{zi}}{\sum_{i} \mu_{i}(1 - \gamma_{i} - \sigma_{i})}$ stands for $\frac{M_{z}/Y}{C/Y} = M_{z}/C$, a

constant share given by parameters.

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = -\frac{M_z}{C} \tag{3.64}$$

Factor quantities and prices

From (3.51) and (3.52):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_K}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log w_E}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = -\frac{M_z}{C}$$
(3.65)

Total differentiating (3.51) and (3.52):

$$\frac{d\log k_i}{d\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{d\log e_i}{d\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{d\log Y}{d\log \bar{p}_z} - \frac{d\log w_K}{d\log \bar{p}_z} = 0$$
(3.66)

Total exports and imports

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log X}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log M}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log Y}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = -\frac{M_z}{C}$$
(3.67)

Intermediate inputs

From (3.48):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log d_{ji}}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log q_j}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \tag{3.68}$$

So the intermediate inputs demand vary as much as the total output of the producing industry (derived below).

Imports

For the imported good z whose price was shocked, deriving (3.49) with respect to p_z :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\log f_{zi}}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} = -\frac{M_z}{C} - 1 \tag{3.69}$$

The other imports are affected in the same way as GDP Y.

Real industry output

$$\frac{d \log q_1}{d \log \bar{p}_z} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{d \log q_2}{d \log \bar{p}_z} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{d \log q_n}{d \log \bar{p}_z} \end{bmatrix} = \left[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}' \right]^{-1} \cdot \left[\begin{array}{c} -\sigma_{z1} - \sigma_1 \frac{M_z}{C} \\ -\sigma_{z2} - \sigma_2 \frac{M_z}{C} \\ \vdots \\ -\sigma_{zn} - \sigma_n \frac{M_z}{C} \end{array} \right]$$
(full_{pz})

input-output linkages industry-specific impacts

Goods prices

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_1}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_2}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\log p_n}{\mathrm{d}\log \bar{p}_z} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I - \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{21} & \dots & \gamma_{n1} \\ \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} & \dots & \gamma_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \gamma_{1n} & \gamma_{2n} & \dots & \gamma_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} -(1 - \gamma_1 - \sigma_1)\frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z1} \\ -(1 - \gamma_2 - \sigma_2)\frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{z2} \\ \vdots \\ -(1 - \gamma_n - \sigma_n)\frac{M_z}{C} - \sigma_{zn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.70)

3.B Data and computations

3.B.1 WIOD

World Input-Output Database (WIOD), Release 2016 (Timmer, Dietzenbacher, Los, Stehrer, and de Vries, 2015) covers 43 countries and a model for the rest of the world for the period 2000-2014. It includes 56 industries, classified according to the International Standard industry Classification of All Economic Activities, Revision 4 (ISIC, Rev. 4). Table 3.B.1 presents the countries while Table 3.B.2 lists all the industries.

WIOT

The World Input-Output Tables consist in all the intra-industry trade within and between each pair the countries in the dataset. Given the setting of the model, I extract the domestic and foreign use of intermediate goods, and the production of intermediate inputs sold domestically by each industry.

SEA

The Socio-Economic Accounts (WIOD-SEA-16) are available for all 43 countries and 56 industries covered by the WIOT. The November 2016 release was last updated in

14-Feb-2018. All nominal values in millions of national currency. The series extracted were:

- *EMP*: Number of persons engaged (thousands)
- *LAB*: Labour compensation
- *K*: Nominal capital stock
- *CAP*: Capital compensation
- *II*: Intermediate inputs at current purchasers' prices
- *II_PI*: Price levels of intermediate inputs (2010=100)
- GO: Gross output by industry at current basic prices
- *GO_PI*: Price levels of gross output (2010=100)

Values were converted to dollars using the exchange rate provided by WIOD. Notice that value added VA is given by the total payments to factors LAB + CAP and gross output GO equals value added VA plus intermediate input production II.

WIOD's country abbreviations

Abbreviation	Country	Abbreviation	Country
AUS	Australia	IRL	Ireland
AUT	Austria	ITA	Italy
BEL	Belgium	JPN	Japan
BGR	Bulgaria	KOR	Republic of Korea
BRA	Brazil	LTU	Lithuania
CAN	Canada	LUX	Luxembourg
CHE	Switzerland	LVA	Latvia
CHN	China	MEX	Mexico
CYP	Cyprus	MLT	Malta
CZE	Czech Republic	NLD	Netherlands
DEU	Germany	NOR	Norway
DNK	Denmark	POL	Poland
ESP	Spain	PRT	Portugal
EST	Estonia	ROU	Romania
FIN	Finland	RUS	Russian Federation
FRA	France	SVK	Slovakia
GBR	United Kingdom	SVN	Slovenia
GRC	Greece	SWE	Sweden
HRV	Croatia	TUR	Turkey
HUN	Hungary	TWN	Taiwan
IDN	Indonesia	USA	United States
IND	India		

Table 3.B.1: WIOD's country abbreviations

WIOD's industries and codes

No	Code	Description
1	A01	Crop and animal production, hunting and related service activi- ties
2	A02	Forestry and logging

Table 3.B.2: WIOD's industry codes and description

No	Code	Description
3	A03	Fishing and aquaculture
4	В	Mining and quarrying
5	C10-C12	Manufacture of food products, beverages and tobacco products
6	C13-C15	Manufacture of textiles, wearing apparel and leather products
7	C16	Manufacture of wood and of products of wood and cork, except furniture; manufacture of articles of straw and plaiting materials
8	C17	Manufacture of paper and paper products
9	C18	Printing and reproduction of recorded media
10	C19	Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products
11	C20	Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products
12	C21	Manufacture of basic pharmaceutical products and pharmaceu- tical preparations
13	C22	Manufacture of rubber and plastic products
14	C23	Manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products
15	C24	Manufacture of basic metals
16	C25	Manufacture of fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment
17	C26	Manufacture of computer, electronic and optical products
18	C27	Manufacture of electrical equipment
19	C28	Manufacture of machinery and equipment n.e.c.
20	C29	Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers

No	Code	Description
21	C30	Manufacture of other transport equipment
22	C31_C32	Manufacture of furniture; other manufacturing
23	C33	Repair and installation of machinery and equipment
24	D35	Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply
25	E36	Water collection, treatment and supply
26	E37-E39	Sewerage; waste collection, treatment and disposal activities; materials recovery; remediation activities and other waste man- agement services
27	F	Construction
28	G45	Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and mo- torcycles
29	G46	Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
30	G47	Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
31	H49	Land transport and transport via pipelines
32	H50	Water transport
33	H51	Air transport
34	H52	Warehousing and support activities for transportation
35	H53	Postal and courier activities
36	Ι	Accommodation and food service activities
37	J58	Publishing activities

No	Code	Description
38	J59_J60	Motion picture, video and television programme production, sound recording and music publishing activities; programming and broadcasting activities
39	J61	Telecommunications
40	J62_J63	Computer programming, consultancy and related activities; in- formation service activities
41	K64	Financial service activities, except insurance and pension fund- ing
42	K65	Insurance, reinsurance and pension funding, except compulsory social security
43	K66	Activities auxiliary to financial services and insurance activities
44	L68	Real estate activities
45	M69_M70	Legal and accounting activities; activities of head offices; man- agement consultancy activities
46	M71	Architectural and engineering activities; technical testing and analysis
47	M72	Scientific research and development
48	M73	Advertising and market research
49	M74_M75	Other professional, scientific and technical activities; veterinary activities
50	Ν	Administrative and support service activities
51	O84	Public administration and defence; compulsory social security
52	P85	Education

No	Code	Description
53	Q	Human health and social work activities
54	R_S	Other service activities
55	Т	Activities of households as employers; undifferentiated goods- and services-producing activities of households for own use
56	U	Activities of extraterritorial organizations and bodies

3.B.2 Plots from raw data

I use the raw data to survey the the countries in terms of the main variables conveyed in the model. The parameters, i.e. the nominal shares, are calculated with the values as available in the data.



Figure 3.B.1: Exports and imports



Figure 3.B.2: Ratio of intermediate input exports over intermediate input production



Figure 3.B.3: Aggregate share of value added on gross output



Figure 3.B.4: Aggregate share of capital on value added



Factor Intensity

Graphs by Country

Figure 3.B.5: Industry capital shares (α_i)



Graphs by Country

Figure 3.B.6: Industry input shares (γ_i)



Figure 3.B.7: Industry import shares (σ_i)





Note: the measure gives the largest shortest distance between each pair of nodes in the network

Figure 3.B.8: Connectivity measure of WIOD countries: Diameter

Ranking	Density		Distance		Diameter	
1	LUX	0.07	MEX	8.1	MLT	64.5
2	IRL	0.08	MLT	8.1	MEX	56.4
3	LTU	0.10	LUX	7.8	FRA	48.2
4	MLT	0.10	CYP	7.4	LUX	19.6
5	CYP	0.10	IRL	7.4	CYP	18.1
6	IND	0.11	FRA	7.3	SWE	17.8
7	MEX	0.11	LTU	7.2	CHE	17.5
8	HRV	0.12	LVA	7.1	BEL	17.3
9	HUN	0.12	TWN	7.1	IRL	17.2
10	RUS	0.12	EST	6.9	DEU	16.6
÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷
34	JPN	0.16	KOR	6.1	POL	12.9
35	AUS	0.16	CAN	6.1	PRT	12.7
36	BGR	0.16	SWE	6.1	BRA	12.6
37	FIN	0.16	BRA	6.1	USA	12.3
38	NOR	0.16	USA	6.1	JPN	12.1
39	USA	0.17	AUS	6.1	AUS	12.0
40	CHN	0.17	ITA	6.0	NOR	11.8
41	KOR	0.17	JPN	6.0	CAN	11.3
42	ITA	0.18	CHN	5.7	RUS	10.4
43	ROU	0.18	RUS	5.3	CHN	10.2

Table 3.B.3: Top-10 least and most connected production networks

3.B.4 Calibration

Value added

The capital stock and employment of each industry *i* in each country *g*, k_i^g and e_i^g and their respective summation over each country, the national aggregate supply of factors K^g and E^g are taken directly from the data; the latter pair is given by *K* and *EMP*, respectively, among the SEA variables described in Section 3.B.1. The average factor prices w_K^g and w_E^g are then computed by dividing the total payment to factors *CAP* and *LAB* in each country by their total quantity K^g and E^g , respectively. Following the model, I assume this price is adopted by every industry within a country. Finally, I construct the dataset's value-added using the formula: $VA_i^g = w_K^g \cdot k_i^g + w_E^g \cdot e_i^g$.

Use of domestic and imported intermediate inputs

For each country, the National Input-Output Tables is created by simply dropping the variables and values of the remaining countries whilst the quantity imported of each good equals the vertical sum of all foreign countries for each industry. In nominal values, the domestic intermediate inputs used by industry *i* equals $II_i^{in,g} = \sum_{j=1}^n ii_{ji}^g$; the imported intermediate inputs used by industry *i* equals $M_i^g = \sum_{j=1}^n \sum_{\substack{z=1\\z\neq g}}^m ii_{ji}^{zg}$; and, finally, the consistent measure of output of each industry *i* is constructed as $p_i^g q_i^g = VA_i^g + II_i^{in,g} + M_i^g$.

Inputs production, final goods consumption and exports

I simply sum the intermediate inputs production from *i* used domestically to get $II_i^{out,g} = \sum_{j=1}^n p_i^g d_{ij}^g$. Following the model, exports and final goods consumption are considered as a single final demand variable y_i^g . I obtain its nominal values by residual using: $p_i^g y_i^g = p_i^g q_i^g - II_i^{out,g}$. Finally, total GDP equals $Y^g = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i^g y_i^g$. Notice that, following Equation (3.6), consumption equals value added, so that aggregate exports are given by $X^g = Y^g - VA_i^g$ which by construction equals aggregate imports M_i^g .

Merging industries

The model's condition of perfect competition in the factor markets —in practice, same factor prices being paid across industries— is far from observed in the data. Following the steps above leads to a few industries presenting negative values for final demand $p_i^g y_i^g$. The chosen solution is to merge such industries with similar ones, i.e. those nearby in the code classification.

South Korea presents four industries with negative values: (i) B, which has more economical proximity with the industries of group A and whose high *py* value requires the merging of four industries; (ii) E37-E39, which can be naturally merged to E36; K64, which is absorbed by industries K65 and K66; and M71, which is easily incorporated by M69-M70. In the case of Ireland, only two industries end up with negative final demand values, K66 and M69-M70, which are also vanished when combining the industries as required by South Korea's values. For clarity, the merged industries and the resulting groups are listed below:

- A01, A02, A03 and B
 - A01 Crop and animal production, hunting and related service activities
 - A02 Forestry and logging
 - A03 Fishing and aquaculture
 - B Mining and quarrying
- E36 and E37-E39
 - E36 Water collection, treatment and supply
 - E37-E39 Sewerage; waste collection, treatment and disposal activities; materials recovery; remediation activities and other waste management services
- K64, K65 and K66
 - K64 Financial service activities, except insurance and pension funding
 - K65 Insurance, reinsurance and pension funding, except compulsory social security
 - K66 Activities auxiliary to financial services and insurance activities
- M69-M70 and M71
 - M69-M70 Legal and accounting activities; activities of head offices; management consultancy activities

- M71 Architectural and engineering; technical testing and analysis

Finally, industry U was excluded due to all values being null. The resulting 48 industries are listed in Table 3.B.4.

#	Code	Description
1	A-B	Crop and animal production, hunting and related service activi- ties; Forestry and logging; Fishing and aquaculture; Mining and quarrying
2	C10-C12	Manufacture of food products, beverages and tobacco products
3	C13-C15	Manufacture of textiles, wearing apparel and leather products
4	C16	Manufacture of wood and of products of wood and cork, except furniture; manufacture of articles of straw and plaiting materials
5	C17	Manufacture of paper and paper products
6	C18	Printing and reproduction of recorded media
7	C19	Manufacture of coke and refined petroleum products
8	C20	Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products
9	C21	Manufacture of basic pharmaceutical products and pharmaceu- tical preparations
10	C22	Manufacture of rubber and plastic products
11	C23	Manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products
12	C24	Manufacture of basic metals
13	C25	Manufacture of fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment
14	C26	Manufacture of computer, electronic and optical products
15	C27	Manufacture of electrical equipment
16	C28	Manufacture of machinery and equipment n.e.c.
17	C29	Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers
18	C30	Manufacture of other transport equipment
19	C31-C32	Manufacture of furniture; other manufacturing
20	C33	Repair and installation of machinery and equipment
21	D35	Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply
22	E36-E39	Water collection, treatment and supply; Sewerage; waste collec- tion, treatment and disposal activities; materials recovery; reme- diation activities and other waste management services
23	F	Construction
24	G45	Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and mo- torcycles
25	G46	Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
26	G47	Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
27	H49	Land transport and transport via pipelines

#	Code	Description
28	H50	Water transport
29	H51	Air transport
30	H52	Warehousing and support activities for transportation
31	H53	Postal and courier activities
32	Ι	Accommodation and food service activities
33	J58	Publishing activities
34	J59-J60	Motion picture, video and television programme production, sound recording and music publishing activities; programming and broadcasting activities
35	J61	Telecommunications
36	J62-J63	Computer programming, consultancy and related activities; in- formation service activities
37	K64-K66	Financial service activities, except insurance and pension fund- ing; Insurance, reinsurance and pension funding, except compul- sory social security; Activities auxiliary to financial services and insurance activities
38	L68	Real estate activities
39	M69-M71	Legal and accounting activities; activities of head offices; man- agement consultancy activities; Architectural and engineering activities; technical testing and analysis
40	M72	Scientific research and development
41	M73	Advertising and market research
42	M74-M75	Other professional, scientific and technical activities; veterinary activities
43	Ν	Administrative and support service activities
44	O84	Public administration and defence; compulsory social security
45	P85	Education
46	Q	Human health and social work activities
47	R-S	Other service activities
48	Т	Activities of households as employers; undifferentiated goods- and services-producing activities of households for own use

Table 3.B.4: Dataset's industry codes and description

Prices and real values

After merging the industries, domestic prices for each good i in each country p_i^g is extracted from the ratio of nominal GO over real gross output. But since the variable GO_QI is an index, I first compute the gross output in currency by dividing GO by the price index GO_PI , which allows me to combine the values of the merged industries.⁶⁰ The price index is then normalized to equal one in aggregate terms ($P^g = 1$). Finally, I compute the real values of the variables by dividing the corresponding nominal values by their respective price. For example, the real domestic intermediate inputs used by industry *i*: $d_{ji}^g = ii_{ji}^g/p_j^g$.

From each country's perspective the imported prices p_j^z are exogenous. Moreover, the imports enter the model as the sum originated from all foreign countries $f_{ji}^g = \sum_{\substack{z=1\\z\neq g}}^m f_{ji}^{zg}$, i.e. there is no differentiation among the countries of origin of the imports. In this context, I choose for simplicity to use the world average for each product p_i^W .

To calculate the world average I use the nominal intermediate inputs variable *II* and generate real intermediate inputs values using the intermediate inputs price variable *II_PI*. I construct the volume in national currency values by dividing the nominal values *II* its respective price index *II* adjusted to the unitary base. The average world prices are then constructed by summing sum all the nominal and real values of all countries by industry code and dividing the former by the latter. Then, the real imported intermediate inputs used by industry *i* is given by: $f_{ji}^g = \sum_{\substack{z=1 \ z \neq g}}^{m} i i \frac{zg}{p_j^W}$.

Figure 3.B.9 plots the domestic prices in Ireland and South Korea and the calculated world average for the resulting 48 industries. It shows that the latter tends to have domestic prices closer to international ones than the former, suggesting that Korea may be more open to trade than Ireland. Moreover, this finding may relate to the countries' characteristics, as discussed in Section 3.3. In particular, Ireland may present less efficient industries, which may explain the greater reliance on imported inputs.

Nevertheless, both economies can be considered "small" in international terms. Even though among the 43 countries in WIOD, Korean ranks 10th in gross output (nominal US dollars 2014) accounts for only 2.5% of the total. As Figure 3.B.10 shows, the top-2 countries, China and US, account for 23.4% and 22.8%, respectively. Ireland, however, is even smaller, taking the 28th position in the ranking with a gross output of 0.4% of the total.

 $^{^{60}}$ Notice that the data values GO_PI cannot be directly used when merging industries since one cannot sum the industry values of an index. Without merging, the method above leads to the same values as GO_PI variable.


Figure 3.B.9: Price comparison - domestic and international prices



Figure 3.B.10: Gross Output - selected countries

3.B.5 Complementary centrality measures



Figure 3.B.11: Domestic network: downstream centralities



Figure 3.B.12: Outdegree centralities of domestic intermediate inputs



Figure 3.B.13: Upstream centralities of imported goods

3.B.6 Choosing good *z* for the price shock

The idea is to evaluate which imported intermediate goods are more relevant to the production network of a country so that the results of the import good price shock may be sizeable.

Corollary 3.5 states that the effect of an import price change on the real output of each industry is given by the product of the Leontief-inverse transposed $[I - \Gamma']^{-1}$ and an industry-specific shock vector. The former comprises exclusively of domestic input shares and therefore only explain how the shock is relayed among the industries.

The shock vector, on the other hand, summarises the industry-specific impact of an rise in the price of an import. It comprises of the sum of the negative of each industry *i*'s import share of the affected good z ($-\sigma_{zi}$) and the effect of the aggregate shock $\left(-\sigma_{i}\frac{M_{z}}{C}\right)$ to industry *i*.

Matrix Σ , plotted in Figures 3.5c for Ireland and 3.5d for Korea, contains the nominal shares σ_{ij} of the imported good *i* in the production technology of domestic industry *j*. The rows represent each rest-of-the-world (ROW) exporting industry while the columns represent the country-at-hand importing industries. Korea, being less reliant on imports, has fewer foreign inputs significant to Korean industries, worthy of note only that of industry A-B (#1).⁶¹ Ireland, on the other hand, has several imported goods standing out in terms of domestic use, including those sold by industry A-B.

The constant ratio M_z/C given by the aggregate share of imported good z over total consumption varies significantly across goods. Figure 3.B.14 plots these values for every import. Industry A-B turns out to be the most relevant in aggregate terms for Korea while it is also of high importance for Ireland, ranking fifth among the imported goods.

⁶¹See Table 3.B.4 for the whole description of this industry.



Figure 3.B.14: Good z total imports over consumption (M_z/C)

3.B.7 Assessing the accuracy of first-order approximations

I compute the model directly with Matlab, instead of relying on the first-order approximations. This allows for exact numerical solutions, obtained straight from the data. The rich dataset conceived as a closed-system warrants the implementation of the general equilibrium model. In the examples below, underscore-'obs' refers to values calibrated as explained in Section 3.B.4 while underscore-'cf' represents the values computed in the counterfactual scenarios.

Labour shock

As seen in Chapter 2, the first order derivation given by the model is a very good approximation for small counterfactual shocks. The calculations below compare the model's predictions with the numerical results produced by MATLAB for the GDP Y variable. The proximity is of the same order of magnitude for the other variables.

For a one-percent increase in the total supply of labour, such that $E_{cf} = 1.01 \cdot E_{obs}$:

- Ireland
 - Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log E} = (1 \alpha) = 0.4885\%$ - Results: $\frac{Y_{cf} - Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = 0.4872\%$
- Korea
 - Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log E} = (1 \alpha) = 0.5632\%$
 - Results: $\frac{Y_{cf}-Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = 0.5620\%$

Import price shock

Even closer results are seen in the case of the import price shock. For a one-percent increase in the price of imported good of industry z = 1, such that $\bar{p}_{1cf} = 1.01 \cdot \bar{p}_{1obs}$: • Ireland

- Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log \bar{p}_1} = \frac{M_1}{C} = -0.0093\%$
- Results: $\frac{Y_{cf}-Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = -0.0093\%$
- Korea
 - Model's predictions: $\frac{d \log Y}{d \log \bar{p}_1} = \frac{M_1}{C} = -0.0011\%$
 - Results: $\frac{Y_{cf} Y_{obs}}{Y_{obs}} = -0.0011\%$

3.C Supporting analysis

3.C.1 Counterfactual #1: a labour shock

Ratios of models' predictions

The auxiliary models underestimate the impact of a counterfactual shock if their calculated values are smaller than in the full model, and reversely for overestimations. In Figure 3.C.1, I plot the ratios of the impacts predicted by each auxiliary model over the full model. Points below or above the horizontal reference line on those figures correspond respectively to the under and overestimation of the auxiliary model.

Plot 3.C.1a shows that a model without any linkages underestimates the impact of a labour supply shock on capital-intensive industries about the same in each country, while the labour-intensive industries are more overestimated in Ireland. The most underestimated industries in Ireland (L68 Real estates) and Korea (D35 Electricity and gas) both have their predicted output change in the Auxiliary 0 model about a fifth of that in the full model. Among the opposite group, industry C24 (Manufacture of basic metals) in Ireland is overestimated about twice as much (ratio of 1.53) than the most overestimated industry (F Construction) in Korea (ratio of 1.23). This finding indicates that labour-intense industries in Ireland are more reliant on trade and domestic linkages combined than their correspondent group in Korea.

Plot 3.C.1b reinforces how important trade is in general for Irish industries and only in part for South Korean capital-intensive industries. On contrary, for most labourintensive industries in Korea the non-trade model predicts a very similar impact to the full model since imports are of very little relevance for them. Contrasting the top with the bottom plot reveals that removing only the trade component from the full model reduces considerably the underestimation for capital-intensive industries in Ireland and practically removes the overestimation for labour-intensive industries in Korea. This finding stresses how domestic input-output linkages are relevant for these industries.



(a) Auxiliary 0 over Full model





Note: vertical lines show national averages. Horizontal line at one is a reference for auxiliary model performing as well as full model.

Figure 3.C.1: Ratios of output changes predicted by auxiliaries over full model

3.C.2 Counterfactual #2: an import price shock

Establishing a base of comparison

Comparing the effect on industry output with labour shares emerged as a natural appraisal of how the shock affected the industries in the case of the labour shock. In the assessment of the import shock, I chose the comparison with the import shares of the affected good for the reasons I present now.

Among the three main components of Equation $(\operatorname{full}_{pz})$, the Leontief-inverse transposed $[\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Gamma}']^{-1}$ has no elements related to the import price itself and is also not present in the model without input-output linkages, Therefore it is not suitable as a base of comparison. Within the shock vector, there is $\sigma_i \frac{M_z}{C}$ coming from the aggregate shock and σ_{zi} related to the direct effect of the increase in the import price of good z.

I plot the shock vector itself and its two constituent vectors in Figures 3.C.2a, 3.C.2b and 3.C.2c across industries for the output effect of a one-percent rise of import good A-B. All values are ranked by those of the shock vector. It becomes clear that the relevance of the aggregate shock is very small, being of an order of magnitude smaller than each industry's import share of good A-B. This indicates that the last term, σ_{zi} is an appropriate choice to contrast with the output changes of the counterfactual exercises.



Figure 3.C.2: Decomposition of the shock vector for A-B's import price rise



Sensitivity test: Price shock on imported good C10-C12

Note: each fraction of the bars represents an order of the approximation of the whole shock as described in Section 2.5. The zeroth order is equivalent to the output changes predicted by the model ignoring domestic input-output linkages while the total effect represents the predictions of the full model. In this way, the extent of the bars beyond the zeroth order depicts how much the production network boosts the effect of the shock for each industry.

Figure 3.C.3: Decomposition of the C10-C12 import price shock for Ireland and Korea